© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 254 VOLUME | 12/08/2025

BEFORE THE AR ZONA POVWER PLANT LS- 468
AND TRANSM SSI ON LI NE SI TI NG COW TTEE

) DOCKET NO
| N THE MATTER OF THE APPLI CATION OF ) L-21370A-25-
CYPRESS CREEK RENEWABLES, LLC, IN ) 0228-00254
CONFORMANCE W TH THE )
REQUI REMENTS OF ARl ZONA REVI SED )
STATUTES § 40-360, ET SEQ, FOR A )
CERTI FI CATE OF ENVI RONVVENTAL )
COVPATI BI LI TY AUTHORI ZI NG THE )
CACTUS FLOWER SOLAR GEN-TI E )
PROQIECT, LOCATED I N PI NAL COUNTY, ) EVI DENTI ARY
ARl ZONA. ) HEARI NG
)
At : Phoeni x, Arizona
Dat e: Decenber 8, 2025
Fil ed: Decenber 12, 2025
REPORTER S TRANSCRI PT OF PROCEEDI NGS
(Pages 1 through 207)
GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC
Court Reporting, Video & Vi deoconferencing
1555 East Orangewood Avenue, Phoeni x, AZ 85020
602. 266. 6535 adm n@l enni e-reporting. com
By: Robin L. B. Osterode, CSR, RPR
Ari zona CR No. 50695
GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535

www. gl enni e-reporting. com Phoeni x, AZ



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 254 VOLUME | 12/08/2025

VOLUME | Decenber 8, 2025
VOLUME | | Decenber 9, 2025

| NDEX TO PROCEEDI NGS
| TEM
Openi ng Statenent of M. Acken
Presentation of Virtual Tour
Publ i ¢ Conment Sessi on
C osing Statenent of M. Acken
Del i berati ons

Vot e CEC- 254

| NDEX TO EXAM NATI ONS
W TNESSES

SAMUEL DAVI'S, SCH NI HATH RANANI ,
JENNI FER HYRE, BRI AN LI NDENLAUB - Appl i cant

D rect Exam nation by M. Acken

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535

www. gl enni e-reporting. com Phoeni x,

AZ

Pages 1 to 207
Pages 208 to 346

PAGE

76
199
267
289
343

PAGE

19



LS CASE NO. 254 VOLUME | 12/08/2025

| NDEX ( Conti nued):
| NDEX TO EXHI BI TS

© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

NO. DESCRI PTI ON | DENTI FI ED ADM TTED

CC 1 CEC Application as filed 14 191
on Cctober 24, 2025

CC 2 Publ i ¢ outreach 14 191

CC 3 Site tour itinerary 8 191

CC- 4 Heari ng presentation 14 191

CC-5 W tness sunmmari es 14 191

CC-6 Proposed CEC 14 191

CC 7 Support letters 14 191

CC- 8 Updates to Exhibits A-3 and 14 191
A-4

CC- 9 Ari zona Cor poration 14 191
Conmm ssion Utilities
D vision Staff letter

CC 10 Mayor of El oy support 12 191
letter, as filed

CC 11 Or gani zati onal chart 212 245

CC 12 Near by I nfrastructure 212 245

CC- 13 Exi sting transm ssi on 212 245
lines along Curtis Road

CC- 14 Natural gas line | ocations 249 257

CC 15 Gas |ine crossing 249 257

CC 16 Updat ed near by 279 287
infrastructure

CHM 1 PDF Ver si on of CEC- 254 287 FOR

REFERENCE
CHM 2 Fi nal Form of CEC 254 287 FOR
REFERENCE

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC
www. gl enni e-reporting. com

602. 266. 6535

Phoeni x,

AZ



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 254 VOLUME | 12/08/2025

BE | T REMEMBERED t hat the above-entitl ed
and nunbered natter cane on regularly to be heard before
the Arizona Power Plant and Transm ssion Line Siting
Comm ttee at Phoeni x, Arizona, commrencing at 10:00 a.m

on Decenber 8, 2025.

BEFORE: ADAM STAFFORD, Chai r man

M CHAEL COMSTOCK, Arizona Corporation Conmi ssion
LEONARD C. DRAGO, Departnent of Environmental
Quality
SAL DICICCI O Incorporated Cities and Towns
DOUG.AS FANT, General Public
ROVAN FONTES, Counti es
R DAVI D KRYDER, Agriculture Interests
MARGARET "TOBY" LITTLE, General Public
(Vi deoconf erence appear ance.)
GABRI ELA SAUCEDO MERCER, General Public

APPEARANCES:
For the Applicant:

Al bert H Acken

ACKEN LAW

111 East Dunl ap Avenue, Suite 1-172
Phoeni x, Ari zona 85020
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CHWN STAFFORD: Let's go on the record.
Now s the tinme set for hearing on the application of
Cypress Creek Renewabl es, LLC, for a Certificate of
Envi ronnmental Conpatibility, Docket Nunber
L- 21370A- 25- 0228- 00254, or Line Siting Case 254.

We'll start by taking roll call of the
menbers.

Menmber Di G cci 0?

MEMBER Di CI CCI O Here.

CHWN STAFFCORD: Menber Drago?

MEMBER DRAGO Her e.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Mercer?

MEMBER MERCER  Present.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Kryder?

MEMBER KRYDER: Her e.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Fant?

MEMBER FANT: Her e.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Fontes?

MEMBER FONTES: Present.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Constock?

MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Present.

CHWN STAFFORD: And online we have Menber
Little?

MEMBER LI TTLE: Present.

CHWN STAFFORD: Let's start by taking the

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535

www. gl enni e-reporting. com Phoeni x, AZ



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 254 VOLUME | 12/08/2025

appear ance of the applicant.

M. Acken?

MR ACKEN. Thank you, Chairnman and Menbers
of the Commttee. And thank you for holding this hearing
at the Comm ssion. It was a bit of a last-mnute swtch.
' mnore than grateful for the opportunity to do so.

Bert Acken of Acken Law, on behalf of the applicant,
Cypress Creek Renewabl es, LLC

CHWN STAFFORD: All right. W have had no
requests to intervene in this matter; is that correct?

MR ACKEN. That's correct. No requests
were filed and no potential parties reached out to ne or
the applicant directly to indicate an interest in doing
Sso.

CHWN STAFFORD: All right. Neither has
anyone filed a notice of |imted appearance.

All right. M. Acken, would you like to
make an openi ng statenent?

MR. ACKEN. Thank you, M. Chairnman, |
woul d. A brief opening. And | think | nmay nove over to

t he dais, both for ny opening and for questions of the

commttee.
CHWN STAFFCRD: The podi unf?
MR, ACKEN: Podium dais, thank you.
MEMBER KRYDER: He sai d dais not bias.
GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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MEMBER FANT: That happens | ater.

MR, ACKEN. O f the record you're going to
have to explain the difference to ne.

So for the opening, |I'"mgoing to use sone
select slides fromthe hearing itself, so if we could

pul | that opening slide deck up.

Thank you.
This presentation will be consistent wth
what you typically see. | have a panel of four

W tnesses. W' re going to provide context on the
regi onal area, the project corridor. W're going to talk
about who this applicant is, the needs net and benefits
provi ded by the project, the purpose route, requested
right-of-way corridor. W wll do a virtual tour. And
provi de testi nony on both environnental resource
anal yses, as well as, again, the public notice and
outreach for this project, which I think this applicant
has reason to be proud of.

So on the screen you can see, this is slide
18, we will present this in testinony, it is also on one
side of your placenmat, it shows the solar and BESS
project in blue and the project corridor for which we are
requesting approval in purple. |It's about a nine-mle
transm ssion line fromthe solar and BESS project to the
I nt erconnection point on the APS system On the back of

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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your placemat is a map that's actually, if we were to do
a virtual tour, and so this is also part of Exhibit CC 3,
but what | want to use this for right nowis just provide
some regional context, you know, we're in -- we're in
Phoeni x. And you can see where we are at the northern
portion of this map. And the project is south of Eloy
and west of Picacho Peak and south of Casa Grande in

Pi nal County. The solar project is on private |ands and
then the gen-tie is primarily on state trust | ands.

Goi ng back to slide 18, one thing |I do want
to highlight for you is we have narrowed the corridor
since the tinme of the application, it's alittle bit
narrower than what we filed in the application, and
that's a result of being able to fine-tune and sharpen
our pencils, so to speak, on private |lands, so this
project will have even less of an inpact on private
| ands. This applicant is far along in the process of
devel opnent as you will hear. And so they're in a place
where they can do that.

So wanted to highlight that we're not
asking for an expanded corridor, we're actually asking
for a slightly narrower corridor than what you saw in the
application. The gen-tie and interconnection facilities
these are authorized uses in Pinal County. | think you
heard that recently in one of ny cases. Another thing I

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
www. gl enni e-reporting. com Phoeni x, AZ
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want to highlight is the solar and BESS recei ved County
zoning entitlenents | ast week. So, again, this project
is far along and has County entitl enents conpl ete.

Next sli de.

So one of the interesting things about this
project is you have a new applicant, CCR, Cactus --
Cactus Flower is the project -- Cypress Creek Renewabl es
is the applicant. Cypress Creek is newto Arizona, but
not to the business. It has an operational portfolio of
over 2 gigawatts and provides O&M services for its
projects and third parties across the country. So it's
exciting for ne to get to introduce you to a new
applicant, but again, you'll see fromthis teama wealth
of experience not just devel opi ng but owni ng and
operati ng and mai ntai ni ng projects.

Next sli de.

Again, this project has been thoroughly
vetted. County zoning is conplete, the interconnection
process is well underway. Phase 1 and Phase 2 studies
have been conpleted wth APS. And Conm ssion Staff has
had an opportunity to review those studi es and you can
see the conclusion and we will provide testinony that
Staff concludes that the project could inprove the
reliability of the system so | ong as necessary upgrades
are inpl enent ed.

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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Next sli de.

So in addition to zoning, interconnection
studies, this project's al so been studi ed conprehensively
with respect to environnental resources. You have the
standards exhi bits, standard resource anal yses that are
done for a CEC, and you al so have sonme additional ones.
We have State Land native plant inventory conplete, an
aquatic resources delineation report conplete, and a
bi ol ogi cal resource eval uation conplete. Al of these
are suppl ement al anal yses that have al ready been done for
this project above and beyond what is expected and
required for a CEC. And we w il provide testinony on
t hat .

Next sli de.

So | wanted to show this photograph in
the -- these photographs in the opening. It provides a
good flavor for the area. This is a renote rural area
that has a conbination of existing ag- -- agriculture, as
wel | as open desert and prior farmlands and dirt roads,
and so four photographs there, that's what this area --
this area is.

Next sli de.

At the end of the day -- at the end of our
testinony, you're going to hear fromtwo of our
W t nesses, M. Lindenlaub and Ms. Hyre, who are going to

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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provide all of the environnental resource anal yses that
were conducted. The results of that is that this is an
environnental ly conpatible project. It conplies with
appl i cabl e managenent plans. |It's |ocated in an area
with sonme existing electrical infrastructure. One of the
interesting things that we'll tal k about about this route
is that it was sited specifically to avoid cultura
resources in the area. And so at the end of the day you
end up with areally well sited gen-tie that avoids

i npacts and has mninmal inpacts on | and use, recreation,
vi sual resources, and things of that nature.

Next sli de.

Soit's tinely and it's al so a key
component of this project. It's tinmely because this
comm ttee has been hearing a | ot about what is
appropriate levels of community engagenent, what is --
what is best practices? Wat should be done in community
engagenent? And you're going to hear fromthis teamthat
has done really a renmarkable job on that front. |
brought a lot of these projects to you. One -- a couple
things I want to highlight, you see there Cypress Creek
began community invol venent for this project three years
ago. Three years ago. This isn't |ike six nonths and
then we show up and do an open house. They have engaged
in the local community for three years, active nenbers.

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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Active nenbers of the community, active nenbers of trade
groups, active nenbers of community groups in that
three-year tine period, with team nmenbers on the ground
being able to hear community concerns, work with the
community, and help the community in areas that the
comunity actually wants hel p and says this could be

hel pful to us. And so we w il present testinony on that.

Next sli de.

So what is the result of that three-year
effort? You will hear testinony that this project does
have | ocal community support. This slide that we wll
show in testinony are two of the letters of support
recently received for the project. There are two nore
that cane in after the slide was -- the slide was
developed. | think -- and | want to draw your attention
in particular to Exhibit CC 10, which is the support
letter filed by the mayor of El oy.

Now, the affected jurisdictions for this
project are Pinal County and State Land. Eloy has an
interest in this project. It is in or close to their
pl anning area, and so it's inportant to themthat this
project is consistent with their vision. And what you
see fromthe mayor of Eloy's letter is an appreciation
for how this project was devel oped, how this applicant
went about public engagenent. And you see three things I

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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want to highlight. The mayor says that "The project
aligns with the City's plan for sol ar proposals,
mnimzing i npacts on residential areas.” Nunber two,
"W |l generate neani ngful economc benefits for El oy
during the constructi on phase, including |ocal job
creation and increased business activity.”" And three,
and | think this one is near and dear to ne as wel |,
"respects private property rights, allow ng | andowners to
utilize their lands in ways that support their famlies
and contribute to the region's energy future.” So we
will present testinony with regard to that letter and
al so the context that led to receiving that letter and
then a successful vote at the County.

So at the end of the day, it is our goal
and our hope that the testinony will show that this
proj ect provides an interconnection for needed power, is
| ocated in a really remarkably good area with el ectri cal
infrastructure that is renote and rural, has w despread
support anong the |ocal community and is environnental ly
conpati ble. And at the conclusion, for those reasons, we
will respectfully request that you grant the CEC

Again, just to orient, | nentioned the
place map, | think that's a good tool, because we're only
goi ng to have one slide deck, given the AV in this room
and so you can always reference the corridor map, you

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
www. gl enni e-reporting. com Phoeni x, AZ
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know, to help orient you, as well as the regional map to
provi de that regional context. W have -- we actually
have 10 exhibits, the CEC application, the public
outreach sunmary that we'll talk about, a site tour
itinerary, if the conmttee wishes to do a site tour.

VWhat |'lI|l say about that is, again, we are
grateful for the commttee holding the hearing here, we
wanted to make sure that we had the opportunity to
present an in-person site tour, should there be any
interest fromthe comunity or the nenmbers to do so. A
site tour is doable. Mst of that tine will be spent
driving there, but it's alittle over an hour, it's not
the | ongest tour you would ever do. And so we have that
in Exhibit CC3. The hearing presentation slides are
Exhibit 4, witness summaries 5, our proposed CEC, which
contai ns standard conditions taken from ot her recent
cases is 6, support letters that I nentioned are in 7,
and the nmayor's letter at 10. W updated the maps to the
application to reflect that tightened corridor, that is
in Exhibit 8 and then UWilities Division Staff letter is
9.

So with that, I wll stop ny soliloquy and
be happy to answer any initial questions that you m ght
have or ny witnesses are up there and they are certainly
ready to be sworn in and begin presenting testinony.

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you, M. Acken.

Menber Fontes, did you have a question for
M. Acken?

MEMBER FONTES: | did. W've seen a |ot of
projects, solar and storage from Pinal County before in
close proximty to Eloy. Can you characterize or
summari ze what the requirenments were for |ifecycle,
environnental mtigation, in terns of posting bond for
all of that, that were applicable to this project?

MR ACKEN: So | wll ask Sohini, who is
t he project nmanager to address that in her testinony,
because she managed the County entitlenent process. So
we W ll answer that question in testinony --

MEMBER FONTES: Excell ent.

MR ACKEN. -- because |'mnot famliar
with that County entitlenment process, other than the
results.

| wanted -- | wanted to respond, and again,
we'll get into it in the testinony on, yes, you have seen
a lot of projects in Pinal County. And | think you have
heard i ncreasi ng concerns fromthe residents of Pinal
County about the nunber of projects. | don't think

you' ve seen a project located in this area, and | think

that's why El oy supports it. Wll, | know that's why
El oy supports it and will present testinony to that
GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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ef fect.

When you have a project that is snmarted
sitely [sic], that hel ps address public concerns, right?
And so are we siting projects next to residenti al
devel opnents? Are we siting projects far away from
residents in areas where, |I'Il be honest, | didn't know
that this area was here, and I've lived in Arizona for
20-sone years. And soit's -- and yes, it's an
agricul tural area, and we do have to be m ndful about
| osing agricultural |ands, but there's trade-offs and
there's benefits, right? You have a private | andowner
who's saying yes this is what | want to do with ny | and,
the reduced water inpact and that sort of thing. So on
the Eloy piece, | think that's why you're going to hear a
very different story about public concern on this one
t han you do with sone others, but again, Sohini can
address that in her testinony, as well as the specific
question about |ifecycle and, you know, bondi ng and
thi ngs of that nature.

MEMBER FANT: The intent of the question is
just so we can capture for the record what is the total
mtigation for the end of life for the project because
we're focused on environnental review here, so we want to
see if that was required at the County level or the Gty
| evel .

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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MR. ACKEN:. Understood. Thank you.

CHWN STAFFORD: M. Acken, are you ready to
call your panel? | guess you have four witnesses all in
t he sane panel ?

MR ACKEN. Yes, M. Chairman, the
applicant calls four wtnesses. Sohini Hathiramani,
Samuel Davis, Jennifer Hyre, and Brian Lindenl aub.

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. Well, let's get them
sworn in starting on the end with M. Davis.

Wul d you prefer an oath or affirnation?

MR DAVIS: Qath is to God, right? 1Is that
right? 1'll do an oath. | |ike oaths.

(Sanmuel Davis was duly sworn by the

Chai rnan.)

CHWN STAFFCORD: Ms. Hat hiramani, oath or
affirmation?

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Affirnmation, please.

(Sohi ni Hathiramani was duly affirnmed by

t he Chairnman.)

CHWN STAFFORD: Ms. Hyre, oath or
affirmation?

MS. HYRE: Affirmation, please.

(Jennifer Hyre was duly affirnmed by

t he Chairnman.)
CHWN STAFFORD: And, M. Lindenlaub, oath

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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LS CASE NO. 254 VOLUME | 12/08/2025

or affirmation?
MR. LI NDENLAUB: Affirmation pl ease.
(Brian Lindenl aub was duly affirned by
t he Chairman.)

CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you.

MEMBER KRYDER: M. Chairman?

CHWN STAFFORD: M. Acken, you may now
proceed with exam ning the w tnesses.

Menber Kryder, do you have a question?

MEMBER KRYDER: Just a request. Because of
the limted nunber of m crophones, sonetines sitting
bet ween two or three people, if the person speaking --
|'ve got a hearing problem a significant one, and I'd
appreciate if you would speak directly into the
m crophone rather than off to the side, you notice how
the difference is. Thanks very nuch.

CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you.

MR. ACKEN:. Thank you, Menber Kryder for
the rem nder. And poor Sohini has | ost her voice com ng
into the hearing, so she really needs to speak into the
m cr ophone.

/1
/1
/1
/1

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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SAMUEL DAVI S, JENNI FER HYRE, SOH NI HATH RANMANI ,
and BRI AN LI NDENLAUB,
call ed as witnesses as a panel on behalf of Applicant,
havi ng been previously affirmed or sworn by the Chairman
to speak the truth and nothing but the truth, were

exam ned and testified as foll ows:

DI RECT EXAMI NATI ON
BY MR ACKEN:

Q Sohi ni, please state your nane and busi ness
address for the record.

A (Ms. HATHI RAMANI) My nane i s Sohini Hat hiramani,
and ny address is 3402 Pico Boul evard, Santa Moni ca,

Cal i fornia 90405.
MR ACKEN. And while we go through these,
M ke, if we could have the slide deck, are you running
t hat one as well?
MR. LI NDENLAUB: I am
BY MR ACKEN:

Q Ckay. By whom are you enpl oyed and in what
capacity?

A (M5. HATHHRAMANI ) I'ma full-tinme enpl oyee of
Cypress Creek Renewabl es as a project devel oper for
Cactus Flower Sol ar.

Q And pl ease provide a summary of your educationa

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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background and work experi ence.

A (Ms. HATH RAMANI) | have a bachelor's degree in
accounti ng and nanagenent fromthe University of Bristol
and a nmaster's in business adm nistration from UCLA

Since | graduated from busi ness school, |'ve
been working at Cypress Creek as a project devel oper on
the West team where |'ve been working on projects in both
Nevada and Ari zona.

Q And what is your role in the Cactus Fl ower Sol ar
Proj ect ?

A (M5. HATHIRAMANI) So |'m a project devel oper for
this project. |I'mresponsible for nmanaging all aspects
of project devel opnent, fromidentifying the sites,
coordi nati ng environnental and engi neering studies, as
wel | as nmanagi ng the interconnection, permtting, and
communi ty engagenent.

Q Thank you.

Jennifer, if you would, please state your nane
and busi ness address.

A (M5. HYRE) Yes. M/ nane is Jennifer Hyre. My
busi ness address is 5310 South Al ston Avenue, Buil di ng
300, Durham North Carolina 27713.

Q And by whom are you enpl oyed and i n what

capacity?
A (M5. HYRE) Yes. |I'menployed full tine at
GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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Cypress Creek Renewabl es as their director of
environnental affairs. | oversee our environnental
program and | serve as the environnental |ead for our
projects in the West and Texas.

Q And next, sunmarize your educati onal background
and wor k experi ence.

A (M5. HYRE) Yes. | have a bachelor's of science
fromJuniata College in environnental and a naster's
certificate in National Environnental Policy Act from
U ah State University. | have over 20 years of
experience driving the environnental permtting and
regul atory conpliance process for large infrastructure
projects. Mst of ny experience has been focused in the
Aneri can Sout hwest, including Arizona. | have a
background i n environnental assessnents, wetl and
del i neati ons, biological and cultural resources, visual
resources, zoning and |land use permtting.

Q And do you have prior testinony experience?

A (M5. HYRE) | do. Sorry. During a -- at ny tine
at a prior conpany | hel ped support the preparation of
testi nony for Southwest Power Pol es Hobbs to China draw
345 transm ssion line that went before the New Mexico
Publ i ¢ Regul ati on Conmi ssi on.

Q And what is your role in this project?

A (M5. HYRE) Yes, ny role in this project is that
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| serve as the environmental subject natter expert. I'm
| eadi ng the environnental permtting process, and | help
support Sohini in the devel opnent of our CEC application.

Q And what topics will you cover in your
testi nony?

A (M5. HYRE) In ny testinony | wll be discussing
Cypress Creek's environnental programin general and |
w ||l speak specifically to the environnental studies and
due diligence that we've conpleted for the Cactus Fl ower
project to date.

Q M. Davis, please state your nane and busi ness
addr ess?

A (MR DAVIS) Hello, |I'm Sanuel Davis, business
address is 5310 South Al ston Avenue, Buil di ng 300,
Durham North Carolina 27713.

Q By whom are you enpl oyed and in what capacity?

A (MR DAVIS) I'ma full-tine enpl oyee at Cypress
Creek Renewables. | amthe manager of external affairs
for the Sout hwest and the ERCOT region.

Q Next descri be your educational background and
wor k experi ence.

A (MR DAVIS) |I'ma proud graduate of the
Uni versity of Texas at Austin, and -- with a focus in
busi ness and conmmuni cations. After college, | worked for
sone startups and then I went to help found a nonprofit,
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a conservative-|l eaning nonprofit that focuses on the

renewabl e energy expansion into rural Texas. |It's kind
of a -- it was a very personal thing for nme and ny
famly, we're a sheep, goat, cows ranch -- seventh

generation ranching famly in West Texas and we have a
renewabl e energy project on our |and for about six years
now. And so it was really to tout the economc benefits
and the private property rights conponent as it's one of
the only sources of incone for sone of these | andowners
out there. So | helped do that. And then | went into --
| began working for Cypress Creek in Decenber 2024.

Q Next, describe your role in this project.

A (MR DAVIS) For -- well, ny role in the Cactus
FIl oner Solar Project is really to | ead community
engagenent, external communications with Gty, County
officials, comunity organi zati ons, sone of our community
neetings that we've been holding. Really just also to
help Ms. Sohini here to -- wth any public-facing
responsi bilities, nmanagi ng the project Facebook, the
project website, our phone line, really just to be as
over-transparent as we can be with the comunity. So any
ki nd of external -facing type conponent, that's what |'ve
really been focusing on.

Q And what is the scope of your testinony today?

A (MR DAVIS) Scope of the testinmony will be
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publ i c outreach, stakehol der engagenent, which really
includes a multi-year conmmunity engagenent program as you
heard before M. Acken saying we began in 2022, and so
we've just really under -- we've undertaken a | ot of
prograns for the project, |like the websites and

schol arshi ps, mailers, and open houses and whatnot, so --
but that's the general scope of ny testinony.

Q Bri an, please state your nane and busi ness
addr ess.

A (MR LI NDENLAUB) Brian Lindenl aub, 4001 East
Par adi se Falls Drive, Tucson, Arizona 85712.

Q By whom are you enpl oyed and in what capacity?

A (MR LI NDENLAUB) |'m enpl oyed at Westl and
Resources, a Trinity firm as a senior principal
consul t ant .

Q Next, summari ze your educational background and
wor k experi ence.

A (MR LI NDENLAUB) |'ve got bachelor's degrees in
geol ogi cal engineering and wldlife biology. 1've been
working in the environmental field since 1994, with the
al phabet soup of federal prograns, focused on the d ean
Wat er Act, Endangered Species Act, and NEPA

Q And what is your role in this project before the
commttee today?

A (MR LINDENLAUB) | serve as a senior project
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principal for Westland, supporting the project manager
and the project nanager's teamin conducting vari ous
envi ronnent al eval uati ons.

Q And what topics will you cover?

A (MR LINDENLAUB) 1'Il be supporting Ms. Hyre in
presenting informati on on sone of those environment al
eval uati ons.

Q Thank you.

In nmy opening | nentioned that Cypress O eek
Renewabl es is a new applicant before this commttee. So,
Sohini, if you would, 1'd like you to describe CCR and
for the conpl eteness of the record, describe its
ownership structure including parent entities.

A (Ms. HATHI RAMANI ) So Cypress Creek Renewabl es
Devel opnent, LLC, is a wholly owned subsidiary of Cypress
Creek Renewabl es Hol dings. As you can see, the conpany
was founded in 2014, it's grown to be one of the | argest
sol ar and energy storage conpanies in the country with
now approxi mately 400-pl us team nenbers and havi ng
devel oped nore than 850 projects across 22 states.

Cypress Creek is backed by a top-tier private
equity firm which is one of the world's | eading
infrastructure investnent platforns. So we're a fully
I nt egr at ed devel opnent platform so we bring together
devel opnent, engi neering, finance, integration,
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procurenment, construction nmanagenent, and operations
expertise in house, to maxim ze the quality at every
stage of devel opnent and constructi on.

Q Next, 1'd |ike you to describe your conpany's
operational portfolio, both your owned assets as well as
those that you manage for others.

A (M. HATHI RAMANI ) So Cypress Creek has devel oped
over 12 gigawatts of solar to date. And of that
devel oped portfolio, we own and operate 2.4 gigawatts
across 13 states. Cypress Creek al so operates and
mai ntains 4.8 gigawatts, so that's also in addition to
sone third-party facilities as well. W also have a
state-of -the-art NERC-certified control center, so that
basically gives us the opportunity to have a full 24/7,
365 view of all of our operations in house.

Q Thank you.

Shifting gears to the nonjurisdictional solar
project and BESS, |'d |ike you to provide an overvi ew.

A (Ms. HATHI RAMANI) So Cactus Flower Solar is a
270-megawatt sol ar, plus 270-negawatt four-hour battery
sited, you know, the map maybe you'll be able to see
where it's sited, but as Bert said before, we've sited
this project here because of the renote location. |It's
eight mles south of Eloy and the 1-10, approxinately.
So that's really given us sone space away from
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residential .

The conpany has approximately 2,000 acres of
| and under site control, both through purchase and | ease.
And the land is owned specifically for solar and battery
storage. There's been other projects in this area al so
w th that purpose and it was approved, as Bert nentioned,
by Pinal County Board of Supervisors |ast week for
rezoni ng.

Q So, Sohini, | don't want to put you on the spot,
but are you in a position to answer Menber Fontes's
question about |ifecycle mtigation for the solar and
battery project at this tine?

MEMBER FONTES: M. Acken, if | may add to

t hat ?

MR ACKEN:. Pl ease.

MEMBER FONTES: | appreciate the technical
description. | appreciate the high-1evel overview of how

private equity fits into Cypress Creek. But we're here
in Arizona. W need to understand the special purpose
entity, the project conpany, if there's a hold conpany
for financing on top of that, and how it relates back to
the parent. | don't see that, that we usually see in the
slides. If you need tine, I'd like to get a slide as an
exhibit for that.

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Ckay.
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MEMBER FONTES:. Because ultinately you're
goi ng to have insurance over this. W!'ve got this issue
about environmental mtigation. W just kind of want to
capture that for the record. Again, it's not neant to be
a gotcha, it's nmeant to be let's docunent it, let's put
it in the public record, so we've got it all.

Thank you, M. Chairman.

CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you.

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Thank you, Chairnman.
Thank you, Menber.

So just to speak a little bit to the
lifecycle of the project. So Pinal County actually
doesn't actually have deconmm ssioning as part of their
ordi nance, but as a stipulation of our permt, we are
commtted to doing that. Per the request of planning and
zoning, it's sonmething that we've comritted to. The
actual anount for bonding will be estimated | ater once we
actually submt that decomm ssioning plan to the County.
It will be prior to the issuance of any construction
permts. It wll be a nmuch nore detailed plan of what we
are commtting to doing, and al so what that financial
assurance | ooks I|ike.

CHWN STAFFORD: And | do recall that

this -- the solar project is on private |land; is that
correct?
GLENNI E REPCORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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M5. HATHI RAMANI :  That's correct.

CHWN STAFFORD: So have you purchased the
land or is it a |ease?

M5. HATHHRAMANI: So it's a conbi nation of
four different | andowners. Three of themw Il be
acqui sitions, they're currently under option, and one of
themw Il be a |lease. So we haven't executed on those
opti ons yet.

CHWN STAFFORD: kay. So for the |ease, |
guess, wWill the reclamation of the project be included in
the | ease terns?

M5. HATHI RAMANI : We have sone standard
| anguage that we have in all our | eases that we use and
we've committed to, but it's not -- the details of that
are not -- it's not too much detail in the actual |ease.

MEMBER FONTES: What 1'd like to look at is
if that | ease involves the switchyard or where that | ease
fits in wth the right-of-way, if we can just get an idea
of that.

CHWN STAFFORD: | believe the swtchyard is
going to be on State Trust Land; is that correct?

MR ACKEN: Correct.

MS. HATH RAMANI :  Yes.

CHWN STAFFORD: So it wll be subject to
the | ease terns of the -- the | ease of the State Trust
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Land. Those are pretty thorough fromny recoll ection.
|'ve seen a few of those in other dockets before, so --

MEMBER FONTES: Just for awareness where
that lease fits within the right-of-way.

MR ACKEN:. Understood. W are taking
notes and will have foll ow up.

CHW STAFFORD: Onh, and, M. Acken, so it's
clear on the record, the placemat -- the photo of the
route that shows the solar facility and the corridor and
the switchyard location, that is contained in the
application in Exhibit A, is that correct?

MR. ACKEN. Not exactly. It is a revised
corridor, so the placemat reflects slide 18 fromthe
heari ng presentation, which is Exhibit CC 4.

CHWN STAFFORD: Ckay.

MR ACKEN. If you go to Exhibit CC 8, and
we wll get toit, but I'mhappy to highlight it right
now. If you nove to Exhibit 8, you wll see a handful of
addi tional naps. These are maps that are revisions to

maps i ncluded in the original CEC that show t he narrowed

corridor. So, for exanple -- and again, |I'mstealing
your thunder, Sohini, I'msorry, but she'll testify to
this -- the very first map in CC-8 shows the corridor on

the placemat, it al so shows underl aying the ori ginal
corridor in green, so you can see where it was
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specifically narrowed.

But, for the record, place map that is
on -- that shows the proposed transni ssion corridor,
that's Figure 18 or slide 18 of CC-4. The back of the
place map is a map fromthe site tour itinerary, CC 3.

CHWN STAFFORD: Excellent. Thank you.
BY MR ACKEN:

Q And before we nove forward, Sohini, did | get
t hat correct?

A. (MB. HATHI RAVANI ) Yes.

Q Thank you.

Next, 1'd like you to tal k about Cypress Creek's
engagenent in the |ocal comunity. And Sanuel w || touch
on this in greater detail, but 1'"d Iike you to tee up the

di scussion following UP ny comments from ny opening.

A (Ms. HATH RAMANI ) So, as Bert nentioned
previously, Cypress Creek has been active in Pinal County
since 2022, engaging with |l ocal groups to -- including
the Pinal Partnership Aliance and nultiple nenbers of
Chanbers of Comrerce. W' ve awarded al nost $60, 000 in
Pi nal County through sponsorshi ps, schol arshi ps, and
initiatives. W're commtted to being long-term
community partners to Eloy. And |I've had several
community neetings, in addition to direct outreach to the
Cty of Eloy and the Eloy Fire District. And Sanuel w ||
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talk nore about this in his testinony.
BY MR ACKEN

Q What benefits will the solar and battery
proj ects provide?

A (M5. HATHI RAMANI ) So the first thing we have on
here is tax revenue. So the solar and battery project is
estinmated to generate a mnimumof $50 mlIlion of
property tax revenue over the life of the project, with
beneficiaries including the Eloy El enentary School
District, Santa Cruz Valley, Central Arizona Irrigation
and the fire district.

During construction we'll also approxi mately
have around 400 construction jobs, in addition to sone
per manent jobs during the |life of the project. And, in
general, the project will support the grid and provide
clean, reliable energy to a growing load in Pinal County.
Also wanting to highlight that this type of devel opnent
al so has | ow water usage, especially conpared wth
agriculture and residential devel opment, which is
especially inportant in this area.

MEMBER KRYDER: M. Chairman?

CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Kryder.

MEMBER KRYDER  Just to follow up a bit,
you spoke there a little about the County tax revenue
over the lifetine, 50 mllion, quite a | arge nunber.
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W thout getting away from your presentation, give us a
brief timeline on when construction's starting, where it
is, howlong it will be going, and what it really neans
when you use the term"lifetine."

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Yeah. Ckay. Thank you,
Chai rman Stafford, Menber Kryder. So we aimto start
construction of this project in October of 2028. So
we're still a couple of years out fromthat. The way
that the property tax revenue has been estinated, again,
it is an estinate, but it's been done by Ernst & Young
tax consul tant.

MEMBER KRYDER: And, again, right into your
m cr ophone.

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Apologies. |Is this

better?

MEMBER KRYDER: Much better.

M5. HATHI RAMANI : So we approxi mat e that
the useful life of a solar project is 40 years. And,

typically, Power Purchase Agreenent with a custoner m ght
be less than that, it mght be 20 to 25 years, but we
assune that the project still remains there. W would
potentially re-power, or sort of have, |ike, open narket
sales in that |ast period of tine.

And the way that it's -- it's generated is
mai nly based on the equipnent that's on the land, that's
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where we kind of get the nunbers. And another thing to
note for Arizona, in general, is as a renewabl e energy
tax abatenent, which is due to actually sunset in 2040.
So the first 12 years of the project, 10 years of
operations, will have that renewabl e energy tax abatenent
included in the estinmate, but after that the property tax
revenue actually goes up significantly. The revenue goes
up because we don't have that renewabl e energy tax

abat enent .

MEMBER KRYDER: Thank you very much for
that. A couple of continuing questions. Unless you have
your crystal ball avail able, you probably can't answer
the first one, but maybe you can talk around it. And
that is the new technol ogies that m ght be com ng out in
ternms of solar generation over the next 40-year lifetine.
Is it the expectati on of your parent conpany that the
panels will be replaced sonmewhere along the line or do

you see 40 years of life in the first set of panels that

w il be put on?
MS. HATHIRAMANI : | think, typically, it
will be sort of hal fway between that, where we m ght

re- power depending on the state of the panels.

MEMBER KRYDER: Ckay. And so let's say
that 25 years out, the technology has shifted so that you
can gain X percent better generation capability,
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what -- how -- just fill me in on what do you do with al
of that gl ass.

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Yeah, that's a good
questi on.

There are sone sol ar panel recycling
facilities within, you know, | can't renenber exactly,
but we | ooked it under for rezoning, so that there are
definitely recycling facilities. W need to do a | ot
nore diligence on what that process actually |ooks |iKke.
As you said, it's pretty far out. So the ones that exist
now, | assune, nay or may not be the ones that exist
then, but there already are facilities that do recycle
sol ar panel s.

MEMBER KRYDER: Thank you. | recognize
this is nonjurisdictional. | don't want to take a | ot of
your testinonial tinme. But, again, it's of interest to
nme as your conpany and conpetitors around the nation and
per haps around the world are | ooking at this, are
there -- are there groups that are recycling their glass
already? And, if so, after how many years? Wat's going
on in this whole thing of noving toward new technol ogi es
within the photovol taic generation capabilities?

M5. HATHI RAMANI :  Yeah, | probably can't
speak to that too nuch in detail, but can foll ow up,
definitely. But there are facilities that do recycle
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already. W as the conpany are al ways | ooking at new
t echnol ogi es and efficiency and anythi ng that can make
our projects better. So, as you said, you know, if we
install a certain technology initially if we're at the
time where we're looking to replace, it's definitely a
consi derati on.

MEMBER KRYDER: Ckay. And kind of the sane
set of questions but over against the battery arrays,
what sort of batteries are there -- are your first plans
to goin, what's their |life expectancy. And, simlarly,
what's on the horizon if your crystal ball works?

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Yeah, thank you.

So batteries actually get re-augnented
every 10 to 15 years, and the technol ogy, as you' ve said,
changes a lot.

MEMBER KRYDER: Are they lithiumbatteries?

MS. HATH RAMANI :  Yes.

MEMBER KRYDER  Ckay.

MS. HATH RAMANI :  Yes.

Yeah, technol ogy has been changing a | ot.
The safety of batteries has inproved significantly over
the last five, six years. And we're always, you know,
keepi ng an eye on what's goi ng on and naki ng sure that we
have the best -- the best that we can get for our sites.

MEMBER KRYDER: Are the lithiumbatteries
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top of the line at this point in tine?

MS. HATH RAMANI :  Yes.

MEMBER KRYDER  Ckay. Thank you very rmuch.
That gives ne sone idea, when | look at a $50 mllion
revenue stream you've taken out the abatenents and the
i ncentives and such as that, | |like to get sone idea
about the, basically, the trash that's going to be going
out the door, how that's bei ng managed or planned to be
managed, and what your crystal ball says about new
phot ovol tai ¢ generation capability and new battery
capabilities.

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Yeah.

MEMBER KRYDER: Thank you very nuch for
your answers.

M5. HATHI RAMANI :  Thank you.

MEMBER DICICCIO M. Chair?

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Di G cci o.

MEMBER DiCICCO G Just quick foll owup on
that. When you say re-augnented, does that nean that
t hey get holl owed out and --

MEMBER KRYDER  Sal --

CHWN STAFFORD: Get a little closer to the
m cr ophone, pl ease.

MEMBER DICICCOI G Right there? Does that
work? GCkay. | had it right up to ne. It just was down
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t here.

VWhat does re-augnented nean? Does it nean
it gets hollowed out or what does that nean when you do
that to the batteries?

M5. HATHHRAMANI : |1'd like to have a better
answer for you, Menber.

MEMBER DiCICCI G  Oh, okay.

MS. HATHI RAMANI : So nmaybe we can fol | ow up
with that answer.

MEMBER DICICCIO Al right.

MEMBER FONTES: M. Chairman?

CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Fontes.

MEMBER FONTES: |1'd like to return to the
core or the benefits to the community and | ook at the
benefits as a whole. |Is this project going to pursue
production tax credits or investor tax credits?

M5. HATHI RAMANI :  Probably investnent tax
credits, but it really depends when the project cones
online. And, you know, we're already phasi ng out those,
so the likelihood of us still being able to obtain those
is pretty | ow

MEMBER FONTES: 1Is it dependent upon -- is
t he financi ng dependent upon |ITC to nake the project
econom cs wor k?

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  No.
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MEMBER FONTES: So you would pursue this
project if there is no I TC available to you?

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Yes. Correct.

MEMBER FONTES:. Ckay. Thank you.

CHWN STAFFORD: Onh, and then -- so | guess
just to reiterate, it's -- what's the size of the solar
array and size of the battery project?

M5. HATHI RAMANI :  Chairman Stafford, it's

270 negawatts solar, 270 negawatt battery, one-to-one

ratio.

CHWN STAFFORD: All right. And then
guess where in the process is there -- are you bidding
into a RFP froma utility, is that -- where is it in that

stage of the process? Because, typically, you re not
going to just be a -- what do you call it -- a nerchant
power plant where you just sell into the market once you
build it, you typically can ask for agreenent for the
out put, where are you in that process?

MEMBER FONTES: M. Chairnman, if | may add
to that.

W want to get your timng right, because
when we draft the CEC and we hopefully go forward with
you, we want to make sure your timng with the comerci al
side matches, so that's hence the questions about |TC,
where you're at on your PPA. W know you nmay not be able
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to di scl ose your business confidential information to us,
but timng is what | think we're getting at.

M5. HATHI RAMANI : | appreciate that,

Chai rman St af f or d.

So, yes, APS and others do regul ar RFPs.
We consider all opportunities for that, for offtake.

Apol ogies, | forgot the second half of your question.

MEMBER FONTES: Timng. Wen do you
antici pate woul d be a wi ndow when you're going to win a
PPA, and then how does that influence when you would give
notice to proceed for construction?

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Yeah, so currently there
are open opportunities. Cbviously closing on one of
those the sooner the better is the goal. Probably
targeting approximately a year fromnow. And then
obvi ously having to get financing after that.

MEMBER FONTES: So - -

CHWN STAFFORD: So you do have -- do you
have nmultiple bids out to nmultiple RFPs or have you
been -- obviously, you can't disclose the details of any
of that. |1'mjust saying where are you in the process?
Have you started doing that or is that a thing you're
goi ng to do?

M5. HATHI RAMANI :  Yeah, | nean, we have an
origination teamthat directly engages wth custoners,
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including utilities, comercial custoners, there's --

t hose conversations are ongoi ng and we' ve been engaged
wth utilities and customers for the | ast few years. |
mean, that's sonething that we look at initially when
we're siting a project, but yeah, those conversations are
ongoi ng. The opportunities are out there in Arizona wth
the Arizona utilities. So, yeah, just | ooking at
submtting conpetitive bids where we can.

MEMBER FONTES: W woul d request that you
check with your origination teamand give us an idea of a
vintage or a year you're going to bid on, because again,
we're trying to tinme the CEC in there, it's going to have
a hard date. So we want to tine that with your best
guess based on your origination team and ot hers, inputs
are that you're going to have notice to proceed. So,
agai n, check that out and cone back to us.

M5. HATH RAMANI :  Yeah, | nean, there's
currently an APS RFP open. They're due early next year.
They're aimng to have contracts executed by the end of
next year. So that's -- | nean, that's publicly
information that they provide in an annual RFPs that they
run.

MEMBER FONTES: So that's 2027, would you
go to construction in 2027 or 20287

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  We woul d still stick wth
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t he sane construction schedule that we al ready have
t ar get ed.

MEMBER FONTES: Very good.

CHWN STAFFORD: All right. So I'mgoing to
go out on a linb and assune you have a PPA arranged
sonetine in '27, '28, before you actually begin

construction? That's typically how these things are

done --
MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Yeah.
CHWN STAFFORD: -- is it not?
MS. HATHI RAMANI:  Yes. Exactly. W
woul dn't nove forward without a contract. It wouldn't --

it doesn't work. We wouldn't get financing. W wouldn't
have a sense of how nuch revenue. Like, the econom cs
woul dn't be -- you couldn't just calculate it with
mat chi ng revenue.

CHWN STAFFCORD: All right. Thank you.

All right. M. Acken.

MR. ACKEN:. Thank you, M. Chairnan,
Menbers of the Commttee. That's a good segue. Now we'd
like to tal k about the gen-tie.

Q So if you woul d, Sohini, provide an overvi ew of
the jurisdictional facilities. | know you have a slide.
You can al so use the map as you see fit for just
providing that high-level overviewto start.
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A (Ms. HATH RAMANI) So we're proposing to
construct an alnost 9-mle 230-kilovolt gen-tie to
connect our solar project to the new APS sw tchyard. So
APS woul d construct this new switchyard that would
connect the -- our gen-tie line to the existing
230- kil ovolt Saguaro Tat-Monoli Santa Rosa 230-kV |ine,
whi ch, as you can see on the nmap, is south of our
project. And the entire CEC corridor is in
uni ncor por ated Pi nal County.

Q Next, 1'd like you to describe the siting
analysis that led you to the current route. How did you
determ ne the route before the commttee would be the
nost environnental ly conpati bl e?

A (Ms. HATH RAMANI) So we reviewed nultiple
options for the gen-tie alignnent. You can see the
smal l er orange line at the bottomof this inmage on the
slide is the existing line that we would need to connect
to, so you know, we did |look at kind of going directly
south, but that would have resulted in nore environnental
and cultural resource inpacts, would have required
federal |and permtting, which you can see is the yell ow
portion on this map, and involved a | ot nore | andowners.

So the orange line on this slide is where you
can see that we ended up selecting this |Iine based on,
you know, a lot of diligence that was done to determ ne
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that this was the correct and best way to go.

Q Next, describe the route requested corridor and
ri ght - of - way?

A (M5. HATHIRAMANI ) So the line will be
approximately nine mles in length, the right-of-way
wdth itself is 150 feet, and we're today requesting up
to a thousand-foot-w de transm ssion corridor. It is
narrower in sone portions that we've refined since we
submtted the application and the crossings include 6.8
linear mles on ASLD |land and 2.1 linear mles on private
| and. So we've avoi ded federal |and and sensitive
bi ol ogi cal and cultural resources, while mnimzing the
| ength of the route.

CHWN STAFFORD: Say that again about the
private | and.

MS. HATHI RAMANI: So of the gen-tie line,
6.8 mles is on Arizona State Land and 2.1 linear mles
Is on private land. So we have easenents --

CHWN STAFFORD: 2.1 what? | keep hearing
like 2.1 mllion mles.

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Li near.

CHWN STAFFORD: Linear, okay. | was, |ike,
say again. Ckay. Linear mles. That was the word that
| wasn't catching. Thank you.

M5. HATHI RAMANI :  Linear m |l es.
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MEMBER DICICCIO M. Chair?

CHWN STAFFCORD: Yes, Menber D G ccio.

MEMBER Di CI CCI O  Quick question on that.
So the reason for the thousand-foot area that you're
requesting, does it put you into other private | and,
other private owners, or is it all the sane owner?

MS. HATHI RAMANI : Exactly. W haven't
included any land that's not already -- we don't already
have agreenents with the private | andowner or it's al so
ASLD. So no new | andowner s.

MEMBER DiCICCI O Are they separate?

MS. HATHIRAM : (No audi bl e response.)

MEMBER DICICO G Ckay. So this is the
sanme | andowner under the thousand-foot area, correct?

MS. HATH RAMANI :  Yes.

MEMBER DiCICCI GO And so why do you want
the larger area, then? Usually sonmeone woul d do

sonething like that in order to be able to conpetitively,

you know, bid for noney, or costs, | should say, on your
end. So why would you want that thousand foot? |[|'m good
with it, I just wanted a | ogic.

BY MR ACKEN:

Q Sohini, if you may -- if | nmay, when you answer
that question, | think it's a perfect segue into the next
slide, which presents the original corridor and that
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narrow corridor on -- primarily on private land. So a

little bit on state |lands. So when you address Menber

DiGCccio' s question, | think it mght be helpful to speak

to why did you narrow the corridor?
A (M5, HATHI RAMANI ) Uh- huh. Thank you, Menber
D G ccio.
So, as Bert nentioned, we initially had a
t housand-foot corridor for the whole | ength of the

transm ssion line, but as we've progressed we've been

able to refine that nore. So | think that just speaks to

having sonme flexibility until we really know the exact
| ocation and where it's going to sit.

MEMBER Di CI CCl O Okay.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: M. Chai r mran?

CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Const ock.

MEMBER COMSTOCK:  If | may, |I'mjust trying

to determne the -- on the north end -- you sent us a map

in the exhibit or in the Notice of Hearing Exhibit A,
along Curtis Road, is that in the Eloy -- the Cty of
El oy's P& area for -- for annexation?

MS. HATHI RAMANI: No, it's not.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: So none of the project
will ever be within the annexation of El oy?

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Not under their current
I mredi at e pl ans.
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MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Thank you.
BY MR ACKEN

Q Sohini, is there anything else you would like to
mention with respect to the narrow corridor or does that
address the questions?

A (M5. HATHIRAMANI) | think it's addressed, unl ess
there are any additional questions.

Q Next, 1'd like you to tal k about the proposed
swi tchyard | ocation. W are seeking authority for the
jurisdictional switchyard, so | wanted to nention that
specifically as well.

A (Ms. HATHI RAMANI ) Yeah. So the switchyard
siting area we're requesting is 230 acres, which is
entirely on State Land. The switchyard itself w |l
occupy approximately 20 acres, so sort of simlarly to
the corridor, this just gives us a bit nore flexibility.
It's on the APS Iine. They're the ones going to be doing
the construction of the switchyard. So it just allows us
and themto nake sure we're siting and have the
flexibility to site the swtchyard where it nakes the
nost sense at that tine.

CHWN STAFFORD: So APS is going to
construct the sw tchyard?

MS. HATH RAMANI :  Yes.

CHWN STAFFORD: And then is the applicant
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payi ng for the construction of the swtchyard?
MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Networ k upgrades and
things like that are included as part of the
i nterconnection agreenent. Those are refundabl e.
CHWN STAFFORD: Right. So is that a yes, then?
MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Yes.
CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. That's what | thought

t hen, okay.

M. Acken.

MR ACKEN:. Chairman Stafford, |ike Menber
DiCccio, | feel like you are a page ahead of us on our

present ati on.

Q So, Sohini, if you would tal k about the costs
and | think you answered it directly but confirmthat,
yes, the applicant will pay for necessary upgrades?

A (M5. HATH RAMANI ) Yes. Yes. So, yeah, just to
talk in alittle bit nore detail about the costs. So we
wll pay for the swtchyard. That's currently another
applicant that is sharing that PO, so that, the tota
cost of that $32 mllion will be split between us and the
other project. There's also the installation of the |ine
drop into the switchyard, which is an additional three
mllion and then our approximate costs of the equi pnent
and construction of the gen-tie itself is around
$12 mllion.
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MEMBER MERCER: M. Chairnman?

CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Mercer.

MEMBER MERCER | just want sone
clarification. So you will pay for the construction; APS
will build it?

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Yes.

MEMBER MERCER: But who wll own it?

MS. HATH RAMANI :  APS.

MEMBER MERCER  APS. (kay. So just be
nice to APS.

MEMBER KRYDER: M. Chairman?

CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Kryder.

MEMBER KRYDER: Wt hout the intent of
getting into proprietary information, it was confusing to
nme that you started out with a proposed 1, 000-f oot
corridor, we kind of plowed that ground before, and then
you conme down to a snaller size as the engi neering got
closer to construction. So ny question evolves to
whatever is left of the corridor other than the actual
hard foot right-of-way, is that going to be excl usive,
that is, would you have the capability, then, of
preventing a conpetitor of using the unused portion of
t he corridor?

MR. ACKEN. So, Menber Kryder, I'mgoing to
answer that fromthe | egal standpoint first. And Sohini,
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to the extent that she can, can tal k about |and positions
and what they've acquired.

A corridor is never exclusive. In fact, |
bel i eve we have a standard condition to that effect so
that other entities can use the corridor for other
projects. So, froma | egal standpoint, what approvals
you grant wll not give this applicant any right to bl ock
anyone.

Al so, consistent with Sohini's testinony,
they're sharing the cost of this switchyard. | don't
think it's in their self-interest to bl ock anyone who is
going to share in those costs from accessi ng.

Q But as far as the specific rights-of-way, it may
be confidential, Sohini, but if there is anything you can
speak to with respect to are you seeking authority for
the entire corridor in the right-of-way, or just the
specific right-of-way fromthese | andowners and State
Land?

A (Ms. HATHI RANMANI ) Yeah, so the specific
ri ght-of-way agreenents we have with the private
| andowners and with Arizona State Land is nuch small er
t han that thousand foot. | don't -- | don't believe we
woul d have the ability outside of that to prevent any
ot her projects fromcomng in.

MEMBER KRYDER: Thank you very nmuch. And
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t hank you, M. Acken, for your portion of this. That's
real critical to this commttee that this doesn't get
into a bl ocking canpai gn.

Bei ng ol d enough to recall when the TVA
nmoved into rural areas of America in the '30s, that
became a part of the gane. People would rush out and
plant their poles, even though they were clear out in the
mddle of a farner's field, because they could then
capture the right to present power to anybody who camne
al ong, so whoever could plant the poles the fastest kind

of had the opportunity to build their lines follow ng

t hat .

And | wanted to make sure and | appreciate
both the coment by you, M. Acken and you Ms. -- |I'm
going to call you "ma'am’ -- thank you very nuch for the

i nf or mati on.

CHWN STAFFORD: And, M. Acken, | believe
the application requests a hundred -- is it 150-foot
final right-of-way?

MR. ACKEN: That's correct.

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. And then how nuch
are you able to share about the other participants in the
switchyard? | figure there had to be nore than one
I nt erconnection, otherw se, you could just do a spur |line
onto it. So | figured there's going to be at |east two
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connections to align at this point, hence the sw tchyard.
s this a -- the other project that would share, is that

sonet hi ng that has al ready cone before this committee or

is it going to conme before the conmttee in the future or
it's a shorter line that woul d not be jurisdictional for

this commttee?

MR ACKEN. | don't know the answer to that
question, Chairman Stafford; it's not one of ny projects.
I"'mfamliar with it fromwhat | |earned here and readi ng
t he systeminpact studies. But all | know about it is
it's queue position nunber and negawatts. You know, you
can ask the applicant if they have nore insight. |[|'m not
sure they do other than that. This is what we -- this is
part of that system i nterconnect process.

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Yup, thank you, Chairman.
Just adding onto what Bert said, we -- it's just a nunber
in our same study, so it's on the sane tineline. W
don't know exactly where that project is |ocated, so that
gen-tie could be longer. That gen-tie could be shorter.
We don't have access to that information, it's --

CHWN STAFFORD: But the queue position
nunber and the size are both public, correct?

MS. HATH RAMANI :  Yes.

CHWN STAFFORD: Can you provi de those,
pl ease?
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MS. HATHHRAMANI: | will need to pull that
up.

CHWN STAFFORD: And then once you do that |
bel i eve Menber Little has a question.

MEMBER LI TTLE: Thank you, M. Chairman.
Should | ask it now or wait until she's able to | ocate
that information?

MR ACKEN. M. Chairman, Menber Little, if
you could wait and |l et her get the first answer. | want
to follow up, take that opportunity to follow up on
Menmber Kryder's point about other applicants potentially
bl ocking. That's happened in Arizona. And so, you know,
for those of us that have been around a while, we've seen
it. It hasn't been one of ny applicants. And | strongly
selfishly personally encourage you to be vigilant agai nst
that. So thank you. |'mglad you' re paying attention.

M5. HATHI RAMANI :  So, for the record, it's
queue position nunber (B88. And the size of the project
Is 323 solar and 162 BESS.

CHWN STAFFORD: This -- the queue nunber is
@388, you said?

MS. HATH RAMANI :  (388.

CHWN STAFFORD: And then it's 232 of sol ar
and then 232 of storage?

MS. HATHI RAMANI : 323 sol ar, 162 storage.
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MEMBER LI TTLE: M. Chairnman?

CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Little.

MEMBER LI TTLE: Can | ask, and you may have
answered this already. If you have, | apol ogize. What
i's your queue nunber?

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Yes. Thank you, Menber
Little. Qur queue nunber is (B92.

MEMBER LI TTLE: Ckay. And ny second
question is this, so if you do not know who the second
applicant is, and you -- but you do know that the cost of
the switchyard woul d be shared with them am|l correct in
assum ng that that cost share will be negoti at ed,
det erm ned, coll ected, whatever, by APS?

MS. HATHIRAMANI: It's -- yes, it's already
been outlined in the studies we've received. If that
proj ect doesn't nove forward, | think that would be
reassessed. I'mnot -- it's not necessarily true that we
woul d -- we would have that hold cost, because the
sw tchyard desi gn m ght change, so then the cost m ght
change if it's only --

CHWN STAFFORD: And then if it's just your

proj ect interconnecting you may not even need the

switchyard, you could do the -- tie into the single line,
correct?
M5. HATH RAMANI :  We woul d still need the
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sw t chyard.

CHWN STAFFORD: You would still need the
swi tchyard? The requirenents for that swtchyard
woul dn't be significantly different if there' s just one
line tying into as opposed to two.

MS. HATHIRAMANI : |It's possible, but |
mean, this is also an APS deci si on about how much they
want to build the substation in order to take projects in
the future to that sane PO.

CHWN STAFFORD: Gkay. Thank you.

MEMBER LI TTLE: M. Chairman?

CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Little.

MEMBER LI TTLE: So am | hearing that your
project is willing to absorb the costs of the sw tchyard,
regardl ess of whether it is a portion of a switchyard
designed for nore than one interconnect or whether it is
the entire cost if it is only designed for your
I nterconnect; is that correct?

M5. HATHI RAMANI :  Yes, | nean, when
we're -- you know, nodeling out our project, we typically
take the costs as we have them But we m ght have
some -- an additional contingency in there, in case those
costs change, because they are estinates at this tine
fromAPS, so there's a potential that they coul d be
slightly different in the future.
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MEMBER LI TTLE: Thank you.
MR ACKEN:. Chairman Stafford, Menber
Little, if I could follow up on that.

Q The estinate that you are providing of cost,
that's based on APS studies done to date; is that
correct?

A (MS. HATHI RAMANI) Yes.

Q And that's based on APS studi es conducted to
date that assune a second project will interconnect; is
t hat correct?

A. (MB. HATHI RAVANI ) Yes.

Q And if sone of those assunptions change, APS nay
come up with a different interconnection plan wth
different costs; is that correct?

A (M5. HATH RAMANI ) Yes. There will likely be a
restudy if there's significant change to the participants
in the cluster.

Q Ckay. And as a result of that interconnection
study process that APS conducts, at the end of the day
what ever costs are allocated to this project, you will be
responsi bl e for them pursuant to a Large Cenerator
| nt erconnection Agreenent; is that correct?

A. (MB. HATHI RAVANI ) Yes.

Q Ckay. Thank you.

MEMBER LI TTLE: Thank you, M. Acken.
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BY MR ACKEN

Q Next, | want you to tal k about the tower
structures that you antici pate using.

A (M5. HATHI RAMANI ) Yes. So the line wll
primarily be the nonopol e structure, which is standard
for this voltage class and m nim ze | and di sturbance. At
both the point of interconnection at the substation or
the switchyard and the project collector substation, the
line it will transition into the Hfranme, which is the
i mmge you see on the right, the Hfrane dead-end
structure to connect the transmssion line to the
substati on equi pnent on either end of the transm ssion
i ne.

We don't anticipate needing a lattice structure,
al t hough one could be required if it's in a specific
| ocation if, you know, once we refine civil engineering
design, it may cone up then. But, typically, those are
ol der and take up nobre space, so -- and the antici pated
hei ght of these structures is approximately 100 feet, but
can potentially go up to 199 feet. Al structures would
meet required electrical clearances and utility
st andar ds.

Q Thank you.

We' ve tal ked about the devel opnent schedule a
couple tines, but | believe you' ve got a visual on slide
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22, so l'd like you to provide a few nore details on what
you know t oday.
A. (MB. HATHI RAVANI ) Yes.

So starting with the CEC process itself, we had
t he public open house on Septenber 9th, and the prefiling
conference for this application on Cctober 20t h,
submtted the application Cctober 24th, and, you know,
we're here today Decenber -- Decenber 8th, to be in front
of this commttee. And estinating ACC approval, if we
get there, into next year.

Cenerally for the project, | nentioned start of
constructi on October of 2028, with comrerci al operation
by April 2030. Just to talk about the concurring ASLD
application, we submtted that in July of this year and
we are hoping to have that grant issued by April of next
year. So it's an estimate. W're currently still in
t hat process with ASLD.

Q Thank you.

Next, I'd like you to go into alittle bit nore
detail about the status of the interconnection process
and APS studi es conducted to date.

A. (MB. HATH RAVANI ) Yeah.

So Cypress Creek submtted an interconnection
request to APS in 2021 and so far APS has conpl eted the
System | npact Study and the Phase 2 study. W' ve now
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executed the Facility Study agreenment on Friday,
actually, the deadline was today. So we're currently
expecting to execute a Large Generator |Interconnection
Agreenent with APS by the mddle of 2026. It's an
esti mate, dependi ng on how | ong the studies take from
APS.

Q And has Conmm ssion Staff had an opportunity to
review the studi es conducted to date?

A (Ms HATH RAMANI ) Yes. So Staff has reviewed the
studi es we provided, which was the Phase 1 System | npact
Study and the Phase 2 study, and they' ve provided a
letter, which we have an excerpt fromthat, which
confirms that Staff believes that this project could
inprove reliability and safety of the grid and delivery
of power in Arizona.

Q And is a copy of that full letter marked for
identification as CC 9?

A (M. HATHI RAMANI ) (No audi bl e response.)

Q Can you confirnf

A (Ms. HATHI RAMANI ) Yes. Sorry.

Q Thank you.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Little, you have a
questi on?

MEMBER LI TTLE: Yes, | do. Thank you,
M. Chair man.
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' mwondering if the letter nentioned
needed upgrades, system upgrades. Can you tell nme a
little bit about, if you know, what those system upgrades
are and -- and tell ne for sure that the conpany is
willing to do what's necessary in order to interconnect
w th APS, according to what their needs are.

MS. HATHI RAMANI : Thank you, Menber Little.

The networ k upgrades that have been
identified were for the cluster, so there's -- | think
t hat nunber m ght be six projects in the cluster, so
these -- the general upgrades are required to bring all
these projects online. And there's -- there's a couple
of new larger transmssion lines that are required to
bring those projects online. And as part of signing a
LA wWth APS, we would be commtting to paying for our
al l ocated portion of those upgrades.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: M. Chai r man?

CHWN STAFFCRD: Yes, Menber Const ock.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: | just want to talk a
little bit about supply chain and because of the nunber
of hearings that we've been involved with in the past few
nont hs, there's going to be a ot of construction in
Arizona in 2028 and 2029. How is your supply chain for
pol es and wires and so on? Do you have adequate supply
to do the project, considering everything else that's
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goi ng to be going on here?

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Thank you, Menber.

So as we kind of gave an overview of the
conpany, we -- we're devel oping projects everywhere, so
we do have a robust supply chain. Things change in,
l'i ke, where we're procuring things will evolve, there's
been a shift to wanting to procure nore donestically,
generally, wth these projects, but it will depend where
t he equi pnent is available at the tine, but we' ve
successfully built nmany projects and so we definitely
have the ability to procure what's needed for our
proj ects.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: | just want to nmake sure

| heard what you said. You're going to | ook at securing
donestically or you al ready have donestic suppliers for
t hat ?

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Yeah, so this is also,
guess, including the solar and battery portion as well,

we're generally | ooking at donestic, but not everything

Is avail abl e here yet, but just considering both options.

MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Thank you.

MEMBER KRYDER: M. Chairman?

CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Kryder.

MEMBER KRYDER: Just a bit of a foll owup
there. | believe Menber Constock's statenent about
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supply chain of poles and et cetera, et cetera, and we' ve
heard t he sane questi ons addressed and answered in other
heari ngs, but |I've not heard anyone speak about the issue
of labor. And in talking with, recently, an acquai ntance
who is in the -- whose business is setting the poles, do
you have your own | abor force to do this or will you be

| ooking for contractors to do it? |If you're |ooking for
contractors, you may find they're as short as it is to
find new poles and et cetera, et cetera. Talk around
that a little bit as to how your conpany m ght address
the issue of available |labor to do the installation work
that you have given us the tineline on.

Thank you.

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Thank you, Menber Kryder.

Yes, correct. W would contract externally
wth an EPC to do construction. And they would -- they
woul d help find the | abor for the project.

MEMBER KRYDER: And do you have any -- any
way of assuring yourself that you wll have a | abor
contractor available to do that. Wen the |abor gets
tight, it's a fairly limted skill-set, not skill-set,
limted set of personnel who can do this and who have the
equi pnrent to do it and such, and according to ny
acquai ntance who is in that business, it's stretched
pretty tightly, a rubber band stretched pretty tightly
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m ght be the anal ogy.

And if all of the construction that
Menmber -- was tal king -- Constock was tal ki ng about on
the material supply chain is going to be thrown into
this, I sinply would ask that you consider seriously
whet her your tinmelines are realistic or are they magic?

M5. HATHI RAMANI @ Yeah, so we work
wth -- we have nultiple partners that we work with
across the country for EPC so if one entity does not have
| abor available at the tine that is obviously part of our
deci sion factor, and our construction is three years from
now, there m ght be nore skilling of the specific type of
| abor in that period of tine. W still have anot her
three years.

MEMBER KRYDER: Thank you.

M5. HYRE: And | can al so speak to that our
internal preconstruction team we belong to industry
partnerships in which we keep current of those type of
scenari os so that way we have the opportunity to renmain
abreast of those opportunities in the marketplace, so
that that way we aren't blindsided and we are thinking

proactively to address those types of potenti al

short ages.
MEMBER KRYDER: Thank you very nuch for
that. Because in addition to availability of |abor, as
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the avail abl e | abor gets saturated, the price of
obtaining it goes exponential. And so your budgeting
costs are going to | ook exciting when that happens.

CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you.

Circle back real quick to the network
upgrades. So you had your -- you're in the same cluster
as the queue position 388, which is the other project
that will tie into this switchyard you' re going to buil d?

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Correct.

CHWN STAFFORD: Ckay. As of this point
that's the only other project tying into the switchyard
you're going to build for this project, correct?

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Correct.

CHWN STAFFORD: You said there's
approximately six projects in total in that cluster?

M5. HATHI RAMANI :  Correction, there is
seven.

CHWN STAFFORD: Gkay. You plus six, then?

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Yeah.

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. And you said that
several network upgrades are going to be required for
that cluster, including other transm ssion lines; is that
what you sai d?

MS. HATH RAMANI :  Yes.

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. What other -- can
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you el aborate on that nore what they're tal ki ng about,
what's going to have to be built?

MR ACKEN: M. Chairman, | mght junp in
and naybe we can run this to ground on a break about how
far we can go with an expl anation. Wen we provide the
System | npact Studies to Conmmi ssion Staff for review, we
do so pursuant to protective agreenents because it
contains CEIl. And so sone of this information about
potenti al upgrades is sensitive information. And so |I'd
like to run that to ground as to what we -- what's
appropriate for us to disclose publicly and what can't
be, because of the security consi derations.

CHWN STAFFORD: Right. Sone of that is
going to be | think fromprior experience what |'ve seen
is nore general in nature. For exanple, | seemto recal
a case where we had a cluster study that was underway and
was going to require, you know, $500 nmillion worth of new
500-kV line construction to support the network upgrades
required for that cluster. So I'mjust trying to get a
bal | park of what we're |looking at. And then the other
thing too is that, you know, this cluster assunes that
net wor k upgrades are provided by the prior cluster,
correct? At least certainly the way | understand it,
APS, their clusters are broken out geographically, so if
you're trying to tie into Del aney, you're | ooking at
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sonething different than if you're trying to tie into
Chol l a, for exanple.

So is there any nore detail that you can
provide on that that's not -- you know, like, big
pi cture, because I"'mtrying to get a handle on what's
going to be required, because sone of these are going to
create problens where the project itself is not going
to -- I"'mnot saying this one in particular, we're going
to get to sone point where an individual project nmay
deci de not to proceed because the network upgrade costs
are too great.

MEMBER KRYDER: Ri ght .

MR. ACKEN:. | wunderstand the question. And
we can provide that | evel of detail after a break when
we'll -- we'll cone back prepared to address that. Just
for the record, this is the south of Phoenix cluster, and
so when you -- when you hear a discussion about this
cluster study that's what we're referring to. It's one |
haven't brought before the commttee, before an APS south
of Phoeni x cluster study, as opposed to, |ike, Cholla,
whi ch you guys are very famliar with, and West Vall ey,
but yes, we'll be in a position and be prepared to
provi de sone additional context after a break.

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. Excellent. Well, |
think that's kind of a nice segue, because | think up
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next we have the virtual tour.

MR ACKEN: Yes. Yes, virtual tour is
next, | think -- | have one nore question for Sohini, but
| want her to answer these questions first and then |'I|
finish up with that before we hop into the virtual tour.

CHWN STAFFORD: Did you want to ask any
ot her questions before we take our break or --

MR ACKEN. Not for now. Now would be a
good ti ne.

CHWN STAFFORD: All right. Let's take an
approximately 10- to 15-m nute recess, and we'll cone
back and get the answers to our questions and then do the
virtual tour.

We stand in recess.

(Recessed from 11:29 a.m wuntil 11:42 a.m)

CHWN STAFFORD: Let's go back on the
recor d.

M. Acken, | believe you were going to
answer sone foll owup questions and then proceed to the
virtual tour.

MR ACKEN. Yes, thank you. And you can
| eave the virtual tour on the screen because we w |
shift to that in a mnute or three. But | did want to
foll ow up on sonme questions from Chairman Stafford
regardi ng the System | npact Studi es and cost all ocation.
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Q And, Sohini, you heard the questions; is that
correct?

A. (MB. HATHI RAVANI ) Yes.

Q And did you have a chance at the break to run
sonme nunbers to ground?

A (M5. HATHI RAMANI) Yes.

Q So with that in mnd, can you provide the
commttee with sone additional context as to that scale
of potential network upgrades in the south of Phoeni x
cluster?

A. (MB. HATHI RAVANI ) Yes.

Chairman Stafford, just to provide a little bit
nore informati on, so nost of the network upgrade costs
are pertaining to two high-voltage lines that are
required, again, to bring all of the projects in the
cluster online, the cost of which is a few hundred
mllion dollars, as you' ve said, the cost of high-voltage
lines is high.

The cost allocation is based on size of project,
so it's allocated on a per negawatt basis, and that's
kind of how the allocation is done. The projects that
remain in our cluster will likely change, especially
given the fact that prior to executing an interconnection
agreenent with APS, you're required to put up a
significant financial obligation. So that wll be sort
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of the gating factor for a ot of the projects that, for
exanpl e, don't have a |ot of the derisking done for their
projects, so permtting or having a custoner, | think it
wll be difficult for conpanies and projects to nake that
obl i gati on when they haven't derisked their projects or
those very inportant pieces of noving a project forward.

So as projects drop, APS wll restudy, if
necessary, and reevaluate what the costs will be to bring
online the projects that have stayed in the queue and
conti nue to nove forward.

CHWN STAFFORD: So if other projects from
t he sane queue drop out, that woul d decrease the
proportion share for those that remain in, right?

MS. HATHIRAMANI : It's difficult to say,
because if there is a certain anmount of projects that
drop, sone of those network upgrades nay not be required
anynore because you're | ooking at a smaller subset of
t hose projects.

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. And that applies to
the prior cluster, doesn't it? The network upgrades for
your cluster, do they not assune that the network
upgrades fromthe prior cluster would happen?

M5. HATHI RAMANI :  There is sone contingent
facilities, but again, not sure exactly how nuch
information we're able to share on that.
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MR. ACKEN. Maybe if | could foll ow up on
t hat .

Q " mnot sure there was a prior cluster because
we're entering this new world with cluster study, but is
it correct that the APS studi es have to assune that any
project earlier in the queue woul d be constructed and
taken into account in the studies done for your cluster;
is that correct?

A. (MB. HATHI RAVANI ) Yes.

Q And is it also correct that not all of those
projects that are earlier in the queue will be
constructed; is that correct?

A (MS. HATHI RAMANI) Yes.

Q And | think | heard you say that when you take
away assunptions about prior queue projects or concurrent
cluster projects actually being constructed, it wll
change APS' s assunpti ons and expectati ons about what
net wor k upgrades are required?

A (MS. HATHI RAMANI) Yes.

Q And is that a typical process that you see for
APS and other utilities?

A (M5. HATHI RAMANI ) Yes. That's the way that, for
exanple, it works in Nevada as well. You know, the
process can end up being | onger just because if there's
restudies, if projects drop out, we're getting closer to
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when we woul d reach the end of this process, so the
tinmeline is not so nmuch of a question here, it's nore
just how many projects will be able to put up those
financial requirenents.

Q And APS will estimate your cost in the Large
Generator | nterconnecti on Agreenent based upon projects
that have actually put forth bonds to nove forward in the
devel opnent process; is that correct?

A. (MB. HATHI RAVANI ) Yes.

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. And then so, | guess
to followup a little bit on that, so for the nmtigations
required for this cluster, you -- can you say how -- what
vol tage and how many mles of transm ssion |ines would be
required?

M5. HATHI RAMANI :  They are two 500 negawatt
transm ssion |ines.

CHWN STAFFORD: About what | ength?

M5. HATHIRAMANI: | will have to check
t hat .

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. Because | think
that's cone up in other ones before, too, that had to
build X mles of 500-kV. | guess we'll be seeing those
applications at sone point.

MR. ACKEN. | think you will. And what |
see in the SystemInpact Studies that |'ve reviewed is a
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m x of new build, rebuild, increasing voltage, you know,
it's an across-the-board approach to | ooking at ways to
strengthen the grid for the projects that cone online.

CHWN STAFFORD: Ckay. Thank you.

Menmber Little, you have a question?

MEMBER LI TTLE: Yes, thank you,

M. Chair man.

If the cost to you in the end turns out to
be -- exceed what makes the project econom c for you,
woul d you just not build?

M5. HATHI RAMANI : At the tine of signing
the i nterconnection agreenent, those costs shoul d be
pretty clear. So that's not -- we're not estimating that
to be too far in the future from now havi ng that
certainty. And then we would build those costs into our
nodel i ng and any agreenents that we sign with the
cust omer .

MEMBER LI TTLE: And -- but | guess what |I'm
saying is would this potentially be a reason for you to
abandon the project?

M5. HATHI RAMANI :  Prior to signing an
agreenent with a custoner, yes. But if we've -- if we
have a custoner that we've signed an agreenent with, then
no.

MEMBER LI TTLE: Okay. Thank you.
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CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, because you're going
to want to have sonme kind of agreenent for the offtake of
t he power prior to executing the Large Cenerator
| nt er connecti on Agreenent, right?

M5. HATHI RAMANI :  They sort of work in
tandem ideally. 1It's, |like, you know what your costs
are when you're signing an agreenent with a custoner, but
then al so having that offtake agreenent al so gives you
the certainty to put noney up to nove forward into the
i nt erconnecti on process.

CHWN STAFFORD: kay. So | guess you're
goi ng to have to know what those network upgrade costs
are or have a pretty good idea to bake theminto your
price for your offtake agreenent, because no one's going
to enter an offtake agreenent when the price of the power
is X and then turn out that, oh, based on these network
upgrades, we're going to | ose noney on the deal. Because
if you can't make -- if you | ose nbney on every
transaction, you can't make it up in volune, so --

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Yeah. No, that's
correct.

CHWN STAFFORD: But | guess all those --
the details are going to be confidential until
it's -- well, they'll be confidential. But | think what
we've done in a lot of these cases we have the applicant
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submt the Large CGenerator |nterconnection Agreenent to
Staff at the tine when it's -- shortly after its executed
so that way they know what the network upgrades are goi ng
to be and they can | ook at that and see its inpact on the
system but we'll get to that when we get to the
condi ti ons.

So t hank you.

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Uh- huh.

CHWN STAFFORD: M. Acken, you ready for
the virtual tour?

MR ACKEN. Thank you. One final question,
| hope to put a bowon it. Al of these questions about
the interconnection are really related to the
Comm ssion's charge, which is to wei gh environnental
effects -- the desire to mnimze environnental effects
wth a need for an adequate, economc, and reliable
source of power.

Q So with that franework in mnd, what are your
t houghts on how this project neets those needs?
A (Ms. HATHI RANMANI ) Yes, thank you.

So this project will add new generation and
battery storage to APS s system addi ng generation
generally inproves reliability by giving utilities nore
options to neet custoner demand, as well as bal ancing
supply and demand. Any network upgrades, which we've
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tal ked about, identified through the study are -- you
know, they'll ultinmately strengthen APS s system addi ng
new lines and things like that. That's specifically
designed to maintain reliability and to acconmbdate this
project and others in the cluster.

The battery portion will al so enhance
reliability by providing short-term backup and suppl yi ng
di spat chabl e energy during peak periods. Additionally to
that, where we cross State Land there will be paynents
made for those. Those are still TBD based on the final
ri ght-of-way grant, but that's just an additi onal
contribution of this project.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Fant ?

MEMBER FANT: Thank you, M. Chair.

Just a question, if you can answer this
one. |'ve noticed the projects -- solar projects tend to
have i ncreasi ng anounts of BESS associated with the
projects up to the level of the negawatt capacity and for
out put of the solar project. |Is that a reliability issue
or a cash flow issue or both?

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Thank you, Menber Fant.

Are you asking why it's typically the sane
size, the solar and the battery storage?

MEMBER FANT: Yes. A few years back you'd
see 2 negawatts out put solar for one backup BESS, 1
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nmegawatt of BESS. And |'ve noticed that the BESS has

i ncreased on a continual basis to where nost projects now
have equi val ent BESS with sol ar output, and I was curious
for the rationale --

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Yeah.

MEMBER FANT: -- for that purpose.

M5. HATHIRAMANI :  No, that's correct. And,
typically, it HAS to do with the utility preference so
fromutilities |like APS we've gotten feedback that that
ratio i s what nmakes nore sense for them
BY MR ACKEN

Q Ckay. Thank you. We'Ill give Sohini's voice a
break, and we'll turn it over to Brian now for the
virtual tour.

A (MR LI NDENLAUB) Thank you, M. Acken.

The flyover is typical, the kind you' re used to
seeing. W're going to start well east of the project
out here. Just to set the context for the flyover. You
see the existing WAPA substation and 230-kV |ine towards
t he sout heast of the proposed solar and BESS project,
whi ch is shown shaded here over existing ag land. W're
followng Curtis Road, an existing 230-kV line on the
north side of Curtis Road. Again, traveling west. You
see ag | and dom nates the | ocal | andscape here.

At the sout hwest corner of the proposed sol ar
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facility at the corner of Curtis and Tweedy Road, we have
t he proposed nonjurisdictional substation, and at the
west side and across Curtis Road in the dark blue we're
showi ng the revised requested transm ssion corridor for

t he CEC.

And now we're starting to see the sinmulated |ine
on the -- next to the existing line. The sinmulated |ine
on the south side, existing line on the north side. This
IS --

CHWN STAFFORD: That's a WAPA 230-kV, you
sai d?

MR. LI NDENLAUB: The existing substation.

CHWN STAFFORD: And there's an existing
line on this --

MR LINDENLAUB: Oh, you're asking if the
exi sting line is WAPA?

CHWN STAFFORD:  Unh- huh.

MR. LINDENLAUB: 1'Ill defer to ny panel
mates for that.

M5. HATHI RAMANI : So which [ine are we
referring to?

MR LI NDENLAUB: We've got -- we have a
230-kV line on the north side of Curtis Road.

MS. HATHI RAMANI:  Yes. Yes, that's a WAPA
i ne.
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CHWN STAFFORD. Gkay. Thank you.

MEMBER FONTES: Are we crossing that |ine
or interconnecting?

M5. HATHI RAMANI :  We' Il be crossing that
line at the -- exactly -- exactly right where Brian is
show ng on the screen we'll be crossing that line. W
don't currently have a crossing agreenment with them we
have to submt that to them But |I've -- we've had sone
initial engagenent to discuss with themsort of, I|ike,

t he angul ar factor and whether it needs to be 90 degrees
or if diagonal works. So we've had sone initial
conversations. W need to actually submt a request wth
them but that's the only porti on where we cross.

MEMBER FONTES: Is the PO, the point of
i nterconnect, in the WAPA -- in that substati on WAPA
| and, federal |and?

M5. HATHI RAMANI :  Where the WAPA substati on
is, | think that is federal |and, yes.

CHW STAFFORD: So that's to the west --
no, to the east of this project, so | can clarify what
we're | ooking at here. The tour started out east of
where the facility would be | ocated at an exi sting WAPA
station that feeds that existing 230 |line that you woul d
not be connecting to at all?

MS. HATH RAMANI :  Yes.
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CHWN STAFFORD,  Ckay.

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Correct.

MEMBER FONTES: So we're not connecting
into WAPA, we're just crossing their --

CHWN STAFFORD: 230-kV --

MEMBER FONTES: -- 230-kV, and it's just a
poi nt of reference on the map. But where we're starting
is at the new APS substation, which is nonjurisdictiona
on the map.

CHWN STAFFCORD: Well, this project is a
proj ect substation, | believe. And it will termnate
wth the swtchyard at the APS -- the APS -- a new APS
swtchyard on their existing line. But |I'mjust -- so

| ' mjust | ooking at

- we're | ooking at an existing WAPA
i ne going down one side of the road, and then this new
230-kV line will be on the opposite side of the road.

MEMBER FONTES: \What's the size of the WAPA
i ne?

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  230- kV.

MEMBER FONTES: Okay.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: M. Chai r man?

CHWN STAFFCORD: Yes, Menber Const ock.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: What's the height of the
pol es on the WAPA | i ne?

MS. HATHI RAMANI : Menber, | don't actually
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know what the height of the WAPA |ines are, but --

MEMBER COMSTOCK: And do you know under
construct woul d you be goi ng over or under thenf

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  That woul d depend on the
design that we -- on the crossing agreenent that we have
w t h WAPA.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: And the CECis going to
request a 199-foot naxi nunf

MS. HATH RAMANI :  Yes.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: Ckay. Thank you.

CHWN STAFFORD: Typically, 230-kV lines
are, what, 100, 120 feet tall?

MR. ACKEN:. The testinony that Sohi ni
provided is that the typical towers will be about
100 feet. | believe that the sinmulations are in that
100-i sh range, but yes, we've requested flexibility to go
up to 199 feet for just this reason.

CHWN STAFFORD. Gkay. Thank you.

MR. LI NDENLAUB: Thank you, M. Chairnan.

| believe we were about here in the
presentation. Again, show ng the proposed |line on the
south side of Curtis Road on private | ands goi ng
t hrough -- adj acent to existing ag | and.

It's quite subtle, but you can see in the
color they assure ne is called cyan here is | ands owned
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by the Arizona State Land Departnent. And so as we
follow in our alignnment along the road, as we get into
Arizona State Land, the corridor wi dens back and the
line, again, this is to be determ ned, but for the

pur pose of the simulation we're showing you the line in
the center of the thousand-foot corridor.

And this is the rest -- the ownership of
the rest of the alignment should be or will be within
Arizona State Land Departnent with one m nor exception.
Here's where the line crosses the north, we'll call it
fork of Geene Canal, as it continues west towards the
Sawt oot h Mountains. As it approaches the edge of State
Land, the line turns to the south. And here it crosses
the southern arm of G eene Canal into undevel oped desert.

We're crossing a mnor area of private |and
with a slight kickout of the alignnment to avoid sone
particularly brushy area and potential cultural
resources. And then continuing straight south on open
ASLD land wwth ag |l ands to the west.

Here we enter the broader Arizona State
Land and | eave the private | and and the ag devel opnent
behi nd, continuing south. As the Chairman referenced
previously, this alignment is going to termnate in a new
jurisdictional substation to be built and owned by APS.
And you can see here the existing APS |ine, which w've
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laid in, also a 230-kV I|ine.
BY MR ACKEN

Q And just for the record, you referred to that as
an APS substation, but that is a jurisdictional
switchyard that will be constructed, correct?

A (MR LI NDENLAUB) Apol ogi es. Thank you,
M. Acken, that's correct.

Q So does that conplete the tour, Brian?

A (MR LI NDENLAUB) It does.

MR ACKEN:. So I'd ask if the commttee has
questions about the tour at this tine of what they saw?

CHWN STAFFORD: | have a quick question.
Does the WAPA 230-kV line run the |l ength of the corridor
goi ng east to west or does it turn off sonepl ace?

MR. LI NDENLAUB: "1l go back.

Beg the commttee's indul gence while I
rerun, but it appears to continue on the north side of
the Curtis Road alignment. W seemto lose it --

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  So, yeah, it goes al ong
Curtis Road, and then goes north on Toltec Buttes Road,
so it doesn't go the whole way al ong our east/west I|ine,

but it goes along the majority of it and then goes up

i nstead of --
CHWN STAFFORD: In | ooking at the placenmat,
where is -- where is -- what's it called Toltec Road?
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MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Toltec Buttes Road.

CHWN STAFFORD: Toltec Buttes Road.
BY MR ACKEN

Q Is it, Brian, approximately at the intersection
of that canal wash and the Curtis Road alignnent, just to
t he east of that?

A (MR LI NDENLAUB) Yes, approximtely.

Q Sois it fair to say that the proposed route
parallels the existing WAPA |line for approxinmately three
mles along Curtis Road alignnent?

A (MR LI NDENLAUB) That seens a reasonabl e
estimate, yes.

CHWN STAFFORD: Now, Curtis Road, is that a
dirt road? Is it a paved road?

MR. LI NDENLAUB: It's unpaved.

CHWN STAFFORD: It's unpaved, okay. And
then this is all unincorporated Maricopa [sic] County, so
| guess they don't have any intention of w dening or
pavi ng that road any tine soon?

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  No.

CHWN STAFFORD: Ckay.

MEMBER KRYDER: |Is it Maricopa or Pinal?

CHWN STAFFORD: Pinal County. D d | say
Maricopa? It's Pinal, excuse ne.

MR. ACKEN:. And, M. Chairnman, if you | ook
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at the proposed route tour, there's a portion of Curtis
Road that we can travel on. There's a portion that we
cannot, even in its current state. | think it's fair to
characterize these as rural ranch roads on section lines
and sonetines they're there and soneti nes when topography
gets in the way -- intervenes, the roads turn 90 degrees.

So if you | ook at that proposed tour
protocol, you see that we can only follow Curtis Road
with vehicles for a couple of mles before we have to
find anot her route.

MEMBER FONTES: M. Acken and applicant,
M. Lidenbaum -- Lindenl aub, excuse ne, did the applicant
consult with WAPA? W have a forthcom ng hearing on the
South Line, and |I'm not sure which 230-kV line is planned
to be upgraded. And that is a najor project for Tucson
El ectric Power for WAPA and APS that is going to be
| ooked at in this state.

Is that line -- did we consult with WAPA
wth respect to their plans on that |ine, that 230-kV?

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Thank you, Menber.

W -- as | said, we put in this
i nterconnection request with APS in 2021. W consi dered
WAPA and TEP and APS to determ ne which utility would
make -- make the nost sense. The WAPA PO, you know,
that substation's right there, that would be great, we
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woul dn't need a gen-tie. That substation is too
congested, so it didn't nmake sense to nove forward wth
that. And APS was our target custoner, so being

i nterconnected with APS was -- that was a factor as well.

MEMBER FONTES: M question wasn't on
i nterconnects. | appreciate the answer. M question was
nore on easenent and right-of-way. It's |and and
utilization. |f WAPA goes froma 230-kV to a 500-kV
i ne, you're asking for a thousand-foot right-of-way,
their bl owout range is going to double.

CHWN STAFFORD: | think that project is at
a different location. | understand the South Line is in
Pi ma and Cochi se counti es.

MR ACKEN. So | do have sone famliarity
withit, it's not ny project, M. -- Brian may know a
little about it as well. M understanding is the sane as
the Chairman's is the northern termnus of that is
Saguaro, or thereabouts. And so while -- while the APS
line that we're tal king about interconnect does cone from
Saguaro West, ny understanding of the South Line upgrades
is that those end at Saguaro.

MEMBER FONTES: Let ne -- let ne expand
that. And it's a quick check, if you could have sonebody
check this out, WAPA' s Desert Sout hwest Regi on publi shes
a 10-year CapEx plan on how they're going to expand al
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of their lines. |It's public information. [It's on the
website. Can you just please doubl e-check that for the
error of that consultation?

Again, it's not interconnect, it's
basically utilization, because when we grant you a
ri ght-of-way, we want to take into consideration the
co-owned or shared utility corridor so we get that right
for you. Because bl owout ranges on lines are very
i mportant for the operational -- when you get into the
NERC st andards, especially for an organi zation |i ke WAPA,
which is a transm ssi on operator, nmajor one.

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Uh- huh. Yes.

CHWN STAFFORD: So your concern nore is if
the --

MEMBER FONTES:. They're going to upgrade

CHWN STAFFORD: Ri ght . But this WAPA
230-kV line that's on the opposite side of the road that
they're asking to put their line if that was going to get
upgraded, what inpact would it have on this project,

t hen?

MEMBER FONTES: Yes, sir.

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. Another thing |
would like to ask, and it seens like if you have 230-kV
lines running parallel on -- which road is this again?

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
www. gl enni e-reporting. com Phoeni x, AZ



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 254 VOLUME | 12/08/2025 87

MR LI NDENLAUB: Curti s.

CHW STAFFORD: Curtis. Wat are the
chance -- what are opportunities to co-locate themto
m nimze the inpact, but again, the issue's that they're
WAPA.  So we don't have jurisdiction over WAPA. But |
mean, | guess have you approached WAPA and asked about
the opportunity to co-locate your 230-kV line with theirs
to mnimze environnmental inpacts? And if that -- and
what their response was. And if that woul d even be able
to -- because it's probably -- the poles would have to be
repl aced anyway because this is probably a single-circuit
pole, it's not double-circuit capable where you can just
add anot her conductor, so -- what was the applicant's
efforts on that front?

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Thank you, Chairnman.

| don't believe that we've had that
conversation with WAPA, but being transparent, | wasn't
wor king on the project at the initial tine that we nmade
this request, and this area was | ooked at specifically,
so | can check in wth other team nenbers that m ght be
aware i f any engagenent was nade.

CHWN STAFFORD: Ckay. | guess -- because
|"'mnot -- we haven't had an opportunity to assess if
this is co-located or share the poles, but again, this is
WAPA, so | can -- we can't -- if it was APS |lines, we
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could say, well, let's make APS a party and have them
come in and tal k about what coul d be done, explore the
option of co-locating this transmi ssion line and their
transm ssion |line on the sane set of poles to m nim ze

i mpacts. But since we can't do that with WAPA, | thought
| would just ask the question to find out if that was a
possibility.

But | nmean, | guess if WAPA could have
their own plans to expand the line and so the answer
woul d be no, we're not interested in that at all. W' ve
seen that happen on other cases too, but | thought it
woul d be worth having that on the record what -- what
WAPA had to say about it if they had been asked.

MEMBER FONTES: WAPA publ i shes that
Ten- Year Plan so check that out on the next recess, |
think we will get sonme insights. And the concern is when
we grant the CEC do we have to put in a 50- to
100- regawatt separation for the two |lines for those
bl owout ranges, so we get that right for you

| understand we're asking for a
t housand-foot right-of-way but, you know, we have to put
the corridor and the pole height structure, we want to
get that right the first tine. So M. Acken is nodding
his head, | think he knows where we're going on this.
We're just trying to right-size it for you, if you will.
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CHWN STAFFORD: Right. Because | didn't
notice that the corridor is set to be fromthat road
south. It doesn't look like the corridor request is
broad enough to co-locate with the WAPA line. | think

it's anticipated to be on the other side of the street or

even further away fromthat road further south. |Is

that -- is that -- is the corridor, as you' ve requested,
is that -- would it allow to be co-located with the WAPA
line, | guess?

MR ACKEN. So, Chairman Stafford and
Menmber Fontes, | want to be real precise in ny
term nol ogy when we tal k about co-l|ocated versus sharing
the structures. And we wll run that to ground, Menber
Fontes's question, because it's the right question
whenever you're paralleling with another plant, what are
t he other opportunities.

One of the reasons you bring at |l east a
500-foot corridor, and in this case in places a
t housand-foot corridor, is to nake sure that you have
room for everybody. And what | heard of Menber -- and so
do | sit here before you and say am| confident that that
500-foot corridor is sufficient? Absolutely. \Wat |
heard Menmber Fontes saying is a question about do you
need to make sure there's an offset away fromthat WAPA
line. And so we'll run that to ground to -- so that we
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have an answer for you | ater.

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. Thank you. Because
it seens |like a thousand-foot corridor gives you enough
space to nove it away to site this |ine far enough away
fromthe WAPA, even if they want to upgrade it to a
500-kV line, you need to know t hat because your fi nal
ri ght-of-way, because you wouldn't put the final
right-of-way too close to this.

MR. ACKEN. Yes. And | can speak, not with
respect to this project, but one that | was before this
commttee very recently with that | had to parallel 500
| i nes, each 500 was a 200-foot right-of-way, and it could
be in a 500-foot corridor or a thousand-foot corridor, so
it provided for a 50-foot separation between two 200-f oot
ri ghts-of-way, which is historically and as recently as a
coupl e nont hs ago, was adequate for two 500 |i nes.

So that's why I'm 1|ike, a 500-foot
corridor south of Curtis, I'"'mvery confident is adequate.
| heard Menber Fontes say |let's doubl e-check on the
spacing, and we wll do so.

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. And then foll ow up,
does the northern edge of the corridor you've requested,
does it begin south of the existing WAPA |i ne?

MR ACKEN:. It does. It's on the center
line of Curtis.
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CHWN STAFFORD,  Ckay.

MR ACKEN. And the WAPA line is north of
Curtis --

CHWN STAFFORD: Ckay. Thank you.

MR ACKEN. -- for the alignnent.

CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you.

MR ACKEN. So | don't know if you wanted

to take this tine to tal k about a tour. W do have

the -- an in-person tour, we do have the ability to do
so. I'dlike -- I don't knowif you want to hear nore
testinony. |1'd like to have |ogistics figured out sooner

rather than later if the commttee knows, but it's
obvi ously your discretion.

CHWN STAFFORD: Looking to ny coll eagues.
|"'mnot inclined to do a physical tour. | think between
the virtual tour -- we still have to cover the key
observation points and those visual sinulations, but |
think given the renoteness of it and the tricki ness of
the roads to where the actual line would be, I'm
confortable not taking a tour. 1'mlooking to ny
menbers. No one is insisting on taking a tour?

MEMBER KRYDER: No.

MEMBER FANT: |1'd vote for a tour, but, you
know, pass on that.

CHWN STAFFORD: All right. That was Menber
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Fant. There will be no physical tour. W've established
t hat now, M. Acken, so --

MR. ACKEN. Thank you for clarifying and
allowing the teamto react accordingly.

We're going to shift gears now to talk
about public engagenent.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: M. Chai r man?

| apol ogi ze, M. Acken.

CHWN STAFFCORD: Yes, Menber Const ock.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: Wuld you rather wait to
tal k about the questions on the key observation points
until we get to that point in the presentation or may we
ask questions about the KOPs now?

MR. ACKEN. W're happy to --

MEMBER COMSTOCK: | don't want to ness up
your presentation, so if they're comng, that's great.
|'ve got the question witten down.

MR. ACKEN:. They will be comng. | nean,
now s a good tine if you want to break -- because we're

going to shift to a conpletely different topic anyway, if

you'd like to do -- if you'd |like to see the sinul ations
before lunch, then let's -- we can do that.

CHWN STAFFORD: Well, let's look at the --
what's the -- up next in the presentation is public and

st akehol der invol venent. About how long is that
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presentation in tinmew se, absent any interruptions or
questi ons?

MR ACKEN. Half an hour.

CHWN STAFFORD: Ckay. And then the KOPs,
that's going to be | think probably a little |onger
because we're going to have several questions on that.

MR. ACKEN. And you al so have bi ol ogy and
| and use before you get to visual resources and cultural.
So it's quite a bit down in the order.

CHWN STAFFORD: Al right. Wwell, Menber
Constock, 1'd prefer to stick to the order of the
presentation that the applicant is putting on, as opposed
to junmping forward to anot her section and then com ng
back to this one.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: | appreciate that. Thank
you.

CHWN STAFFORD: And then | think we'l]l
probably conti nue for another 15, 20 m nutes before we
take our lunch break. W'Il be taking a |later |unch
because | have a 1:00 call | have to be on. So | think
when we do break for lunch we won't conme back for
approxi mately between 1:45 and 2:00, so | think we can go
to until -- between 12:30 and 12: 45 and then take our
l unch break. So let's see if you can get through the
publ i c and stakehol der i1 nvol venent before we break for
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| unch.
MR. ACKEN:. Thank you, M. Chairnan.

Q M. Davis.

A (MR DAVIS) Hello, yes, thank you very nuch for
your tinme. |'m Sanuel Davis here to talk a little bit
about public and stakehol der invol venment, Cypress Creek's
strategy around it. Again, like Ms. Sohini was sayi ng,
we began i nvol venent in Novenber 2022, and before we
formally introduced the project in January 2024. So
since then we've been very active in Eloy and the greater
Pi nal County community through | ocal chanbers, economc
devel opnent organi zations, nultiple comunity neetings in
El oy. Really having a regular presence at |ocal events.

We' ve nmai ntained a project website, Facebook
page, established a dedi cated phone line, it's (520)
288-7011, if you want to -- | will get the voicemail, so
| prom se you that, so -- and -- but | got you right
here. So we've also naintained a targeted conmmunity
i nvest nent of around $58,000, locally, with the najority
in and around Eloy. Sonething we're real proud of though
is the donations to the Santa Cruz historic -- Santa Cruz
Val l ey Hi storic Museum we worked -- it's just a |lot of
col  aboration. Cypress Creek, CC, we believe in the C s,
col | aboration is one of themw th our conmunities, and so
we really made it so that it's ADA conpliant. And it's
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really awesone to see that the community was very excited
about that.

| wanted to also talk a little bit about
the -- so we are nenbers of the El oy Chanber of Commerce.
We even have a CCR, Cypress Creek Renewabl es, team
enpl oyee serving on the board of directors for that.

Pinal Alliance for Economic G owth, the sane enpl oyee is
serving on the board of directors.

And regardi ng the workforce question before we
have been nenbers for several years and we woul d work
wth themas we get closer to hiring, go to organi zati ons
for hiring | abor forces. They are really tapped into
| ocal contractors, EPCs. And even, literally, in an
email | got a request for jobs already through our
proj ect website and t hrough our phone line comng off the
heel s of our Pinal County pad approval |ast week.

So it's pretty awesonme to see peopl e al ready
reaching out. There's a thirst for jobs and there's a
thirst for work. And we're just very excited about that.
And we said, well, we're alittle far away from
construction on this one, you know, fingers crossed, but
we do have other opportunities, so it's great to, you
know, not direct them here because it's not 2028 yet, but
we can direct them sonewhere else. And then we al so, for
wor kf orce prograns, we woul d consider a workforce
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devel opnent programw th Central Arizona College, if
needed. So we're really into tapping into our | ocal
organi zati ons, chanbers, colleges, trade prograns. W
even have the Energi zing Tonorrow s Leaders schol arship
programthat we've done for two years and we're going to
do for at least two nore years. And that went to two

Pi nal County students.

Let's see, what's the next slide here we've
got going --

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Kryder, you have a
questi on?

MEMBER KRYDER:  Yes. Build, M. Davis, a
little bit, if you would, on those schol arships. You
said that you dropped al nost $60, 000 here. How did you
di stribute that?

MR DAVIS: Sure. So the -- that's
the -- that word right there that's about 60,000 is
t hrough the | ocal donations and the schol arshi p program
was basically we asked | ocal students in the Pinal County
area, you know, they're seniors going to college, you
know, what does -- what does energy |look like to you?
And so they know we're the renewabl es energy program and
so they sent in a video of what they thought, you know,
energy and the future of energy was to them It's a
STEM rel ated, just sonething to kind of spur their
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creative instincts and innovators. Just sonething to

stir those young innovators, but it's STEM focused, and

so each of themrecei ved $2500.

MEMBER KRYDER: $2500 each?

MR DAVIS:. Yes, sir.

MEMBER KRYDER: How nmany of thenf

MR DAVIS: Two this year and two | ast
year.

MEMBER KRYDER: And they're basically

MasterCard sort of things that you can apply themto any

col l ege or do you have to go to the one in Pinal County?

VMR. DAVI S: No, sSir. So those -- those

fol ks woul d use them for whatever coll ege that they went

to.

MEMBER KRYDER: Ckay. And how -- so you

gave them $2500 basically to use at the college of their

choi ce?

MR DAVIS: Yes, sir.

MEMBER KRYDER: Ckay. And is there any
tie-in that back to Pinal County in any way? Are you
asking themto cone back and consider working in the
energy sector or anything like that?

VR DAVI S: No, sir. W're not really
tying any strings attached to that, but we are just
excited that there is -- that there is curiosity in
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STEM rel ated prograns and so we are hopi ng, of course,

that they are using that noney in a degree that could

benefit energy in the future. So -- and usually if
sonmeone's applying to that, they are -- they are usually
very -- a little bit of a go-getter, they're

engi neer-m nded, they're, you know, science, tech,

engi neer, nechanical. They're very excited about that,
so they're going to use those dollars for a degree that
woul d benefit that.

And, yeah, a hope is that they do cone back
to Pinal County and maybe even utilize those resources
and t hat know edge back in the community, yes, sir. But
we're not really saying you have to do this or that, no,
Sir.

MEMBER KRYDER: And how does that tie into
t he previous point there of Central Arizona Coll ege
Foundati on? Are these tied together or are these two
di fferent deal s?

MR DAVIS:. They're two different deals,
yes, Sir.

MEMBER KRYDER: \What do you do with the
Central Arizona Coll ege Foundation? Wat is that?

MR DAVIS: Wll, that is a grant program
that's where they basically use those nonies for
different STEM prograns in Central Arizona -- Arizona
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College. So we just wanted to support those |ocal
col l eges, kind of do the sane thing in Texas as well for
trade force schools, |ike Texas State Technical Coll ege.
We're just really trying to spur and really water those
pl ants of |ocal colleges to where -- so that whenever,
you know, 2028 does cone and we have a workforce
shortage, that maybe we won't have as nuch of one,
because we are fostering and hel ping those | ocal trade
schools for either the youth in Pinal County or the youth
in surrounding counties to go there. And we're just
really trying to help out the industry at its early

i nfancy and devel opnent st ages.

MEMBER KRYDER: Ckay. So Central Arizona
Col | ege Foundation is a broker, basically, of
schol arshi ps and your conpany nade a donation to them in
addition to the twi ce a year $2500 schol arshi ps?

MR DAVIS: Correct. Yes, sir. So that
was j ust separate. The schol arship program was sonet hi ng
that we ran just through our own, you know, we adverti se
it on Facebook in the | ocal papers and --

MEMBER KRYDER  Did your conpany nake a
contribution to the Arizona Col | ege Foundati on?

MR DAVIS: Yes, sir. |I'mnot sure of the
anmount at this tine.

MEMBER KRYDER: Back of the envel ope?
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MR. DAVIS: Back of the envel ope?

MEMBER KRYDER: Anount of dollars? | nean
are you tal king 500 or 50, 0007

MR DAVIS: Definitely in the thousands.
would say if it's adding up to al nost 60,000 -- 25,000
went to Santa Cruz Valley Hi storic Museum W wor ked
wth the | ocal community and were, like, if we ever got
$25, 000, where would y'all like to see it? And the
community spoke and they said, honestly, if we could nake
this ADA conpliant, that woul d be sonethi ng we have been
really trying to find the funds for for a while. And so
we were just happy to be a good nei ghbor.

MEMBER KRYDER: Ckay. You said that you
had of fered two $2500 schol arshi ps for each of four
years; is that right? Did |l hear -- or each of two
years?

MR DAVIS. W've done two years, and
we're -- we've honored to do two nore.

MEMBER KRYDER: Ckay. So how nany
applicants -- and you got these by sending out a notice,
| guess, to the -- sone -- sonewhere, RFP of
schol arships, if you wish. And students wote back to
you or sent videos about the future of renewabl e energy,
Is that what you -- how nmany people did you have apply
and you had to select two fronf
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MR DAVIS: | -- 1 -- man, we did this
nati onwi de to a bunch of different counties --

MEMBER KRYDER: Ch, nati onw de?

MR DAVIS: But Pinal County was one of the
counties that we did. And so we -- I'mtrying to think
of how many we had exactly from Pinal County. But I
could find the nanes of those students and the school s
that they go to if you would like to in a break?

MEMBER KRYDER: That's -- | was kind of
| ooking at it from 100 feet up.

MR DAVIS: Yes, sir.

MEMBER KRYDER: But the noney went to two
students a year, four years from-- two students a year
from Pinal County or fromthe U S., in general?

MR DAVIS: R ght. W chose specific
counties across the USA, and Pinal County was -- was one
of them

MEMBER KRYDER  Ckay.

MEMBER Di CICCO G  Answer his question.

MR, DAVIS. But, correct, | think -- yeah,
sorry.

MR ACKEN. Maybe -- nmybe | can hel p out
with the question and answer.

Q | think the question is did -- are there Pinal
County recipients of the funds?

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
www. gl enni e-reporting. com Phoeni x, AZ



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 254 VOLUME | 12/08/2025 102

A (MR DAVIS) Yes, sir. Yes, sir. Yes. The
reci pients could only be in Pinal County.

MEMBER KRYDER: Ckay. Thank you, Bert.

MR DAVIS: Sorry about that.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Fant, you had a
question?

MEMBER FANT: Yes, thank you, M. Chair.

The Pinal Partnership and Central Arizona
Col | ege actually have a specific program ai ned at
bui | di ng techni cal vocational workforces, and trying to
retain those workers in this County. And I'mnot in this
County, not bleeding themoff to Maricopa County or Pinma
County. So your programis exactly in the wheel house of
what the partnership and CAC, Central Arizona Coll ege,
are trying to acconplish, which is excellent.

G |l bert Lopez is the head of CAC, you m ght
want to get famliar, he's a great guy. He's also a town
manager for the Town of Coolidge, which is just northeast
of Eloy. But what you're doing, you should tell the
partnershi p, because that's exactly what they're trying
to acconmplish with their workforce in Pinal County.

MR DAVIS: Thank you for that, Menber
Fant. And we will follow up with that, yes, sir.

MR. ACKEN:. Thank you.

Q Anything else on this slide?
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A (MR DAVIS) | don't believe so, no, sir. It's
kind of -- go to the next one if you're good with that.
Q So the next slide we're going to switch to

Jennifer. W'Ill cone back to Sanuel either before or

after |unch.

But, Jennifer, 1'd like you to tal k about tri bal

engagenent that you nmanage and oversaw for the project.
A (M5. HYRE) Thank you.

For tribal engagenent | sent electronic letters
to 30 representatives from 11l Native American tribes
identified as interested stakehol ders. These are |listed
here on the slide, these included Zuni Puebl o, Tohono
Apache Tri be, TO Nation, Yavapai-Apache Nation, Wite
Mount ai n Apache Tri be, Pascua Yaqui Tribe, Hopi Tri be,
Mescal ero Apache Tri be, Ak-Chin Indian Community, Salt
Ri ver Pima-Mricopa Indian Comunity, and Gla River
| ndi an Communi ty.

These tribes and contacts were identified using
the online Arizona State Historic Preservation Ofice
gover nnent -t o- governnent consultation toolkit. Their
consul tati on mapper, and specifically this tool kit
provi des specific consultation, protocols, conmunication
instructions, and contacts for each particular tribe.

To be clear, for the context of this project, we
did not conduct formal tribal consultation for this
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proj ect, because we don't have any federal requirenents
for Section 106 conpliance. W use the toolkit as a

met hod to aid in identifying and communicating with those
tribes that would be potentially interested in this
particul ar project.

On the next slide there is an exanple of the
| etter shown on the screen here, the letter that |
provided. This letter invited the tribes to provide
their input and requested that their comments be provided
within 45 days of receiving the letter, just to help us
conti nue along with our project devel opnment process. The
project, as you can see, provided a map of the project
and a brief description and provided our contact
i nf or mati on.

Fromthis letter we received responses from four
different tribes. Those tribes that responded were
Yavapai Apache, Wi te Muntai n Apache, Pascua Yaqui, and
Salt River Pinma-Maricopa Indian Community. And | wll
speak specifically to what each of the tribes responded
Wit h.

Yavapai requested to receive a copy of our d ass
11 cultural resources report, which was provided --
whi ch was prepared for the gen-tie that was provided to
the tribe in Novenber, once we had received it from our
consultant. W sent copies also of the Class | desktop
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reports for the base solar project, as well as the
gen-tie project. Those reports were conpl eted during our
early staging pieces of the project. After the tribe
reviewed all three of those reports, they provided

f eedback that they concurred with a no adverse effect
determ nation that was included in our cultural resources
report.

This occurred after we submtted the CEC
application and these materi als have been included as
suppl enental to the hearing naterials. M. Acken would
know whi ch exhibit that is. The Wi te Muntain Apache
Tri be responded that the project would have no adverse
effect on the tribe's cultural heritage resources.

Pascua Yaqui had requested to be kept inforned
of the project because of Picacho Peak, a traditional
cul tural property being within nine mles of the viewshed
of the project. That tribe was al so provided copi es of
the Cass Ill cultural resources report in Novenber, as
well as the dass | desktop reports. After review ng
those reports, Pascua Yaqui provided feedback that the
gen-tie transm ssion line would be far enough away from
Pi cacho Peak as to not cause any significant changes in
the viewshed. Record of this additional consultation --
sorry -- conmuni cation and coordi nation is included as
suppl enental materials in the hearing.
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And then, lastly, Salt River Pina-Mricopa
| ndi an Community deferred to TO Nation as the lead in the
tri bal engagenent process for this project.

BY MR ACKEN:
Q Thank you.

And for conpl eteness of the record, you nade it
real easy for ne, are those materials found in Exhibit
CC- 2?

A (M5. HYRE) Yes, they are.
Q Thank you.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Fant?

MEMBER FANT: Thank you, M. Chair.

So the Tohono O odham never got back to you
after the --

M5. HYRE: They did not.

MEMBER FANT: (Okay. Because this is kind
of their turf, this area down here. Surprised they
didn't say anything. So all right. Thank you.

M5. HYRE: You're welcone. Yes, to
confirm we didn't receive any communi cati on or response
from TO Nati on.

MEMBER FANT: Okay. Thank you.

MR ACKEN. Thank you.

Q Movi ng back to additional neasures conducted
specifically for the project in the recent nonths,
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Samuel , tal k about the open house that you held and,
first of all, how you notified the public of it?

A (MR DAVIS) Absolutely. W mailed open house
invitations and the project information to all 56
nei ghbors within a two-mle radius of the project. That
was August 21st, 2025, and then we enuil ed open house
invitations and the sane project information to 17 agency
and el ected representati ves on August 26th and 27t h,
2025. And then we publicized it in the |ocal paper, the
Pi nal Central Newspaper on our project website,
www. Cact usFl ower Sol ar. com and on our project Facebook
page, and what you see here is really what we posted, and
we boosted it and just to try to get as nmany eyeballs on
that as we could. And we held that on Septenber 9th.

Q And on the next slide do you have an exanpl e of
that notice letter?

A (MR DAVIS) Yes, that is -- that is the notice
letter. W wanted to just give the information straight
and clear, as well as have a little map so the people
could see a visual representation and kind of know where
we are in the context of the project.

CHWN STAFFORD: And you're tal ki ng about
slide 33 of Exhibit --

MR ACKEN:. CC- 4.

CHWN STAFFORD: -- 4.
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MR DAVIS: Yeah, so that was the letter
right there. And the -- the open house, though, was just
a CEC-focused community neeting held on Septenber 9th at
the Toltec Community Center. W had |lots of tables and
i ght snacks, | still got some snacks available fromit,
you know, a |lot of pineapple. And we put up placards and
easels with the project details and even i mages of before
and after, those visual renderings. This way fol ks could
really -- they could literally wal k through the project
and the process and the CEC process, so we al so included
information |i ke the expected benefits and what the CEC
proceedi ngs would involve, sign-in, that's an exanpl e of
one of the placards that we had there and there --
nmenbers of the project teamwere on hand to answer
questions and |listen to feedback, and we were able to
speak individually with attendees from El oy and t he
surroundi ng area. But that's basically what it was right
there and --

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Fant, you had a
question?

THE REPORTER:  Your mi crophone.

MEMBER FANT: Sorry. Thank you, Robin.

Just an observation, |'ve noted this at
ot her hearings, the Arizona |egislature in 2008 changed
the net hod by which they financed rural fire districts,
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small town fire districts -- fire districts generally and
had no i npact on big urban areas, but the change it hurt
the rural and small town fire districts in terns of
financing. So when a solar project cones along, which

i ncreases the tax revenue for the area, it nakes a ngjor
difference to the rural fire districts what equi pnent

t hey can have and personnel. | nention this because they
wll be strong supporters of your project. | don't know
who the rural fire district is down here in this area or
districts or snmall towns, but they would be strong
supporters of your project.

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Thank you, Menber.

And just in agreenment with that, we have
spoken with the Eloy Fire District. They actually gave
us a letter of support for our local zoning | ast week.
We're not fully in their jurisdiction, given how rural
this area is, howfar away it is fromEl oy, but close to
the tinme of construction we would engage directly in a
contract with themjust to make sure that we're -- we're
cover ed.

But, yeah, they're supportive of this type
of devel opnent. They're very famliar with it now, solar
and batteries, they've seen a | ot of projects and they
don't believe it adds any sort of risk to the | ocal area.
So conpletely -- that's conpletely correct, Eloy Fire
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District is supportive of our project.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: M. Chai r man?

CHWN STAFFCRD: Yes, Menber Const ock.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: M. Davis, in your letter
dat ed August 27th, you apol ogi zed for a m sconmmuni cati on.
Was this letter the only notice that the date was
incorrect? Did you use any other foll ow up nmeans to nake
sure nobody el se got shut out of that neeting that wanted
to be?

MR DAVIS. Yes, Menber, thank you for
that -- for notifying that. There was an error in date
not ed on August 26th, 2025. So we updated mail ers and
emails were sent that foll ow ng day, August 27th, 2025.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: And did you use any ot her
nmet hodol ogy, social nedia or anything, to nake sure that
everybody got the nessage that the date was changed?

MR DAVIS: The -- the -- the date on the
soci al nmedia and website was correct. It was what we
mai | ed out that was incorrect. So then we imedi ately
renmedied that with the new nmailer and email.

MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Thank you.

MR DAVIS: Yes, sir.

And also | want to hop al so on what Menber
Fant and what Sohini were speaking about with the fire
departnents there. Again, kind of speaking personally,
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in Texas the revenue fromthat wnd project really hel ps
out that local -- that |local fire departnent.
Unfortunately, sonme of these local rural fire departnents
do not have heavy, heavy funding |like, you know, Houston
or Phoenix. So not only does it hel p out that County,
and in our case Concho County, but it hel ps out the
surroundi ng counti es, because, yeah, sure, there nay be
an i ssue over here on the edge of Concho, but, you know,
there's a fire right over here in Menard. Well, there's
a |l ot of crossover and synergy between counti es.

So we're excited, too, that the fire
departnent did give us a letter of support. And also
that's not just going help out them but it wll help out
surroundi ng counties and areas close to -- close to El oy.

MEMBER KRYDER: M. Chairman?

CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Kryder.

MEMBER KRYDER | have a question for
M. Davis.

How many peopl e did you actually get
wal king in the door to your actual open house?

MR DAVIS: W had six. About six people.
Ch, sorry, three -- three attendees. Yeah, okay, three
attendees. W had a |l egal representative that was
talking for a | andowner and then -- so there was three
attendees and then we had a | egal representative for a
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| andowner, and then a supervisor fromDi strict 4, and
t hat was Supervi sor Md ure.

MEMBER KRYDER: So in spite of the fact
that you had mailed to, whatever it was, 58 residents or
| don't have the exact nunber, you didn't get nuch of a
response fromthenf

MR, DAVIS: That is correct, Menber Kryder.
We even boosted the post, too, so that there was a | ot
of -- just on Facebook so that people could not only
just -- so that you could post it if you happen to cone
across our Facebook page, but we al so boosted it so that
it would be -- it would be advertised |like an ad in the
soci al nedi a sphere.

MEMBER KRYDER: And did you count the
clicks that you got?

MR DAVIS: Count the clicks? Yes, that
is -- we did. W did. W -- about posting -- we had 655
viewers for the posts that we put on -- what was it,
let's see here.

MEMBER KRYDER: These are uni que viewers or
clicks?

MR DAVIS: These are -- these are people
t hat see the ad, and not necessarily clicking on it
or interacting wwth it, but 655 for that first -- that
first boost. And then we had 323 for the -- for the
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ot her boost that we did.

So given the scarcity of the population in
that area, we were proud that there were eyeballs at
| east seeing the ad. W didn't really expect a |ot of
engagenent, we understand. But we wanted to make sure
that we were goi ng above and beyond on | etting people
know about the neeting, and that they did have the
opportunity to cone in, offer feedback. W had comment
cards. W did want to make sure that eyeballs saw t hat
we were doing it, advertising in the paper, mailing it
out. | -- I struggle to find sonething else that we
coul d have done to try to get nore turnout to this.

MEMBER KRYDER: It's a tough thing, unless
you are controversial. So that was the background to ny
next question. Has there been any either | ow key or
medi um or hi gh-key opposition to your project?

MR DAVIS. | would say it's been rather
| ow- key, Menmber Kryder. At planning and zoning we did

have some fol ks cone in and speak in opposition, which

Is -- that is fine. W also had sone keyboard warriors
or our Facebook page, but that's okay as well. It is a
free speech -- we believe in free speech here. But,
honestly, it's been -- it's been a very | ow key,
low -- lowinpact on just oppositional engagenent.
Al so, the -- what -- at the Pinal County
GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
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hearing | ast week, we had about seven people com ng up
and speaking in support of the project. And the big

t hi ng about that was because we -- where the project is

| ocated, it is |ocated where -- or the mayor of El oy even
said in their Gty planning that they wanted somewhere

like this, south of 1-10, away from everything. And so

t hat people -- soneone even said that | |ike this because
it's a low touch -- a |low touch or a soft touch type of
project. So given that, we do feel like there is -- |

would put it in yellow, |ow key, versus orange.

CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you, M. Davis. W
need to take our m dday break now.

MR DAVIS: Yes, sir.

CHWN STAFFORD: Let's cone back at 2:00.
We stand in recess until 2:00.

(Recessed from 12:44 p.m until 2:09 p.m)

CHWN STAFFORD: Let's go back on the
record.

M. Acken?

MR. ACKEN:. Thank you.

|"mgetting a bit of an echo.

CHWN STAFFORD: Yeah.

THE REPORTER: That's ny conputer. Hold on
one second.

CHWN STAFFORD: How about now?
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MEMBER MERCER  Stil l.

THE REPORTER: Try it again.

CHWN STAFFORD: Testing. Oh, that's nuch
better. Excellent.

MR ACKEN. Al right. Thank you,

M. Chairman.

There were a handful of questions that cane
inin the norning. Sone of themwe still need to run to
ground. Sone of them |l think we're in a position to take
a swng at now. And so l'dlike to -- like to do that.

First question that cane in was regarding
or the first question | want to address, was regardi ng
supply chain concerns and ability to neet projected
construction schedules in |ight of the challenges that
the industry's seeing with respect to supply chai ns.

Q And so, Jennifer, did you hear that |ine of
questi oni ng?

A (M5. HYRE) | did, yes.

Q And to clarify you are our environnental expert,
correct?

A (M5. HYRE) Correct, yes. But | did speak with
our supply chain teamto provide -- to be able to provide
a response to the commttee here. | spoke with them and
they |l et nme know that we purchase fromtier 1 suppliers
so we are purchasing directly fromthe nanufacturer. W
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pur chase constructi on equi pnent separate, the materials
to construct our project separate fromour EPC. W do
that in order to control the supply chain and our
materials can stay in front of any projected shortfalls
or changes to the global supply chain for the conponents
that we need in order to build our projects.
We purchase sone of this equi pnent up to years
i n advance. For exanple, our nmain power transformers we
can sonetimes purchase those up to three or nbre years in
advance. For nodules and inverters we typically purchase
t hose nine nonths to a year in advance and for our
battery storage conponents, at this point we are
pur chasi ng those al nost 18 nonths in advance. W pay
close attention to these lead tinmes. Qur supply chain
teamis constantly talking to these tier 1 suppliers and
we adjust our lead tines for purchasing, as needed, in
order to remain in advance of any changes in the
mar ket pl ace.
MEMBER KRYDER: Very hel pful.
BY MR ACKEN
Q Thank you for handling that homewor k assi gnment
so qui ckly.
A (M5. HYRE) You're wel cone.
MEMBER COMSTOCK: Sir?
CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Const ock.
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MEMBER COMSTOCK: Sorry. | don't nean to
whip this horse until it stops running, but | didn't hear
anyt hi ng about poles or wres.

M5. HYRE: The poles and the wires, those
are provided by the EPCs. Thank you for asking for that
clarification. Those are provided by our EPCs. The EPCs
that we work with, because they are national firns that
are working with us and ot her energy devel opers, they
have those in stock on a consistent, constant basis for
putting onto their different jobs, so they have those
t hat are warehoused in various areas so that is put on
themand that is part of their regular supply that is in
st ock.

MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Thank you.

CHWN STAFFORD: And "EPC," that's electric
what contractor?

BY MR ACKEN

Q Is it engi neering, procurenent, and
construction?

A (M. HYRE) Yes. Yes, thank you.

CHWN STAFFORD: Wiat is it?

MS. HYRE: Engi neering, procurenent, and
constructi on.

CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you.

BY MR ACKEN
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Q Simlar question on the supply side was | abor
supply. And so, Sanuel, were you able to run to ground
t he questions and get the details on the contributions to
Central Arizona College and the | ocal Pinal County
schol ar shi ps?

A (MR DAVIS) Yes, sir. So, thank you again for

your question on the Central Arizona Coll ege and the

donations that we gave to them W -- it was $10,000 to
the Pinal Prom se Programat CAC. 1It's for general

schol arships. It's well-known locally and it's the main
function of the CAC Foundation. The -- it's the Pinal --

or it's the Prom se Program so it provides tuition-free
education to qualifying Pinal County high school
graduates, starting from8th grade comm tnent covering up
to four senester at CAC, by requiring conmunity service,
good GPA, and enrollnment in a degree certificate program
after graduation. Al so want to note that our team nenber
does serve on the CAC Foundati on board.

MEMBER KRYDER  Thank you.

MR DAVIS: Yes, sir.
BY MR ACKEN

Q Thank you.
Let's dive back into the PowerPoint presentation

again. This is hearing Exhibit CCG4. And we are on
slide 36. 34 and 35, for the record, were slides
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regardi ng the open house. 36 is titled "Public and
agency i nvol venent," and Sanuel, if you would, describe
t hose efforts for the conmttee.

A (MR DAVIS) Sure. Thank you.

The -- again, cane out in Novenber of 2022, and
didn't even introduce the project until 2024. And these
are the agencies that we contacted, and many of which we
are nmenbers of, or the Chanber of Commerce -- we
definitely contacted all these different agencies. And
it's just really trying to get their feedback and al ert
t hem about the project and any input that we can get,
again, that collaboration that Cypress Creek really
strives for. So just wanted to put up sone of those
agencies here. Like, | could list themout, but | think
you see themright there.

And then we were very fortunate, too, to get the
El oy Chanber of Commerce to speak in support last -- |ast
week at our Pinal County hearing and even to have sone
ot her ways of support fromthem

Q Thank you.

Let's tal k about other ways that the public
coul d contact the project team and get additi onal
i nf or mati on.

A (MR DAVIS) Sure.
So there's the project website,
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www, Cact usFl ower Sol ar.com and that's a picture of the

| andi ng page there. That's Alfredo Aguilar, he works on
one of our sites, | actually just saw hima coupl e of
weeks ago, so he was fixing up sonme new panels out there
in Texas. So that's a real Cypress Creek enpl oyee. And
then the project tel ephone line right there. And I
haven't gotten a call fromanyone, so I'mstill waiting
fromy'all.

And then also | wanted to nention, too, that
even just while we were here | got an email from soneone
that is asking about, hey, can ny conpany cone and
contact us from Cactus Fl ower specifically asking, hey,
pl ease use our electrical and renewabl e verti cal
I ntegrated system we heard about the -- we heard about
the passing |last week. So we're excited. It sounds like
the community is excited. And we reply to all the people
t hat contact us on our websites and on our phone |ine.

And then Facebook, so again, that's a great
pl ace for us to place ads al erting people about the
different events that are comng up. W're just, again,
trying to go above and beyond on just not what we're
supposed to do, but just really trying to stretch that
out, so publicizing open house, even w shing peopl e happy
Thanksgi vi ngs, you know, whatever -- whatever we're
trying to do there.
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Agai n, those are sonme of those ad nunbers, we're
trying to boost that post, 978 views total on those two
different bursts, so we're glad that we got sone
eyeballs. And then ads were placed even for this event
today and tonorrow. Again, targeting Eloy and a w der --
you could just post it, but we're glad to boost it and to
just try to -- because we kind of think it's just kind of
|ame to just post, it's |ike, okay, you're probably not
getting a lot of traffic there, but if you boost it you
at least get a lot nore -- a |lot nore eyeballs on it.
You're actually giving people a chance to cone and
participate in the CEC process, which we find inportant.

MEMBER KRYDER: M. Chairman?

CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Kryder.

MEMBER KRYDER: One question, M. Davis on
i f soneone contacts you on your Facebook ad or however,
does soneone on your team then, get back with themif
t hey have a question or are these generally just rants
that cone at you?

MR DAVIS: | would say the latter, Menber
Kryder. But sonetines we also are assured there are
actual people that do have actual questions and that are
actually -- versus trying to -- trying to just dunk and
trying to, you know, again, those keyboard warriors. But
i f peopl e are asking genuine questions, we're sure to
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that on the (520) 288-7011 phone line, who answers it and
how does that get to you?

MR DAVIS: Thank you for the question.

It goes to a voicemail that says, "Thank
you for calling Cactus Flower Solar Project. Please
| eave your nmessage right here and a nenber of our team
will get back to you." And then within seconds | get an
emai |, Sohini gets an enmail, ny supervisor, Stacie, gets
an email and with a transcript of it. And we all get
voi cemails as well on our -- on our work phones of --
of -- of the person contacting.

MEMBER KRYDER  Thank you.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: M. Chai r man?

CHWN STAFFCRD: Yes, Menber Const ock.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: M. Davi s,
post-construction, how long will the public outreach site
remai n avail able for people to call or to reach out?

MR. DAVIS. Yes, thank you for the
questi on.

After construction, | nean, | believe our
intent is just to keep it up. It's a great way for us to
al ert peopl e about schol arshi ps, the process in general.
Right now it serves as a great way to conmuni cate and be
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transparent with just -- with all of the details that the
State of Arizona needs us to conply with, soit's a
one-stop shop for everyone to go and see. But afterwards
and |"mjust kind of taking this from other projects, we
have a project in Colorado that is in construction and we
use that as a way to just alert the public, hey, this is
where we're at in construction. This is sonething that
we're doing in the comunity. Here's sone docunents that
we have that you mght find available. So | believe our
intent is to keep it up in the foreseeable future.
MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Thank you.

BY MR ACKEN

Q Next, I'd like you to nention the letters of
support. There are two on slide 39 1'd like you to
reference, as well as the additional ones in Exhibits 7
and 10.

A (MR DAVIS) Yes. Yes. Yes. Sure.

So right here the El oy Chanber of Comrerce which
we' ve been a nenber of for a couple of years now, and
just kind of pulls sone quotes fromthat. "This project
makes sense for our community," so we really appreciate
M. Rodriguez witing that |etter of support for this and
also witing letters of support for our past different --
and actually comng in in person to speak in support | ast
week, we find that to just really carry a | ot of weight.
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And then Ms. King over there at the Pinal
Al l i ance, again, one of our enployees is on the board for
that, and this -- "The project will provide substanti al
| ong-term benefits to the |local tax base supporting Pinal
County, area school districts, and fire departnments.” So
we're very appreciative for those letters of support.

And in addition to that, those are just specific
to the CEC today, but throughout the entire process of
gaining permts, zoning for this project, we' ve received
many | etters of support including fromthe former mayor
of Eloy or the mayor of Eloy, Eloy Fire District, the
fire marshal Robert Jarvis, the superintendent of Santa
Cruz Valley Union H gh School District, letters of
support from participating | andowners, and the two that
you see here today.

Q In addition to the two on the screen and the
others that you nentioned through the County entitl enent
process, for the conpl eteness of the record could you
identify or confirmthat there's a third letter in
Exhibit 7 which is fromthe Arizona Technol ogy Council,
dat ed Decenber 4th, 2025, in support of this project?

A (MR DAVIS) | confirm

Q And is there also a letter fromthe mayor of
El oy, Andrew Sutton, that | quoted fromin ny opening
statenment that is included as Exhibit 10; is that
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correct?

A (MR DAVIS) That is correct. W're happy to
have the mayor's support.

Q Ckay. Thank you.

W're going to shift fromthe public engagenent
activities that the teamdid for years and leading up to
the application to the specific application notice
requi rements done for this proceeding. And for that |I'm
going to turn it to Brian.

| f you would, provide an overview of how public
noti ce was provided of this proceeding.

A (MR, LI NDENLAUB) Yes, absol utely.

So the -- as far as the application goes, it was
filed on Cctober 24th of this year, along with the
i brary posting. W then published a Notice of Hearing,
rather, in the Casa G ande Di spatch newspaper on
Cct ober 30th and Novenber 2nd of this year, and noticed
the affected jurisdictions Novenber 5th of 2025. And,
finally, we posted the signs along the route Novenber
11th of this year.

Q And if you would nove on to slide 42, what does
this depict for the commttee?

A (MR LINDENLAUB) So the inmage on the left is
what was posted in the newspaper and the i nage on the
right is docunentation of posting of the application in
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the library.

Q So and on slide 43 and 44, describe those for
the commttee.

A (MR LI NDENLAUB) Here we show the | ocations of
the signs that we put out per the requirenent. The first
down near the southernnost area that had access. The
other two along the -- or the second one, rather, along
the alignnment. And the third one at a relatively
trafficked area at the corner near the existing WAPA
substation. And here are photos docunmenting the
| ocati ons.

Q And does hearing Exhibit 2, the public outreach
summary, provide a summary of what M. Davis testified
about, what Ms. Hyre provided testinony about, as well as
t he specific notice that you discussed, as well as
affected jurisdiction notice and things of that nature?

A (MR LI NDENLAUB) Yes, it does.

Q Ckay. Thank you.

CHWN STAFFORD: And the affected
jurisdictions were Pinal County and the Arizona State
Land Departnent, correct?

MR LI NDENLAUB: That's correct.

BY MR ACKEN

Q So now we're going to turn to, | believe it's

the | ast category of our testinony, direct, is the
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envi ronnental anal yses that were done in support of the
CEC application.

Before we dive into the exhibits and studies
t hensel ves, Jennifer, I'd like you to talk a little bit
about Cypress Creek's devel opnent phil osophy and how t hey
approach environnental resource anal ysis?

A (M. HYRE) Ckay. Thank you.

Yes, Cypress Creek, as an organi zation, we're
commtted to powering a sustainable future and our
environnental process focuses on responsi bl e project
siting and desi gn devel opnent that considers its
potential inpacts on the environnent. Qur devel opnent
project philosophy is early identification of those
potential environnental resources of concern to ensure
that we are avoiding or mnimzing our inpacts to the
human and the natural environment.

As part of that devel opnent phil osophy, we're
engaging early on with those regul atory agenci es and
potentially interested agencies to identify early on any
concerns and proactively work through finding ways to
mtigate or elimnate those concerns.

For exanple, it was nentioned earlier in the
testi nony when we tal ked about our routing and siting
early on in the process, that we chose to not go on a
direct shorter route because that route was inpacting
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cultural resources. And that is a very good exanpl e of
us conducting early environnental due diligence and
maki ng those early-on nodifications in order to mnimze
a route inpact so that way we can find a sustai nabl e way
to nove forward.
In addition to Cypress Creek's devel opnent

phi | osophy, Cypress Creek al so, as an organi zation, we
participate in nunerous national industry organi zations
such as Anerican C ean Power and Interwest. Wthin these
organi zations we participate in nonthly commttee
nmeetings in order to remain current with national and
state regulatory topics for itens such as BESS, wldlife
and environnental permtting. And that really hel ps us
in order to remain current on those energing regul ati ons
and any changes at the federal, state, or |local policy
l evel .

Q Next, 1'd |like you to summari ze t he
envi ronnental resource anal yses conduct ed, whet her
specifically for the CEC application or done prior that
i nformed CEC application devel opnent.

A (M5. HYRE) Ckay. Thank you.

As part of our commtnent to early and

conpr ehensi ve environnental due diligence, we've
conmpl eted a nunber of environnental resource studies and
eval uations for the project, as M. Acken nentioned, for
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supporting the CEC, as well as the project in general.
These environnental studi es have included, as shown on
the slide, the dass | cultural resource reviews, a
bi ol ogi cal resources evaluation, a Phase 1 environnental
site assessnment, aquatics resources delineation, ASLD
native plant inventory, and visual sinulations fromkey
observation points.

Since our CEC filing, we have conpleted the
Class Ill cultural resource inventory, which is currently
under review by the ASLD archaeol ogist. W've al so
conpl eted assessnents of the project for noise, wnd, use
of zoning, and recreation.

MEMBER KRYDER: M. Chairman?

CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Kryder.

MEMBER KRYDER: A strong statenment of ny
i gnorance, which is nore severe or nore difficult, a
Class | cultural resource reviewor a Cass II117?

MS. HYRE: That is a good question.

The Class | cultural resource survey is a
desktop review of available literature that is out there,
not publicly avail able, but available to our qualified
permtted archaeol ogists, and that's what -- we have
consultants for that. The Cass IlIl is specifically an
I n-depth intensive survey in which we send surveyors out,
boots on the ground in the field, to wal k 15-neter
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transects to | ook for archaeol ogy on the ground.

MEMBER KRYDER: All X miles of it?

M5. HYRE: We try to conplete -- yes, for
all X mles of it. There were a few areas -- and | w ||
speak to this on the next slide -- there were a few areas
where the brush was too dense and we were not able to
have our consultant survey that area, and we've discl osed
that to the State Land O fice. But, yes, the intent of
the Class Ill cultural resource survey is 100 percent
cover age.

MEMBER KRYDER: OF the right-of-way or of

the --
CHWN STAFFORD: Corri dor.
MEMBER KRYDER: -- corridor, yeah.
M5. HYRE: O the right-of-way.
MEMBER KRYDER. O the right of way, okay.
So it has to be a function, then, of after
the right-of-way is determ ned, then your Class IIl can

be done; is that correct?

M5. HYRE: Correct. And we've worked with
the State Land O fice to advance those cultural resource
surveys in advance of showi ng up to the CEC hearing. And
there is a possibility that provided fromthis commttee
here that we are granted the thousand-foot corridor, we
may need to go out and conduct additional Cdass |11
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cul tural resources investigations in order to cover any
areas of that potential initial right-of-way area that
are currently not included that becone part of our
ri ght-of-way as we advance forward in the design.
MEMBER KRYDER: Ckay. That was toward ny
question. That is, if the reason for having a
t housand-foot, to take that portion of it, a
t housand-foot corridor is to allow final engineering to
say, well, let's nove clear over to the right-hand side
for this mle and a half and pull to the left on the
next, somehow there has to be an advanced, fairly
significant survey to know when you would nove; aml
correct or is that a fal se anal ysi s?
M5. HYRE: No, | do not believe it's a

fal se analysis. | would characterize it as there's a

131

nmul titude of different decisions going into the selection

of a final right-of-way corridor. Sonme of those are
engi neeri ng deci sions, and sone of those are

envi ronnent al deci sions, and the | and use as wel |.

And with that, if our engineers want us to

say, as you nmentioned, go in a different direction
further to the west or further to the left, and we' ve

surveyed that for cultural resources, if we found a

cultural site then we will tell our engineers, we need to

find a different solution, that one won't work, because
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it wll cause an inpact.

MEMBER KRYDER: Ckay. That was -- thank
you very nuch, that's very clarifying. Let ne think
about that. | think I've got another question com ng on,
but | see that ny coll eague down at the end, naybe has a
questi on.

Go ahead, Sid [sic].

MEMBER Di CI CCl G  Thank you, David.

The reason you did a Class Ill, wuld it be
because of the wash that's through there?

M5. HYRE: The reason we did a dass Il
was because Arizona State Land Departnent requires that
as part of the right-of-way application. |In order to be
granted an easenent, we actually do need to conplete a
Class IIl cultural resource survey. So because we are
trying to advance that part of our project devel opnent
process, in addition to the CEC portion of our
devel opnent stages, that is why we're in tandem
completing it at the sane tine as this process wth
probabl e suppl enental survey needs.

MEMBER DIiCICCIO So that's interesting.
Here, is that there -- it's the way this thing is
poi nted. So under all circunstances, then, whether
there's a wash nearby or a river nearby, because
generally that's where you woul d be required to do your
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Class Ill, so they're basically required under al
circunstances. | didn't know that until today.

M5. HYRE: Uh-huh, the State Land
Ofice --

MEMBER DiCICCI O | thought they were | ess
t han desktops, that there wasn't -- if there wasn't a
river or a wash nearby. So what we're going to be
| ooking at going forward are all Class 111, then, is what
" mgetting out of this?

M5. HYRE: That was the guidance that we
received fromthe State Land O fice --

MEMBER DIiCICCOI G That's very extensive --

M5. HYRE: -- that --

THE REPORTER: Wait.

CHWN STAFFORD: One at a tine, please.

M5. HYRE: Ch, I'"'msorry.

THE REPORTER: That's okay.

MEMBER DiCICCI O  She yelled at ne, not

you, when it shoul d have been you, but that's okay. Her

error.
But go ahead. Go ahead.
M5. HYRE: |I'msorry, | actually forget
what the question was now. | do apol ogize. | --
MEMBER Di CI CC G  Going forward.
MS. HYRE: OCh, going -- going forward, |
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cannot speak to what the Arizona State Land Ofice m ght
requi re of other applicants. This is what we were
provi ded as guidance fromtheir office.

MEMBER DiCICCI O kay. Interesting.

MR ACKEN. Menber DiCi ccio, | can speak to
that as it relates to other applicants in this process.
We have a standard CEC condition that SHPO has request ed
and it's been standard for a while now, that requires a
Class Ill, generally speaking, when a Cass IIl hasn't
been done.

And, in ny cases, | wuld say it's about
50/ 50, probably less, that conme in with a Cass III
al ready done. A lot of tines we cone in, "we" being the
applicant at the tine, cone in with just the dass I,
figure out the right-of-way |later and do the Cass |1
later. So you won't see the Class |Ill analysis in these
heari ngs.

Thi s applicant because, as Jennifer
testified, is going through that process concurrently,
they are further along. And that's why they have the
Class IlIl already done and submtted. So that's the
nuance t here.

MEMBER DiCICCI O Yeah, a lot of tinmes the
State of Arizona wll require it when you have a wash or
a river nearby, because that is where the individuals
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congregated and that's where you're going to find your
antiquities and those types of things.

Ckay. Thank you.

M5. HYRE: You' re wel cone.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Kryder.

MEMBER KRYDER: Baling off of that, your
Class -- whether it's a dass, well, | guess the
Class Il survey then gets published, so it's publicly
available or is this a proprietary thing?

M5. HYRE: It -- the disclosure of cultural
resources is not allowed to the public. Those are
confidential |ocations. And the conmponents of those
archaeol ogical sites are our -- not for the public. So
it -- we have a redacted version that | believe is in the
suppl enental materials for our CEC, possibly. A redacted
version that renoves the confidential materials is
avail able and the full version has been submtted to the
State Land Ofi ce.

MEMBER KRYDER: Ckay. | thank you for
that. | didn't phrase ny question well. The real
gquestion was, is that available to the next person, the
next applicant that m ght be com ng down here wi shing to
use anot her piece of that corridor, will they be able to
see your Class Ill under their dass | as a desktop
survey or howis that all handl ed?
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MS. HYRE: That's a good questi on.

There -- another applicant’'s environnental
consultant, their qualified archaeol ogist -- their
perm tted archaeol ogi st would be able to go into the
State confidential databases and see that information
that relates to our Cass Il conpleted survey.

MEMBER KRYDER: And how | ong, just as the
back of the envel ope, or perhaps there's a regul ation
toward it, let's say the next applicant X cones through
and picks up your Cass IlIl and their desktop survey, how
long is that valid so that they don't have to go through
a Cass IlIl on their owmn? 1Is it good for a year, 10
years or whatever? And then tied to that, back to the

WAPA, since you're running parallel to an existing |ine,

how | ong ago was the Cass Il done on that |ine?
M5. HYRE: For the Class IlIl on the WAPA
line, I don't know that information off the top of ny

head, but | can get you that answer. For your question
as to how long our Cass Ill survey for Cactus Flower
| asts, for howlong it's valid for, that can be vari abl e,
dependi ng upon how SHPO and the State Land Ofice fee
about that.

It typically -- for cultural resources a
survey is typically valid for up to 10 years, but it
does -- it can change, based on how the regul atory
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agency, the lead for the project, feels about the prior
work and the potential for new cultural resources to have
eroded out of the ground.

MEMBER KRYDER  Ckay. That's very hel pful.
Thank you.

M5. HYRE: You're wel cone.

CHWN STAFFORD:. M. Acken.
BY MR ACKEN

Q Thank you.

Jennifer, let's start with the specific anal yses
done for |l and use contained in Exhibit A and H And
descri be your findings and concl usi ons.

A (M. HYRE) Ckay. Thank you.

The Cactus Fl ower project area for our proposed
gen-tie is |located in an unincorporated part of Pinal
County. The land is zoned as general rural, which all ows
for I and uses consisting of public and private utilities
and facilities. Approximately 76 percent of the | and
overl apping the gen-tie is on State Land, wth the
remai ni ng areas being on private-owned | and.

Exi sting | and uses within the study area include
open desert scrub, as depicted in the photo on the slide,
| ow-density residential and conmerci al devel opnent,
snmal | -scal e agricultural and open grazing, and existing
el ectric transm ssion and distribution |ines,
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substations, and dirt roads.
This slide figure is show ng the surroundi ng

project zoning that is zoned for general rural, that is

the yellow -- the canary yell ow depicted on this figure.
You will notice what appears to be other colors to the
west of our proposed gen-tie -- thank you -- which that

I's zoning that was changed by a prior devel oper. That
devel oper chose to cancel that site devel opnent plan and
t he County chose to not revert their zoning back to the
general rural, but currently there are no plans filed to
advance with any site devel opnent in that area.

Q And before you junp ahead -- excuse ne -- this
map that you're referring to in your testinony is slide
49, unl abel ed, correct?

A (M5. HYRE) Correct.

Q And it's also revised Exhibit A-4 to the
application, which can be found in Exhibit CC8; is that
correct?

A (M5. HYRE) That's correct.

Q Ckay. Pl ease conti nue.

CHWN STAFFORD: Quick question. The area
to the right that was rezoned, but then the devel oper
abandoned the project but the zoning remains, what -- are
t hose commerci al devel opnents, because it |looks like it's
zoned CB-2, C-2, CR3, or aml getting ny shades off?
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Can you just describe what those zones are and what they
nmean, please?

M5. HYRE: | did not |ook into the specific
zoning types for that devel opnent since it is not our
devel opnent. That devel opnent that was previously
proposed was proposed by another private energy devel oper
that has no association wth Cypress Creek. Because our
project is sited where it's general rural, | did not |ook
in depth at the zoning specific to their project.

BY MR ACKEN

Q But to confirm just to follow up on that, it
was not a residential devel opnent?

A (M5. HYRE) Oh, correct. It was not a
residential developnent. It was going to be a commerci al
ener gy devel opnent project.

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. Thank you that was
really the heart of ny question.

MS. HYRE: Ckay. Thank you for clarifying.
BY MR ACKEN

Q All right. Please continue.

A (M5. HYRE) Ckay. On the next slide, this figure
is depicting the land ownership. As you can see the blue
coloring depicted on this figure is State Land Ofice,
the transparent color is private.

CHWN STAFFORD: And just to clarify, does
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the solar project, is that entirely on State Land or --
is that entirely on private or State Land or a m xture of
bot h?

M5. HYRE: The solar project is entirely on
private | and.

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. Because you can't --
you can't see the underlying blue under the deeper bl ue
hue of the solar project. | just wanted to clarify,

t hank you.

M5. HYRE: You're wel cone.

MEMBER MERCER: M. Chairman?

CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Mercer.

MEMBER MERCER: | just have a couple
questions. Has the State Land Departnent approved the
proposed use for this |and?

M5. HYRE: We have subnitted an application
for a right-of-way easenment and we are working with them
to have our application processed. They have not
approved it yet. W've provided themwith the native
plant inventory report and the cultural resources report.
W' ve provided themw th sone | egal descriptions for the
areas that we're proposing to -- to have an easenent on.
But we don't have -- we're not to the point yet of having
a final approved easenent.

MEMBER MERCER: Ckay. And the other one
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was that sonebody nentioned four private | andowners or
| essees?
BY MR ACKEN

Q That was with respect to the sol ar generation
facility, Sohini?

A (Ms. HATHI RAMANI ) Yes, Menber, that's correct.
Four private | andowners for the solar site.

MEMBER MERCER: And are you finished with
themor are still negotiating?

M5. HATHI RAMANI :  So we have those
agreenents under option. There's three purchase
agreenents and one is a | ease agreenent. And we haven't
executed on those options yet. W would do that closer
to construction.

MEMBER MERCER  Thank you.

CHWN STAFFORD: But you have to maintain a
hundred percent --

THE REPORTER. I'msorry, | can't hear you.

CHWN STAFFORD: Hello, is ny m crophone not
wor king? OCh, there it is.

s it working now?

THE REPORTER:  Yes.

CHWN STAFFORD: But for -- don't you have
to have 100 percent site control to naintain your status
in the interconnecti on queue?
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MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Yes, but | believe having
t hem under option --

CHWN STAFFORD: Ri ght .

M5. HATHI RAMANI :  -- neets that
qual i fication.

CHWN STAFFORD: Right. R ght. But you
can't -- if you were still talking to the owners about
maybe getting the | ease or maybe buying the | and t hat
woul d not be sufficient for the interconnection process,
would it?

MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Yes.

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. But an option that
gives you the right to purchase or | ease that they cannot
w t hdraw at any time, then?

M5. HATHI RAMANI :  Not while you're in the
peri ods that have been outlined in the agreenent.

CHWN STAFFORD: Ckay. Excellent. Just
wanted to make sure that was clear. Thank you.

BY MR ACKEN

Q And if |I can follow up on that, could you obtain
County entitlenents for the | and wi thout the approval of
t he underlying | and owner?

A (M5. HATHI RAMANI ) Yes, that's a great point.
But at nultiple stages throughout the process of getting
the entitlenents, the | andowners have to be signing
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aut hori zation throughout the process. So if you | ost
any, you know, if any of those agreenments ended, you
woul dn't be able to nove forward with entitl enents.
Q Ckay. Thank you.
So, Jennifer, if you would, continue wth your
anal ysis of |and use?

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Mercer, you had
anot her question?

MR ACKEN: Sorry.

MEMBER MERCER: Yeah, maybe |' m junping
ahead.

Go ahead.

M5. HYRE: Are you sure?

MEMBER MERCER:  Uh- huh.

M5. HYRE: Okay. As was nentioned in
earlier slides, we worked extensively with Pinal County.
Qur project conplies with their master conprehensive
pl an, which supports | and devel opnent for renewabl e
energy, in particular, solar. W've reviewed publicly
avai l abl e county records for new | and devel opnent filings
in proximty to our project. As of this hearing, nearby
| and pl anned devel opnent includes two flood control
projects, the G eene Wash WAt ershed Master Pl an Study and
La Gsa Gas-Fired Power and Data Center Facility. And
t hrough our | and use analysis, we've determ ned that our
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gen-tie project would result in mniml inpacts to
exi sting and planned | and uses in the area.

MEMBER MERCER M. Chairman, | just wanted
sone clarification, because this land is in the m ddl e of
nowhere, there's no grazing | eases, no mning clains, or
any conservation easenents?

M5. HYRE: There are no conservation
easenents. | will defer alittle bit to Sohini about the
State Land Ofice and if they -- | amnot aware that they
nmenti oned any grazing easenents in the right-of-way,
which | feel would have conme up in our conversations wth
the State Land O fice, because their resource team has
reviewed our initial routing and cane back that there
were no major conflicts.

MEMBER MERCER  Ckay. Thank you.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: M. Chai r man?

CHWN STAFFCRD: Yes, Menber Const ock.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: If | may, na'am to go
back to what you just said, you said there's a gas-fired
power plant and data center being built there?

M5. HYRE: There is currently a devel opnent
filing for a gas-fired power and data center facility.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: Can you give us a genera

i dea where al ong your project that wll be?
MS. HYRE: | can. Let ne -- if you | ook at
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your placemat of the project area, the La Gsa Ranch
facility -- proposed facility is to the east and a little
bit to the south, but nostly to the east of the gen-tie
and sout heast of the solar project area.

MEMBER MERCER: M. Chairman?

CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Mercer.

MEMBER MERCER: Did you say "La Gsa"?

MS. HYRE: La Osa Ranch, yes.

MEMBER MERCER  Thank you.

M5. HYRE: You're wel cone.

CHWN STAFFORD: Can we get that up on the
screen?

MR. ACKEN. We can

Q If we could go back a slide. 1'd |like you to,
this is slide 50, if you could with the cursor that's
being -- if you could show where, generally speaking,
that project is |located using slide 50 as your map.

A (M5. HYRE) | believe a lot of it actually is --

A (MS. HATHIRAMANI) It's a bit further up.

A (M5. HYRE) Is it a bit further up?

Q So approximately three mles east of the sol ar
field and two mles south of the sol ar project,
approxi mat el y?

A (M5. HYRE) Yes. Correct.

CHWN STAFFORD: And that woul d be | ocated
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on State Trust Land?
BY MR ACKEN

Q O that's -- or it could be | ocated north of
there on private | and, do you know?

A (Ms5. HATHI RAMANI ) Yeah, Chairnman.

La Gsa is actually a big | andowner, so sone of
it is on private land and sone of it's on State Land.
' mnot sure exactly what the mx is, but there's
definitely sone private ownership as well.

CHWN STAFFORD: Ckay. And that's
been -- that's been filed with the County? The County
has notice of this, is that --

M5. HATHI RAMANI :  That's correct.

believe that they went through major conp plan anendnents

recently, | think it was actually in Novenber, they went
to the Board of Supervisors, | believe, and they got
approval .

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. So it's for zoning
on a conbination of State and private | and.

MS. HATHIRAMANI: | nean, |'mguessing it
was just the private | andowners through Pinal County.

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. And that's publicly
available, isn't it?

MS. HATH RAMANI :  Yes.

M5. HYRE: Correct, it is.
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CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Fant?

MEMBER FANT: Yeah, thank you, M.
Chai r man.

That's Ken Verma, Vermal and's private | ands
in that area, which got rezoned.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: M. Chai r man?

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Const ock.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: If | nmy continue, where
is the natural gas to power that power plant com ng fronf
Is it com ng through or across your project, do you know?

M5. HYRE: | don't --

MEMBER COMSTOCK: The reason |' m asking
Is -- and | apologize, | didn't nean to interrupt -- the
reason |I'masking is because there's a -- gas lines --
underground gas |ines crossing major transm ssion |lines
pose a problem for atnospheric corrosion, or AC,
mtigation on pipelines. |If that's going to be a
conflict, we need to know that as we go through your CEC
approval .

CHWN STAFFORD: | guess the rel evant
question for the applicant is do they have any know edge
of natural -- of their project crossing natural gas
lines. Because -- | don't knowif they'd know if there's
a gas line going to get built to this potential plant --
this -- they wouldn't -- it's not their plant, so they
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woul dn't have actual know edge of what that woul d be.
MR. ACKEN:. Sohini may have sone
i nformati on about natural gas infrastructure existing --
that currently exists in the area.
MS. HATHI RAMANI :  Yeah. So Chai r nan,

Menber, as the Chairman said, we don't know exactly what
their plans would be for being able to get natural gas to
the site. | will say their project is pretty early
stage. | don't really think there's any -- any public
information that's been shared that shows exactly how
this would work, generally. It's mainly just that they
have the land and then they're starting to go through the
zoning process. So | don't think the information about
exactly how that project is going to be -- howit's going
to have access to natural gas is very clear.
BY MR ACKEN

Q But are you aware of an existing natural gas
transmssion line in this area?

A (Ms. HATHI RAMANI ) Yes, there is one.

Q Coul d you use -- using this map, could you
hi ghl i ght the general |ocation of that?

A (M5. HATHI RAMANI ) Do you know exactly where it
is? Is it around here?

A (M5. HYRE) That's right.

A (Ms. HATHI RAMANI) Yeah. So it's kind of over
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her e.
Q And so it does cross our corridor?
A (MB. HATHI RAMVANI) |t does.

MEMBER COVMSTOCK: Do you want to tal k about
it now or |ater?

CHWN STAFFORD: Ask away.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: So as a matter of
condition of approval, there's a section that tal ks about
t he existing natural gas line and the running of the
transm ssion |ines through there, and you'll be working
with the owner of that natural gas transmission line to
mtigate corrosion on that pipeline fromAC, alternating
current, comng off the line, can you tal k about what
your conpany does to work with those gas |ines and the
operational practices that you have towards that
mtigation?

M5. HYRE: | can speak to that our
operational practices on our engineering side are to
ensure that we're foll ow ng any standards for cathodic
protection to ensure our lines are not affecting any type
of buried pipeline.

MR ACKEN:. And | will add to that. W do
have the proposed standard Staff conditions that we have
spoken about in other proceedings. And we are proposing
the sane standard condition with respect to protection of
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pi pelines that you' ve seen in other cases.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: Who owns that pipeline?

M5. HYRE: W're not sure.

Do you know, Sohini ?

M5. HATHIRAMANI :  Sorry, if you don't m nd
just giving ne a mnute to |look it up.

Yeah, so it's -- the operator is EPNG
which | believe stands for El Paso Natural Gas, the south
main line. So that's approximately 1 1/2 mles from our
site. But just for additional context, all the existing
natural gas pipelines in this area are 100 percent
commtted, so, you know, with regards to that data
center, there would need to be sone expansi on or increase
to capacity to what's al ready there.

VEMBER COMTOCK: | -- M. Chairmn, |
don't want to get into a debate about what the future of
natural gas is there, but it's not 100 percent commtted.
There's gas com ng through that area, and that pipeline
iIs available. So FYlI, it would be inportant for you to
know what their strategies are and what they're going to
be and what your mtigation strategies are. It's part of
t he condition of inprovenment -- or approval.

MEMBER DICICCIO M Chair?

CHWN STAFFCRD: Yes, Menber D G cci o.

MEMBER DiCICCI G Just a point of
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clarification here, and Bert, you and | tal ked about it
briefly, when you' re asked a question, | nean, it was
very clear that he was asking was there a gas |ine near
there -- the roundabout answer -- it's easier just to say
yes or no, and give a direct answer to it. | nean, you
didn't have to go through a deeper conversation here.

So, Bert, | appreciate you clearing it up
and understandi ng what was saying, | don't if there's a
m sconmuni cati on goi ng on or what fromny end, but |'ve
seen this several tinmes today. Just answer the question,
tell us -- you know what we're asking. |It's okay to say
an answer, give us an answer that is not sonething that
you think is going to be good or not. It just doesn't
sound good.

Thank you.

MR ACKEN. Thank you, Menmber Di G cci o.

| viewit as ny role to make sure it's
clear, soif it's not, I'll take that. And we do want to
get you a record that is precise and clear. And | want
to thank Menber Constock for your comments, because yes,
we're -- this is not a natural gas devel opnment conpany,
right? And so they can only do what they can with the
information that's available to them And one of the
good things about this commttee is there's additional
expertise that can be shared, and so sonething that can
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be factored into this teanmis cal cul ati ons novi ng forward.

Did you have anything further, Menber
Const ock?

MEMBER COMSTOCK: No, |'mgood. Thank you.
BY MR ACKEN

Q Ckay. At this point I'd |like to nove on and,
Jennifer, unless there's anything else on | and use, have
you tal k about the biological resources eval uations
contained in Exhibit B, C, and D
A (M5. HYRE) Ckay. In 2025 we conpl eted
bi ol ogical field surveys to assess the project area for
t hr eat ened and endangered speci es, other protected
species, such as birds and habitat suitability. As part
of that investigation that we reviewed the federal and
state Gane and Fi sh databases of protected speci es.
The bi ol ogi cal survey did not identify any

t hreat ened or endangered species, and did not identify
any bird nests. They did identify that there is habitat
suitable for burrowing ows in the project area. And we
Wwll commt to mgratory bird nest surveys prior to
ground di sturbance and a vegetation clearing during the
br eedi ng season of March 1 to August 31st. The photo in
the slide here is an exanple of the type of burrow ng ow
nest habitat that the surveyors woul d have been | ooking
for in the field and what they will |ook for during those
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preconstructi on surveys.

As a result of the biological evaluation, we
determ ned the project would not result in any adverse
effects to protected wildlife or plant species provided
we adhere to the mtigation neasures for nesting birds.

In the followi ng slide, these are exanpl es of
project area habitat wthin the project area which
consi sts of desert scrub, agriculture, and disturbed
soil s.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Fant, you had a
questi on?

MEMBER FANT: Thank you, M. Chair.

Wth all the bugs that are flying around
agricul tural areas, how about bats? Any bats con ng
t hrough the area? It |ooks |ike a good bat passage area.

M5. HYRE: W did not find -- when we --
the | ack of standing water and the | ack of any mature
trees, we didn't find any bat habitat. Wth the | ow
desert scrub habitat that we have, really does not
provi de any roosting or young-rearing hibernacula. Bats
could forage in the area with near -- with the proximty
of agricultural |ands, but that would just be foraging
habitat and there's a bunch of foraging habitat with
ot her surrounding areas wth the agricul ture.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: M. Chai r mran?
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CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Const ock.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: If | nmay, and | apol ogi ze
because | don't know -- | know a little bit about natural
gas, but | don't know anythi ng about birds, so this wll
be hel pful for ne. On the cactus wen analysis there is
at the end it says, "The affect of the analysis,” it
says, "mmy affect, but not likely to result in trend
toward federal listing."

What does that nean?

M5. HYRE: That is a common technical
term nol ogy that consultants and environnent al
prof essi onal s use for conducting resource anal ysis under
t he Endangered Species Act. It's a termnology that is
common for the Fish & Wldlife Service to understand if
we're going to need to do any fornmal consultation for
Fish & Wldlife Service. Under the Endangered Species
Act assessnents, there's three tiers of determ nations:
One is a no affected termnation, one is nmay affect, not
likely to adversely affect, or not likely to result
towards a downward trend towards population listing. So
it is just a common phrase that is used in order to
give -- to assign one of three buckets of analysis.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: (Ckay. So is the -- are
the nests of the cactus wens going to be affected by
this project? 1Is that what |'mreading here or is it
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not ?

M5. HYRE: No, the nests of the cactus wen
are typically the saguaro cactus, of which we don't have
any in our project area. The cactus wens can al so
nest -- actually, | need to correct nyself -- the cactus
wens do not nest in saguaro cactus -- cactus, that is
the pygny ows. The cactus wens build stick nests in
nmesquite trees, of which we have a |ot out there. And
part of our commtnent for the preconstruction nesting
surveys is to ensure that we don't inpact cactus wens
because we do have enough nesquite habitat out there that
our final route could potentially be renoving nesquite
trees that woul d be suitable nesting habitat for those
species. That is where we ended up with they coul d be
affected, but we're going to comrmit to the mtigation
during the nesting season to ensure they are not
i nmpact ed.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: Ckay. Thank you.

M5. HYRE: You're wel cone.

BY MR ACKEN

Q And just for, | guess confirmation and
t horoughness of the record, is there a proposed CEC
condition that would i ncorporate that requirenent with
respect to mtigation neasures for preconstruction
surveys?
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A (M. HYRE) Correct.
Q Thanks.

CHWN STAFFORD: And that -- and the
applicant's draft CEC, that's your Exhibit CC 67

MR ACKEN. Yes, it is. Thank you.

MEMBER DiCICCI G One quick question,

M. Chair.

CHWN STAFFCORD: Yes, Menber D G ccio.

MEMBER DIiCICCIO So the G eene Canal is
that a flowing canal or is it just when we were tal king
about water basically staying there, what's -- | can't
remenber what the termwas, but is it when it's
constantly flowng or is it just gone through the rains?

MR. LI NDENLAUB: Yeah, thank you for the
question. W're going to address aquatic resources here
inabit, but I think it's worth getting into at this
poi nt .

The Greene Canal was constructed back in
the first half of the previous century as a flood control
feature to take flows fromthe Santa Cruz River and
divert themaround all the farm ng and ag | ands that we
see up here in the Eloy area. Ri ght now there's no
natural flows in the Greene Canal. The groundwater table
has been dropped to the point where we're not getting any
I nput from groundwat er.
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VWhat you see in the G eene Canal is either
going to be a result of precipitation, which is we had a
precipitation event before we did the field survey here,
or on occasion, the conbination of precipitation and the
effluent discharge fromthe outer road treatnent system
coupled with irrigation tailwater.

Now, in speaking with the gentl enman that
came to the open house, | understand that irrigation
water is so precious that it's exceedingly rare for
tailwater to show up in the canal.

MEMBER DICICCI G Well, thank you. That
was extrenely thorough. So there is no standing water,
so what is the groundwater table there? How deep is it?

MR. LI NDENLAUB: Yeah, that's a really good
question and I want to doubl e-check. You may or nmay not
know, the Arizona Departnent of WAater Resources naintains
a dat abase website referred to as "Wells55" that all ows
anybody to access well information and you can often get
water table information that way.

Because of all the agricultural or the
punpi ng for the agricultural work or activities that have
occurred here for decades, ny expectation is that the
groundwater table is going to be tens, if not hundreds of
feet bel ow the ground surface, but I'll do sone research
to --
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MEMBER DiCICC G No, no, you don't need
to. | just wanted to get an idea in that area dealing
wth the standing water issue. So the canal doesn't
flow. It's basically an overfl ow?

MR LI NDENLAUB: That's correct --

MEMBER Di Cl CCl O It's --

MR LINDENLAUB: -- it did have water in it
at the tine of the evaluation, but it's often dry.

MEMBER DICICCIO Al right. Thank you.

MR. ACKEN. Thank you.

Q Next, Jennifer, 1'd |ike you to tal k about
cultural resources in Exhibit E. There's been a
di scussion about Cass I, Cdass Ill, so you' ve touched on
a nunber of these intro points, but if you would
summari ze your anal ysis and your concl usions.

A (M5. HYRE) Ckay. To summarize our efforts for
cultural resources, we conpleted a Cass | desktop
analysis early on in the siting process. Since
subm tting our CEC application, we've conpleted the O ass
Il cultural resources survey for the gen-tie corridor.
We've subnmitted that report to ASLD for review

That investigation found one archaeol ogi cal
site, six historic in-use resources, and eight isolated
occurrences. All of these resources have either been
previously determ ned not eligible or are recommended by
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our consultants as not eligible for the State Nati onal

Register. And, as | nentioned previously, as the project

advances, we will do additional Class Ill inventories
where needed. And also, in addition, we will conplete
additional Cass Ill cultural investigations for the

switchyard as wel | .

CHWN STAFFORD: Now, you've done sone d ass
Il surveys -- now you've done the portion of the
corridor that you expect to put the line, but not the
entire corridor, correct?

M5. HYRE: W have -- correct. Not the
entire thousand-foot corridor, the -- what we envision
could be our final 150-foot right-of-way corridor, yes.

CHWN STAFFORD: Right. And you said that
the -- so you've done the dass IlIl survey from where you
anticipate the right-of-way to go. And it's been
reviewed by the State Land Departnent. That's in
conjunction with the State Hi storic Preservation Ofice,
isn't it?

M5. HYRE: Correct, it is.

CHWN STAFFORD: So who -- so won't the
State Historic Preservation Ofice, or SHPO make a

recommendation to the State Land Departnent?

MS. HYRE: They will. The State Land
Ofice wll be the responsi bl e agency for maintaining the
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consul tation, the governnent-to-government consultation
wi t h SHPO
CHWN STAFFORD: Ckay.
MEMBER KRYDER: M. Chairman?
CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Kryder.
MEMBER KRYDER: Question on your slide

t here. Wiat constitutes an historical era?

MS. HYRE: Yes, an historic era resource is

anything that is 50 years and ol der.
MEMBER KRYDER: 5, 07?
M5. HYRE: 5, 0, yes, 5, 0 years and ol der.
Those are typically in this area of the country. You

typically wll see old ranching operations, such as old

fence posts or old out buildings, rusted cans, old -- old

trash deposits or old related to the railroad, so
potentially old porcelain pieces, but a lot of rusty

met al and wooden posts.

VEMBER KRYDER: So woul d that constitute an

I n-use structure? |'mlooking at your second bull et

point there "six historic era in-use structures," |

woul d - -

M5. HYRE: Correct. | n-use structures
woul d -- these include the historic irrigation canals
that are still currently in use. They include also the

historic transm ssion and distribution Iines that neet
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the 50 years or older age criteria, but they still remain
i n use.

MEMBER KRYDER: Corrals, water tanks?

MS. HYRE: Correct.

MEMBER KRYDER  Ckay.

MS. HYRE: Uh- huh.

MEMBER KRYDER: Thank you so nuch.

Oh, is that 50 years a state regul ati on,
federal or local, who wote that?

M5. HYRE: That's a federal regul ation.

MEMBER KRYDER  Ckay.

CHWN STAFFORD: There's a state regul ati on
that says the sane thing, isn't there, M. Acken?

M5. HYRE: Yes, there is.

CHWN STAFFORD: |'mlooking to the | awer
to confirmthat.

MR ACKEN: I'mgoing to stick with ny
W tness. She knows nore than | do in this area.

CHWN STAFFORD: Fair enough.

MS. HYRE: But just -- just to sunmari ze
that Cypress is commtted to building a project that
avoi ds inpacts to cultural resources.

MEMBER KRYDER: | was wondering if |
classified under that, so --

CHWN STAFFORD: Well, you're over 50 and in

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
www. gl enni e-reporting. com Phoeni x, AZ



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 254 VOLUME | 12/08/2025 162

use, so | guess you woul d.

MEMBER KRYDER  Good deal

MR ACKEN:. 50 doesn't seemlike it's
nearly old enough. There's a lot of us in the roomthat
are near historic.

Q Ckay. Let's next tal k about your native plant
i nventory.

A (M5. HYRE) In 2025, we also conpleted a native
pl ant survey and desktop analysis for Arizona State Land
Departnment protected plant species. Mesquite was the
only protected native plant species found in the gen-tie
corridor. Based on the ASLD s net hodol ogy for
calculation for mtigation fee paynents, we wll| be
determ ning that as we further design and advance t hat
bef ore construction. Then we'll be able to get a sense
of those specific |locations and the specific acreages of
our actual inpact disturbances relative to those
protected plants and we will at that tinme cal cul ate our
mtigation fee and pay that to the State Land O fi ce.

CHWN STAFFORD: So that would involve
having to clear nesquite for the access road or the
actual towers thensel ves?

MS. HYRE: Correct.

CHWN STAFFORD: | guess as part of your
engi neeri ng when you |ay out the project, you determ ne
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there's a ot of mesquite growing in this particul ar area
that you can span it so you don't have to disturb it as
much as if you had to tear it up to put a pole in the
mddle of it?

M5. HYRE: Correct. W'Ill |ook at those
areas of nesquite, whether they be dense or sparse, and
determine if we can span it, determne if for safety
purposes it does need to be cleared in order to neet the
di stance requirenents between any vegetation and the
electrified lines, because there has to for the national
regul ations for having that clearance distance. So we
wll do that analysis to determ ne which vegetation we
can keep and whi ch vegetation we do need to clear and
renove.

CHWN STAFFORD: All right. And then it's
in the application, but I don't recall off the top of ny
head, what's the m ni nrum hei ght of the conductor above
t he surface?

MR. LI NDENLAUB:  30.

M5. HYRE: | don't know the answer to that.
Does anyone know?

MR LI NDENLAUB: We can doubl e- check,

M. Chairman, but nmy recollectionis it's 30 feet.

CHWN STAFFORD: Yeah, that's what ny

t hought was, but | just wanted to get confirmation from
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the wtnesses. 30 feet.

Menmber Fant ?

MEMBER FANT: Thank you, M. Chair.

Can nmesquite be trans- -- transpl anted?

M5. HYRE: It generally cannot be
transpl anted very successfully. | have actually worked
on a project in Tucson related to attenpting to sal vage
native plants for mnimzing the inpacts. And mesquite
just does not transplant very well.

MEMBER FANT: Thank you.

M5. HYRE: You're wel cone.

CHWN STAFFORD: And so how tall can
nesquite get?

M5. HYRE: |If it has water, it can -- |
nmean, you could potentially get nesquite that's up to 5
to 6 feet tall. You could get quite tall nesquite. It's
generally not typical, but it depends on the anpunt of
water. Even if it was tenporarily ponded water during
the optimal growi ng season, it could get quite sizeable.

| don't know if the State Land Ofice
treats for nesquite out there or not. Sonetines, since
it's a conflict with grazing, sone agencies such as the
Bureau of Land Managenent will treat for nesquite to
reduce its grow ng, but | do not know what the State Land
Ofice does in this area.
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CHWN STAFFORD. Gkay. But the m ni mum
hei ght of the conductor that's to the grade not to the
top of the nesquite plant, is it, necessarily?

M5. HYRE: | thought it was fromthe top of
the nesquite plant to the bottom of the | owest conductor
i ne.

CHWN STAFFORD: It is? |'m seeing
M . Lindenl aub nod his head.

MR LINDENLAUB: That's correct. And I
had, with regard to nesquite, you know, Ms. Hyre is
certainly correct in what we see in the project area.
Mesquite's an interesting critter in that you, along the
| arger rivers, the live rivers that occur, the San Pedro
River, it'll see a phenonenon call ed nesquite bosque, and
you can have individuals that are 30 to 40 feet high.

And then in the uplands, you'll have the sane individual
species less than 10, 6 feet -- 6 feet tall.

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. So -- to clear a
patch of mesquite, you'd have to build the line 5 to
10 feet higher than you would if it was bare, then,
ri ght?

MR LI NDENLAUB: You're |ooking for a
30-f oot clearance, right? And so you have 30 -- 30-foot
bet ween the | ower end of the conductor, between the poles
and the ground, but then if you had the nesquite tree
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that's correct, you're going to | ook for the conductor to
be somewhat hi gher.

CHWN STAFFORD: Ckay.

MR LI NDENLAUB: And, again, the nesquite
in this area are not that tall

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. And then | guess you
have to do a certain anount of vegetation clearing for
fire prevention, does that figure into your cal cul ation
whet her to keep or renove the nesquite?

M5. HYRE: W do. W rely -- Cypress Creek
relies on the engineering team and our operations, we
have an operations branch to our conpany, we rely on
their recomendati ons on how t he vegetati on should be
managed. W al so, because it is State Land, that we w ||
also rely on themto tell us if there are any specific
veget ati on nanagenent requirenents that they'd want to
see.

CHW STAFFORD: WII the State Land
Departnent typically have you re-vegetate parts that you
tear up to build the line, but don't need to nmaintain
as -- because their access road's going to have to be
cleared so you can traverse the line and repair it,
mai ntain it, whatever, but under the line, though, wll
t hey have you re-vegetate stuff that, for exanple, if you
have to build a staging yard, would you re-vegetate that
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upon conpl etion of the project for State Land?

M5. HYRE: We would. W would do that
with per any State Land O fice requirenments, we woul d
al so do that as a stipulation under our stormater
prevention pollution plan, so that having -- having those
permts, the general construction permt, those have
re-vegetation requirenents, so we would be foll ow ng
t hose state requirenents.

CHWN STAFFORD: Ckay. Thank you.

MS. HYRE: Uh- huh.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Kryder, you have a
question?

MEMBER KRYDER:. Only a comment. Mesquite
iIs a weed-type plant, and if there are cattle grazing and
t hey overgraze your grass, you -- the cows eat the
nmesquite berries, and they then becone the transplanters
for the nesquite. So you can go around in any area that
has -- this is nore than you wanted to know, | know --
has grazing rights, and if it is overgrazed, it wll
begin to grow nesquite until it gets to the point that
t he nmesquite pushes out all the grass and it no longer is
fit for graze.

And the | argest area or nearby area is a
State Land group down toward Arivaca, where the State
purchased multi ple hundred acres of this nmesquite
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overgrown graze that at one point had been pure grass,
then was overgrazed in the late 19th Century, and now
until 10 years ago, was nothing but a weed patch of
nmesquites, usually 8 or 10 feet tall.

The State then, in their wi sdom chose to
go in and clear it wth dozers and replant the grass and
prevent the grazing. So you don't have to worry about
wth nesquite restoring it, it seens like it blows in,
the birds bring in the berries and, as you know, they are
good for food and a variety of things. Cattle |ove them
They're |i ke eating soybeans for cows. That's, again,
nore than you wanted to know, but |I'mon record.

CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you.

Menmber Fant ?

MEMBER FANT: Thank you, M. Chair.

Just a small --

CHWN STAFFORD: M crophone, pl ease.

MEMBER FANT: Thank you, M. Chair.

Just a snmall point of interest, sonetines
the State Land Departnment just gives you a severance fee
per plant, you can pay that and not transpl ant.

CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you.

MR ACKEN. Thank you. | |ove these
hearings. | always |learn new things, so thank you, al
of you.
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MEMBER KRYDER: |If they're not true we nake
t hem up, Bert.

MR ACKEN. 1'll never know. |'m not going
to do the research to doubl e-check.

Q So, Brian, | want you to go back now and talk
about the aquatic resource analysis. You did address
sone of this in your discussion with Menber D G ccio, but
| would |ike you to take a deeper dive on your analysis
t hat was done and the findings and your concl usions.

A (MR LI NDENLAUB) Absol utely.

So simlar to the cultural resources eval uation,
we started our evaluation with a desktop anal ysis
accessing readily, publicly avail abl e datasets, such as
the Nati on Hydrography dataset, the NW, and the FEMA
maps. We then put people out in the field to walk the
al i gnnent and nmap any potential surface water features in
t he area.

So in that mapping it says here on the second
bull et, "Four surface water features may be consi dered
Waters of the United States,"” that's a little bit of a
m snoner, in that three of those four, quote-unquote,
features are actually reaches of the G eene Canal. So
we' re | ooking at the Greene Canal and one other snaller
feature. And, of course, the project will follow any
Pi nal County riparian guidance wth regard to setbacks.
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The next picture shows the nature of sone of the
features that we saw out in the field. Again, as |
al luded to previously, nost of these are epheneral washes
flowing only in direct response to stormevents with the
groundwater table well bel ow the surface. The water in
the two | eftnost photos, this is slide 57, show water
whi ch, again, may have been a result of recent
precipitation. And so additional evaluation, if there's
a concern about inpacting these features, would need to
be done to determ ne whether or not these are Waters of
the U. S.

Q Thank you.

Next, we're going to turn to visual resources
and we have a nunber of sinulations in this section. So
if you would, Brian, walk the comm ttee through your
anal ysis of visual resources.

A (MR LINDENLAUB) Certainly. M. Hyre touched on
this previously, what the nature of the | andscape is. So
the exi sting scenery consists of the distant nountains,
the Silver Bells to the south, the Sawt ooths to the west,
exi sting ag fields and their associated infrastructure,
and any, you know, sparse industrial comrerci al
activities associated with those ag fields, nmultiple
transm ssion lines and dirt roads.

Just to give an indication, we've got another
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quartet of photos taken fromthe area that sort of set
the stage for what we're tal king about.

CHWN STAFFORD: And that's on slide 59 of
the Exhibit CC 47

MR LI NDENLAUB: That's correct, slide 59,
unl abel ed, that's exactly right.

Now and, Bert, | can go in and pull this
out, or M. Chair, if you' d like, but I was going through
this nmorning and | snuck in this map, which screwed up
the slides. It's a repeating nap that shows where the
KOPs are at. |If you prefer | renove it, | can
BY MR ACKEN

Q | think it's fine. | think what you need to do
is as you wal k through explain when you get to a specific
KOP give that slide nunber, so our record is clean

A (MR LI NDENLAUB) Yeah, absolutely. So --

CHWN STAFFORD: So the slide nunber from
what's been marked as hearing Exhibit CC-4, because
that's -- that's the one that we have the copies of, and
that doesn't include an additional page?

VR. LI NDENLAUB: Slide 60 is new, exactly.
So the next 17 slides will be one off.

So we had a challenge in identifying key
observation points for a project like this. To quote
Menmber Mercer, it is, in fact, in the mddle of nowhere
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and so we're | ooking for places that are nost likely to
have vi sual receptors, people |ooking at the project.
And so one of the things I'll point out -- may | borrow
nmy nouse agai n?

Thank you.

For those that are famliar with this
stretch of 1-10, and the truck stops along it, you' ve got
Sunl and G n Road on the west, you've got Sunshine in the
m ddl e, Toltec Road is in there, as well as -- no,
Sunshine's here on the east, excuse nme, Toltec in the
m ddl e. Those are our bl acktop roads that go down to a
certain point, generally G eene Reservoir Road and
everything south of there and within the project area is
unpaved road, with the exception of Sunland G n Road,

t hat continues on south and then to the west. And so we
| ocat ed our key observation points, accordingly.

So first -- let ne go back -- The first key
observation point, KOP-1 is over here, along G eene
Reservoir Road | ooking generally west and sout hwest, and
you can see at this distance ny point arrows nmay give the
false inpression that the lines can be readily seen, they
can be seen, but they're very faint here in the distance,
as you can see.

BY MR ACKEN
Q And, for the record, this is KOP-1, which in the
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official hearing exhibit is slide 60; is that correct?
A (MR LI NDENLAUB) Correct. Thank you.

CHWN STAFFORD: Wiat is the line that's
visible in the current condition?

MR LINDENLAUB: It is likely, given where
we're located, it is likely the existing 230 that goes
al ong Curti s Road.

CHWN STAFFORD: |Is that the WAPA |ine?

MR, LI NDENLAUB: Correct.

CHWN STAFFORD: Gkay. Thank you.

MR LI NDENLAUB: Back to our map, we've got
KOP-2, which is | ocated al ong South Sunland G n Road
about where the -- where Sunland G n turns to the west
and so we're pointed back to the east at this | ocation.
And again, this is sort of the southernnost area of
devel opnent before it goes into open State Land area.
And you can see again here |ooking to the east from
Sunland G n Road in the sinulation, you can see the poles
at this distance.

CHWN STAFFORD: Now, in the background is
that a distribution line we're |ooking at that's in the
exi sting condition, the current condition?

MR LI NDENLAUB: | amnot sure. W may be
picking up the lines along -- the big lines along 230 or
the 230 lines along Curtis Road.
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CHWN STAFFORD: Yeah, because | can't tell
whet her those are closer distribution |lines or --

MR. LI NDENLAUB: Furt her transm ssion

l'i nes.

CHWN STAFFORD: That are further away,
yeah.

MR LINDENLAUB: | think in this area that
|'mshowing in the orange, | believe they're transm ssion
lines. | don't believe we can pick up the Tat-Mnoli

line, the APS |line, here in this photograph. And ny
expectation is what we're |looking at -- and | woul d have
to doubl e-check, M. Chairman, to see if these are nearer
di stribution or further transm ssion |ines.

CHWN STAFFORD:. Because we're | ooking
eastward, correct?

MR, LI NDENLAUB: That's correct. Let nme go
back to the --

CHWN STAFFORD: But these lines are running
nort h/ sout h?

MR. LI NDENLAUB: They appear to be,
exactly. W are at this |ocation pointing east and with
the sinmulation we're showing our line going fromnorth to
south. And so if we go to the sinmulation and we | ook up
here, it's conceivable that those -- it -- |I'll say this,
it seens unlikely, given the |ack of infrastructure, that
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t hese woul d be distribution lines fromnorth to south,
and they are likely transm ssion |lines further away.
CHWN STAFFORD: Ckay. But the WAPA line
runs east/west and it's further north?
MR LI NDENLAUB: Which | believe is that
along here. Here in the back -- it's conceivable it's a
line that's closer to I-10. Let's go back to our map.
We're here. There's very little
devel opnent down here. Again, there's the existing APS
line that we'll be tying into.
BY MR ACKEN

Q Brian, the line that we' ve been tal ki ng about,
the WAPA |ine that runs east/west on Curtis interconnects
to WAPA substation; is that correct?

A Correct.

Q Do you know what the line infrastructure | ooks
li ke | eaving that substation to the east and south? In
ot her words, could that be a WAPA |ine headi ng south off
in the distance fromthat substation?

A (MR LINDENLAUB) It's conceivable. | know the
Silver Bell Mne is |located south of this general area.
There may be a line that heads south fromthere. [|I'm
uncl ear on that, Bert.

Q Ckay. Pl ease conti nue.

A (MR LI NDENLAUB) KOP-3 -- ah, this is the one
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that we nmade a special point of identifying as the one
potential recreation location in proximty. M. Hyre
referenced previously that the area is sacred to, |
believe it was the Tohono O odham so we made a point of
having a KOP in the area closest to our project, but the
project -- our project is undiscernible at that distance.
KOP-4, simlar location to KOP-1, | ooking south

again sort of nearing the extent of our blacktop. W
have an existing, again, | believe this is the
east/west 230-kV of the WAPA |line. And so our |ine would
be at sonme di stance beyond that.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: M. Chai r man?

CHWN STAFFCRD: Yes, Menber Const ock.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: Sir, are those ranch
houses, farm hones, what is depicted in the --

MR LI NDENLAUB: That's correct.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: And what's the proximty
of those houses to the project?

MR LI NDENLAUB: There are -- there's at
| east one residence right along the project imedi ately
to the west.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: Do we know if those hones
are served with natural gas?

MR LI NDENLAUB: We do not of f hand.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: We need to know. If it's
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that close in proximty, we need to nake sure.

MR LI NDENLAUB: Yes, sir. W'I|l|l take a
| ook.

MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Thank you.

CHWN STAFFORD: All right. So this is
KOP- 47

MR. LI NDENLAUB: Yes.

CHWN STAFFORD: And we're | ooking south or
sout hwest ?

MR LI NDENLAUB: Sout hwest .

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. W should be able to
see the solar array in this one, shouldn't we? It | ooks
i ke that woul d be between the viewpoint and the |ine?

MR. LI NDENLAUB: Conceivably, yes. The
sol ar panels would be at a height that you would be able
to see themin this area.

CHWN STAFFORD: Ckay. And then can you go
back to the prior slide on the map and the structures
we're | ooking at here, is this -- is this a ranch, is
this a farn? Wat are these structures?

MR LI NDENLAUB: Ch, yeah. [|I'mnot sure
which one it is in particular, but given the nature of
the area, there are a few dwellings, ranch houses and
associ ated outbuildings in the project area.

CHWN STAFFORD: And those -- and those
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| andowners have been cont act ed?

MR. LI NDENLAUB: Yes, they were part of the

(i naudi bl e) --
THE REPORTER: Part of what?
MR LINDENLAUB: |1'msorry, the mailings.
CHWN STAFFORD:. Gkay. Did any of them
respond to the -- participate in the open houses, either

virtual or in person?

MR DAVIS: W had a representative of a
| ocal | andowner, he wouldn't tell us who he was
representing, but he did not bring up any negative
f eedback or cause for concern.

MR LI NDENLAUB: And there was a | andowner
hi msel f that --

MR DAVIS: Yes, there was a | andowner
hi mself who -- that's just all 1'll say, yes.

CHWN STAFFORD: | thought | saw a hand
online. Was that you, Menber Little?

MEMBER LI TTLE: Yes, M. Chair nman.

CHWN STAFFORD: Do you have a question?

MEMBER LI TTLE: You asked ny questi on,

t hank you.
CHWN STAFFORD: Gkay. Thank you.
MEMBER KRYDER: M. Chairman?
CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Kryder.
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MEMBER KRYDER: Question for M. Davis.

Was the | andowner from whom you purchased a certain
portion of your right-of-way, was he attending in any of
t he open sessi ons?

MS. HATHI RAMANI : Thank you, Menber. No,
we didn't have physical representation fromeither of the
private | andowners through which we have the easenent.

MEMBER KRYDER: Ckay. So the private
| andowner who was there and the attorney for a private
| andowner were not representing the -- the firmor person
t hat you bought your ground fronf

MS. HATHI RAMANI: Yes. Correct. They are
conpl etely separate to our project, just within a simlar
vicinity so they had sonme interest.

MEMBER KRYDER: Thank you.

BY MR ACKEN
Q Pl ease conti nue.
A (MR LI NDENLAUB) Thank you, M. Acken.

| wll note, the visual simnulations for KOP-4
are on original slide nunber 66.

So now we go to KOP-5, which is a representative
view for travelers from South Toltec Buttes Road. Now,
you can see sone of the existing electrical
infrastructure that occurs out there, a 230-kV
transmssion line on the left, | believe, and a
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distribution line on the right, and our -- our project
occurs perpendicular to these features.

And the next KOP is going to be a simlar view
further south nearer to -- nearer to the line, that is
KOP-6. And that's our final KOP. So you can see we have
the existing, | believe that's the existing WAPA | i ne,
before it turns north and our 230-kV line is going to | ay
in on the other side of Curtis Road. And at this
di stance, you can see it's of a conparabl e size.

CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you.

M. Acken, | think it's worth giving you a
heads-up at this point. It seens |like there's nore
transm ssion lines in the area than are just reflected on
the map as shown with the -- the placenat exanpl e that
shows just the APS line. | think when we get down to
what Exhibit A that will be attached to the Certificate
it would be worth incorporating the WAPA |i ne and any
other transm ssion level -- not the distribution |ines,
of course -- just the 115-kV or higher on the nap so we
can see what it is relative to the project.

MR ACKEN. Thank you, M. Chairnman.

That's an excell ent idea.

| had a note, and | hope we can do this by
tonorrow norning, to have a diagram show ng all of the
transm ssion-| evel infrastructure in the area, and then,
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yeah, we can nodify it for that use. So that's on our
homewor k for tonight to see if we can turn that, or at

| east some approximation of it for the commttee's review
tonorrow to incorporate into a final map

CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: M. Chai r man?

CHWN STAFFCRD: Yes, Menber Const ock.

MEMBER COMSTOCK: While we're doing the
honmewor k there, can we include the natural gas |ine that
runs in that area as well?

MR ACKEN: Yes.

MEMBER COMSTOCK:  Thank you.

CHWN STAFFCORD: Yeah, | think we'll want to
see it on a map, we don't need to include it on the
Exhi bit A map.

MEMBER COVBTOCK: Well, we want to -- if |
may, we'll want to know that it's there and in perpetuity
to ensure that it's part of the CEC, because if it's
preexisting, then there are sone responsibilities of the
applicant to work with the owner of that pipeline.

CHWN STAFFORD: Exactly. | guess the thing
that I"minterested to know but it's kind of beyond the
scope of this proceeding, is that -- that La Gsa, is that
what the project's called, I'"mcurious as to -- so we
have a rough idea where that's going to be | ocated. But
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l"'minterested to see this natural gas line to see where
it comes out, relative to that if it's going to -- if
that project site has been chosen because the natural gas
infrastructure runs right through it or next to it or if
it's going to require sone kind of additional spur |ine
to be constructed to serve that site.

Menmber Fant ?

MEMBER FANT: Thank you, M. Chair.

La Csa is supposed to be a 3 gigawatt data
center and they're going to try and put 2 gigawatts of
power on site, and 1 gigawatt solar and 1 gi gawatt
natural gas. There's not enough natural gas in EPNG to
handl e a gi gawatt of net gas output, so it would have to
be the new ET pipeline, which is com ng up on the west
side of [-10 al so.

CHWN STAFFORD: That's the new one that
t hey' ve announced?

MEMBER FANT:  Yes.

MEMBER COMBTOCK:  Yes.

CHWN STAFFORD: Gkay. So it wll have to
be a spur line off of that new |line?

MEMBER FANT: Ri ght .

CHWN STAFFORD: A dedicated -- Menber
Comrst ock, what size of a pipe would that have to be to
serve that kind of |oad, do you know?

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
www. gl enni e-reporting. com Phoeni x, AZ



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 254 VOLUME | 12/08/2025 183

MEMBER COMSTOCK: Usually interstate
pi pelines like that run 24 to 36 inches.

CHWN STAFFORD: That would be the nain |ine

t hat --
MEMBER COMSTOCK: Yes -- oh, to the spur?
CHWN STAFFORD: The spur line to get to --
MEMBER COMSTOCK: Depends on the

regi stered -- a spur line, they could conpress it |ike

t he one we saw last -- |ast week --
MEMBER FANT: ET's main line will be

44 i nches.

THE REPORTER. I'msorry, | can't hear you.
CHWN STAFFORD: You need to use the
m cr ophone t here.
MEMBER FANT: ET's main line will be 44
i nches.
CHWN STAFFORD: You keep turning your head
when you speak, you've got to speak straight into the
m crophone. |If you turn it starts fading out.
MEMBER FANT: ET's main line wll be
44 i nches.
CHWN STAFFORD: Ckay. Thank you.
And then the spur line will be sonme smaller
anmount of that that --
MEMBER COMSTOCK: Yes, it will.
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CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. Interested to see
how t hat develops in the future. Again, it's beyond the
scope of this, but it's interesting for background.

MEMBER KRYDER  Very nuch so.

BY MR ACKEN:
Q Thank you.

Let's wap up the visual resources anal ysis and
provi de your conclusions with respect to the project's
effects. Understandi ng what we've heard and what the
testi nony today about other infrastructure in the area.

A (MR LI NDENLAUB) Absolutely. As was just
denmonstrated in the sins and the subsequent conversati on,
the project occurs in an area that's dom nated by
agricultural and little other infrastructure, other than
exi sting transm ssion lines. As such, the project itself
w || have m nimal visual i npacts.

CHWN STAFFORD: M. Acken, before
we -- does that conclude your testinony on the -- this
portion, M. Lindenlaub?

MR LI NDENLAUB: Yes, sir, it does.

CHWN STAFFORD: Okay. Well, we've been

going for | think at |least 90 mnutes, | think the court
reporter can use a break. | think nowis the appropriate
time before we get into, | believe noise and

communi cation i s up next?
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MR ACKEN. That's correct, M. Chairman.

CHWN STAFFORD: Let's take an approxi mately
10- to 15-m nute recess.

We stand in recess.

(Recessed from 3:41 p.m wuntil 4:02 p.m)

CHWN STAFFORD: Let's go back on the
record.

M. Acken.

MR ACKEN:. Thank you, Chairnman. Before
the break I believe we finished up the discussion of
visual resources. W are getting very close to the end
of the environnental resource testinony.

Q So, Brian, I'd |like you to provide your analysis
of noi se and communi cations effects in Exhibit I, and
recreation in Exhibit F.

A (MR LI NDENLAUB) Certainly.

Simlar to projects like this in renote areas
there's going to be an increase in noise during the
initial construction activities, maintenance activities
as they occur, and then ultimtely decomm ssi oni ng
activities. As noted in our evaluation and the
fly-through and sone of the visual sins, you'll note that
there are very few sensitive receptors to noise in the
area, that is, hones, et cetera, and certainly no schools
or hospitals. Wth regard to ongoi ng noi se, the standard
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corona discharge that we're already used to is al ready

present in the area fromthe existing transm ssion |ines.
Wth regards to conmunications interference --

potential comrunications interference, the nearest tower

is over 10 mles away. G ven the above, we don't

anticipate that the project will have nore than m ni na

I npacts to noi se or conmuni cations in the area.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Little, you have a

questi on?

MEMBER LI TTLE: Yes, M. Chairman. Thank
you.

| hate to take you back, but ny question
has to do with the water features that are all in that

area. And ny question is, considering the fact that
anybody who (i naudible) --
THE REPORTER: | can't hear you.
CHWN STAFFORD:. You're breaking up, Menber
Little. W can't hear you, Menber Little, can you pl ease
repeat ?
MEMBER LITTLE: | will ask the question
later, M. Chairman, I'min a bad spot right now.
CHWN STAFFORD: Ckay. Thank you.
BY MR ACKEN
Q Pl ease conti nue.
A (MR, LI NDENLAUB) Certainly.
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Now, with regard to recreation, again, as we've
seen in the presentation, given all the agricultural --
agricultural activities in the area, there is very little
recreation. W were able to identify no desi gnated
recreational roads or trails within the project area,
even as it occurs on ASLD | ands. The gen-tie does cross
a proposed nulti-use trail corridor, presunably
associ ated wth Greene Canal, though inplenentation
details are not avail abl e.

We also identified a key observation point on
Pi cacho Peak. So Picacho Peak State Park and the
| ronwood Forest National Mnunent are in the relative
vicinity of the project. The project is not anticipated
to affect any current recreation activities or
opportunities or be the future siting of any proposed
recreational activities.

Q Brian, 1'd |like you at this point to provide
your expert opinion as to this project's environmental
conmpati bility.

A (MR LI NDENLAUB) Certainly.

So, as we've seen denonstrated, the project does
conformto the applicabl e managenent plans in the area.
It's located adjacent to existing high-voltage
transm ssion line corridor and substation. The project
has been sited to avoid cultural resources. And the
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project would result in mninmal effects on the existing
and pl anned | and use, recreation, visual resources, and
bi ol ogi cal resources. As such, we believe the project is
conpatible with the | ocal hunman and natural environment.
Q Thank you.
Pendi ng Menber Little being back in range, does
t hat concl ude your testinony?
A (MR LINDENLAUB) It does.

MR. ACKEN. And Brian will obviously be
avai l abl e for questions |ater today and tonorrow as wel | .
For now, that conpletes our prepared materials that we
want to cover today. | wanted to go over -- there's a
couple -- a handful of itens that | wanted to go over and
make sure that ny list of honmework itenms is conplete.
So, M. Chair, if nows a good tinme to do that?

CHWN STAFFORD: Certainly.

MR ACKEN. So one of the questions from
Menber Di G cci o was aski ng about what does augnented nean
W th respect to the BESS. That's on our |ist to address
tonorrow norning. The new visual that we wll have
tonorrow is a map that shows the WAPA infrastructure, the
exi sting El Paso line, so that we're able to better
answer any foll ow up questi ons regardi ng ot her
infrastructure in the area, so that is under devel opnent
and we' ||l have that tonorrow.
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Al ong those lines, there was al so the
questi on about WAPA's plans for the area. W are diving
in and seeing what's publicly avail abl e and t hrough
contacts with WAPA as far as their |long-term plans for
devel opnent of their infrastructure. And then the |ast
item| had was to see if we can find out whether this
area is served by Sout hwest Gas for natural gas for the
hones in this area.

And so for those itens, all of them we've
made some initial inquiries, but we need a little nore
foll owup and to hear back, so our plan would be to
address those itens first thing tonorrow norning.

Dd I mss any questions fromthis group?

CHWN STAFFORD: Yes. | had a question
about what steps the applicant had taken, had they
appr oached WAPA about potentially sharing the poles for
their 230-kV line with the existing WAPA 230-kV Ii ne,
because it | ooks like they're both going to be either
parallel to each other on the -- the road's not listed on
the placemat map, but it is the one that runs east to
west .

MR LI NDENLAUB: Are we tal king about
Curti s Road?

CHWN STAFFORD: Curtis Road, yes. | don't
know why | can't renenber -- Curtis Road, yes, that's the
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one.

MR. ACKEN:. Yes, M. Chairnan, thank you.
For got that.

MEMBER MERCER: M. Chairman?

CHWN STAFFORD: Wit one second. Menber
Fontes had his hand raised, and then after him Menber
Mer cer

Menmber Fontes?

MEMBER FONTES: Yes, Chairman, to rem nd,
' m | ooking for sone sort of transaction structure so we
can understand fromthe corporate | evel where the hol ding
conmpany's going to be and the project conpany that wl |
have responsibility for environnental litiga- --
liabilities that -- that decomm ssioning bond, all of
t hose sorts of things at a granul ar |evel.

MR ACKEN:. Yes, thank you for that
rem nder.

MEMBER FONTES: Just an exhibit, just file

it as, and do it in PowerPoint, with sone sort of detail

t here.

Thank you, M. Acken.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber Mercer?

MEMBER MERCER  Yes, | guess what | would
li ke to see is when you address the gas -- the Sout hwest

Gas, if these residents are using Sout hwest Gas, how far
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are these residents fromthe -- fromthe project? And is
it relevant due to the distance?

MR ACKEN. Menber Mercer, understood. So
yes, we'll make sure that's clear on the map as well
where those nearby residents are.

MEMBER MERCER: Thank you.

MR. ACKEN. Thank you. Thank you, all.

CHW STAFFORD: All right. Then while
we're waiting, | guess you could nove to admt your
Exhibits 1 through 10.

MR. ACKEN. Thank you, M. Chairnan. |
al ways appreciate the remnder. | would offer
Applicant's Exhibits CC 1 through CC-10 for adm ssion at
this tine.

CHWN STAFFORD: They are admtted.

(Exhibits CC-1 through CC- 10 were adm tted

into evidence.)

CHWN STAFFORD: | guess tonorrow when we
come back in the norning, you'll have sonme additional
exhibits, additional answers to questions, and then your
closing. And after that we can nove on to consi deration
of the Certificate and deliberation of the Conditions.

Any ot her questions from nmenbers right now?

(No response.)

CHWN STAFFORD: Al right. W're schedul ed
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to take public comment at 5:30 this evening. | expect
we'll be available for public comment until 6:00. After
that we will recess. | think we're noticed to cone back
tonorrow norning at 9:00, | believe that was in
anticipation of a tour. I'minterested in hearing from
menbers whet her com ng back at 10: 00 woul d be better
because we won't be doing a tour that we'd need to start
earlier at 9:00.

MEMBER KRYDER M. Chairman, |'d prefer to
start at 9:00 and go hone sooner.

CHWN STAFFORD: Menber s?

MEMBER FANT: | say 10:00, but I live in
Nort h Phoeni x up there.

MEMBER COMSTOCK:  9: 00 for ne,
M. Chairman.

CHWN STAFFORD: All right. Then we
wll -- we'll leave the start tine tonorrow norning at
9:00 a. m

MEMBER COMSTOCK:  That - a- boy.

CHWN STAFFORD: All right. Anything
further? | know Menber Little has a question, but she
can get that answered in the norning. | think her

question was about, and | guess you can go ahead and take

it now so you'll be prepared, | guess her concerns were
about if the -- any of the transm ssion structures would
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be cl ose enough to Greene Canal or any ot her water
features that flooding could potentially pose an issue,
because there's a fl oodplain sonewhere in this area.

MR ACKEN:. Chairman Stafford, there was
t he delineation done for Waters of the U S

Q And, Brian, why don't you take a sw ng at
answering that, understanding that Menber Little m ght
have some foll ow up when she's back avail abl e t onorrow,
but let's give your thoughts on is there a fl oodpl ain,
and is there roomto span the transm ssion |ine?

A (MR LINDENLAUB) So I'lIl take a swi ng at one
part of it and then certainly defer to ny clients here.
There is a floodplain. 1In a perfect world, from an
engi neeri ng perspective, you don't want to subject your
structures to the flows within that floodplain if you
don't have to, so you span if you can

That said, | think we're all aware of
structures, you know, | think of the ones |I | ook at right
outside of ny office wndow in Tucson in the m ddle of
Rllito Rver, that structures can be placed wthin the
floodplain. And, in fact, within high flows
successfully, provided they're constructed appropriately.

Q Bef ore you hand over the mc, do you have a
sense of the wwdth, if you wll, for the floodplain in
that area, |ike, how wi de of an area are we tal king
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about ?
A (MR LI NDENLAUB) That's a good question. | can
refer back to our aquatic resources neno. | believe it's

got a graphic in it that shows how the fl oodplain of the
G eene Canal is nmapped.

MR ACKEN. So that will be prepared
t onor r ow nor ni ng.

CHWN STAFFORD: Excel | ent.

Menmber Fant ?

VEMBER FANT: M Li ndenl aub, fromthe silt
deposition in the area, it looks like the entire area is
a floodplain; is that a fair statenent?

MR LI NDENLAUB: You know, the structure of
the Greene Canal is not terribly deep. That said, the
floodplain, as | renenber seeing it, is not as w de as
you m ght otherwi se think it would be.

MEMBER KRYDER: M. Chairman?

CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Kryder.

MEMBER KRYDER: Was there a question
earlier about the depth of the aquifer?

MR LI NDENLAUB: There was.

MEMBER KRYDER: Ckay. | don't know if this
is a five-hour or a five-mnute question and sol ution.

If it's toward the five-mnute side of that, would you
give us sone information, if it gets to be a big piece
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we'll take a pass on it.
MR. LI NDENLAUB:
f ound, Menber Kryder,
list, if that's okay.
MEMBER KRYDER
MR. LI NDENLAUB:
CHWN STAFFORD
assi gnnents for the applicant
MEMBER LI TTLE
CHWN STAFFORD:
MEMBER LI TTLE
CHWN STAFFORD

MEMBER LI TTLE

There's very nmuch a dead area out

The question that I

wel | by you. And I

t he fl oodpl ai n; however, |

pond area and the G eene Canal,

in that --
tend to,
tend to --

And we are --

pretty unusual weat her

probably are going to continue.
the record, what the applicant
GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC

www. gl enni e-reporting. com

and we' |

i n Sout hern Ari zona,

condi tions recently,

12/08/2025 195

| think it's readily

just add that to our

Thank you so rmuch.
Certainly.

Any ot her honmewor k

from menber s?

M. Chai rman?

Yes, Menber Little.
Can you hear ne now?
Yes, we can. Excel | ent .

| apol ogi ze for that.
her e.

have was restated very

appreci ate the answer with respect to

have concerns al so about the

recogni zi ng, having lived

that when it rai ns areas

particularly areas that tend to be pretty fl at,
the water tends to spread out a great deal.

our world is faced with sone

whi ch
And |' m wondering, for
-- how the applicant has
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designed the project to deal with unusual fl ood
conditions in that -- particularly around the pond area
and the G eene Canal area?

MEMBER FONTES: M. Chairman?

CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, Menber Fontes.

MEMBER FONTES: | built, as a part of WAPA,
the ED4 Substation there, and during construction we got
maj or sinkholes. So |I'd ask the applicant to extend
tonorrow what their plan is for geotech surveys

preconstruction, for readiness, just so we can be aware

of that.

CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you.

MS. HYRE: | can speak to -- am| on?
Sorry. | can speak to Menber Little's question, to sone
ext ent.

Qur engi neers have not conpl eted enough
engi neering details yet to know how many structures we
are potentially going to have in and around that pondi ng
area, potentially not even in that area, or even the
Greene Canal, we just are not far enough along in our
desi gn process to know what we're going to do in that
particul ar area quite yet.

| will put out there, though, that as a
conmpany Cypress Creek devel ops across the U S. in areas
particularly that can be wet sites, such as North
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Carolina and other areas, so we can certainly, as a
homewor k assi gnnent, take to try to get some additional
details fromour engineering team But Cypress Creek
does have experience in working in areas of the country
t hat do experience flooding and wet conditions.

MEMBER LI TTLE: Ckay. Thank you. | would
also like to just reiterate the fact that the fl ooding
conditions in this area can be very different than
certainly I had ever experienced in all the places that
|"ve lived in until | came here. So | appreciate your
answer. Thank you.

M5. HYRE: You're wel cone.

CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you.

Menmber Fant ?

MEMBER FANT: Thank you, M. Chair.

|'ve forgotten how t he designation of the
Waters of the United States works, is it |like a tattoo,
you can't get rid of it once you get it or does it cone
and go?

Sorry for the anal ogy.

MR LINDENLAUB: It would be nore akin to
the child s tattoo that wears off every four years, let's
put it that way.

MEMBER FANT: Al right. It's |like the
ones you can get off with a little bit of Crisco and

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC 602. 266. 6535
www. gl enni e-reporting. com Phoeni x, AZ



© 00 ~N oo o b~ w N P

N RN N NN R R R R R R R R R
g N W N P O © O N o o0 M W N Rk O

LS CASE NO. 254 VOLUME | 12/08/2025 198

vegetable oil.

MR. LI NDENLAUB: That's exactly right.

That said, the U S. Suprene Court nade a determnmin- --
decision in 2023, in a case called EPA -- or excuse ne --
Sackett versus EPA that really narrowed up and clarified
the definition of Waters of the U S. The Biden

adm ni stration published a rule based on that decision --
they published a rule just before that decision, revised
it based on that decision, and the current Corps of

Engi neers and EPA have recently published a new proposed
rul e based on that Suprene Court decision that defines it
pretty clearly. And | think is going to have sone
staying power, if that answers your question.

MEMBER FANT: Yes. One nore question.

MR LI NDENLAUB: O course.

MEMBER FANT: You know, the rains may fill
up that old canal so that would nmake it, | assune, by
definition, an intermttent water body, right?

MR. LI NDENLAUB: That's a really good
question. And | think |I alluded previously as part of ny
presentation that in order to determ ne whether it is or
is not a Water of the U S., we probably want to do a
little more work. The water on the day of our eval uation
was not dispositive, to use the |lawer term But it's
possible that it could be identified as an intermttent
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water if there are consistent enough flows that it's not
nmerely responding to precipitation, if that hel ps, which
woul d make it an epheneral wash.

MEMBER FANT: And that was an old tropical
stormthat cane through there up from Mexi co and dropped
a lot of water on the western side of the state, so that
was unusual

MR. LI NDENLAUB: It was.

CHWN STAFFORD: Anything further from
menber s?

(No response.)

CHW STAFFORD: Well, | think at this tine
we can recess until 5:30, at which tinme we'll cone back
for public comment. W'Il go on the record and if anyone
is here we will take their coments. If not, we will go
off the record and wait around until at least 6:00 to
gi ve peopl e the opportunity to comrent.

So with that, we are in recess.

(Recessed from4:21 p.m until 5:30 p.m)

CHWN STAFFORD: Let's go back on the
record. Now s the tinme set for public comment for Line
Siting Case 254. It appears we have two nenbers of the
public signed up to speak. Wen |I call your name, please
approach the lectern and state your name and spell your
nanme for the court reporter.
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First, we have Cesar Corral

MR CORRAL: Good afternoon, Chairnman
Stafford, Commttee Menbers. M nane is Cesar Corral,
That's C-e-s-a-r, Co-r-r-a-l, and I'ma proud nenber of
Li UNA Local 1184. | appreciate the opportunity to speak
today in strong support of solar project Cactus Flower as
you consider its Certificate of Environnenta
Compatibility.

For those of us in the skilled trades, this
commttee's decisions have a real inpact on our |ives.
When you approve a project |ike Cactus Flower, you're not
just approving lines on a nmap or specs on an application,
you are approving the future job opportunities that keep
Ari zona workers enpl oyed, trained, and able to support
their famlies.

Li UNA nenbers build the backbone of this
state. W build the roads, the utilities, the energy
infrastructure that keeps Arizona grow ng. And we want
not hi ng nore than a chance to build these clean energy
projects right here at hone. R ght now too many of our
nmenbers travel across state lines or spend nonths away
fromtheir famlies because there sinply aren't enough
| ong-term projects to keep them working locally. That
means m ssed Little League ganes, m ssed m |l estones, and
| ong stretches where parents aren't home for dinner.
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Cactus Flower changes that. It provides
steady, high-quality work for hundreds of Arizona
residents. It strengthens our apprenticeship pipeline
and gi ves young wor kers meani ngful training hours, hours
they need to grow into the next generation of skilled
pr of essi onal s.

Thi s project hel ps us keep paychecks, tax
dol l ars, and opportunities in Arizona, where they bel ong.
Froman infrastructure standpoint, Cactus Flower is
exactly what we need, clean, reliable, renewabl e energy
that hel ps stabilize the grid and neet the demands of a
rapidly growing state. And it wll be built safely,
responsi ble, and with a well-trained | ocal workforce that
takes enornous pride in doing the job the right way.

The nmenbers of this conmttee know better
t han anyone how critical it is to balance growh,
reliability, and community benefit. Cactus Fl ower checks
every one of those boxes. It supports economc
devel opnent, ensures energy reliability, and brings
gener ati onal workforce benefits w thout sacrificing
envi ronnental responsibility.

On behal f of Li UNA Local 1184, our
apprentices, our journey workers, and the famlies who
rely on these careers, | respectfully ask the commttee
to approve the Certificate of Environnental Conpatibility
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for solar project Cactus Flower. Arizona needs this
project. Qur workers deserve this project. And we are
ready to build it to the highest standard.

Thank you for your tinme and thoughtf ul
consi derati on today.

CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you.

Up next we have Mark Cardenas.

Pl ease state your nane and spell it for the
record. Thank you.

MR CARDENAS: Chairnman Stafford, Honorable
Comm ttee Menbers. For the record, Mark Cardenas,
representing the Western States Carpenters. Name is
spelled Ma-r-k, last nane is G a-r-d-e-n-a-s.

And | wanted to thank you for the
opportunity to speak this evening. |I'mhere, also with
my brother in Li UNA Local 1184, in support of the Cactus
Fl ower Sol ar Project. It represents exactly the kind of
econom ¢ devel opnent the region needs, responsible,

f orward-| ooki ng, and rooted in real opportunities for
| ocal peopl e.

This project is going to put our skilled
wor kforce to work. From heavy equi pnent operators and
| aborers to el ectricians and nmai nt enance techni ci ans,
these are good fam |l y-sustai ning jobs that stay right
here in our comunity. And it's not just construction.
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Projects like this generate | ong-term operation positions
and create denand for |ocal services, suppliers, and
smal | busi nesses. Every dollar spent on |ocal |abor
turns over again in our econony supporting restaurants,
housi ng, and mai n street busi nesses.

Cactus Flower also strengthens our region's
conpetitiveness. Conpanies |ooking to expand or rel ocate
consi stently always ask about reliable, affordable
energy. Approving this project sends a nessage that
we' re serious about attracting new industries,
manuf acturing, data centers, logistics are the high-wage
jobs that they bring with them

And while the power it generates is
i nportant, the econom c inpact is undeniable. New tax
revenue for counties and school districts, long-term
investnment in rural infrastructure, and a project that
provides community benefits w thout draining water or
strai ning public services.

I n short, Cactus Flower Solar is a win for
jobs, a win for economc growth, and a win for famlies
who want to build their future right here in El oy.

Thank you.

CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you.

At this point we have no ot her nenbers of
the public present to make comment. It appears we do not
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have any called in either. So at this time we wll go
off the record, but remain here at the Comm ssion until
6:00 to allow other nenbers of the public the opportunity
to either show up and nmake comrent or call in to make
conment .

So let's go off the record and wait.

(Recessed from5:35 p.m until 5:51 p.m)

CHWN STAFFORD: Let's go back on the
record. W have soneone calling in. Call-in User 1, can
you hear ne?

MR. PACKARD: Yes, can you hear ne?

CHWN STAFFORD: Yes, do you w sh to make
public comrent ?

MR PACKARD: Yes, | do.

CHWN STAFFORD: Can you pl ease state your
nanme and spell it --

MR PACKARD: Yes.

CHWN STAFFORD: -- for the court reporter.

MR. PACKARD:. Yes, ny nane is M chael
Packard, Mi-c-h-a-e-1, P-a-c-k-a-r-d.

CHWN STAFFCORD: Pl ease conti nue.

MR PACKARD: |'msorry?

CHWN STAFFCORD: Make your comments, pl ease.

MR. PACKARD: Oh. Yeah, |I'd |like to speak
up in favor of the Cactus Flower project. Not only I
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t hought everyone who has spoke so far has nmade very good
poi nts about the jobs that it will bring in, tax revenue
and everything of the sort, 1'd also like to highlight
that one of the things that inpressed nme nost about this
project is how well it's handling environnmental concerns
by going in and they specifically have stated that
they're going to do mnimal grading, basically it sounds
li ke they're going to cone in and do just what's truly
needed to be done to make the project effective for what
needs to be done and then once the project is all done
they also have it already set up to cone in and cl ean
everything up. That way it doesn't remain an
environnental stain on the | andscape |ong after the
project is finished.

There's too many tines when we' ve had ot her
types of projects where the | andscape is sort of scarred
after this sort of thing. And | really appreciate that
this project has gone through and taken the trouble to
address those type of concerns. And so, yeah, |
just -- | can't speak highly enough to the fact they
worried about -- they've already cone in and worried
about things for the environnment that so many pl aces have
not. So I'd like to give them a thunbs up.

CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you.

Does that concl ude your comments?
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MR PACKARD: Yes, it does.
CHWN STAFFORD: Thank you very nuch
MR PACKARD: Thank you. Have a nice

ni ght .

CHWN STAFFORD: You too.

All right. W -- it appears we have no one
else waiting to nake comments. It is only 5:53. So we
will remain here for, until at |east 6:00, to allow

addi ti onal nenbers of the public to nake comment if they

so choose.
So we'll sit here and go off the record.
(Recessed from5:53 p.m until 6:00 p.m)
CHW STAFFORD: It is now 6:00 -- well,
let's go back on the record. It is now 6:00, there are

no nore nmenbers of the public that have shown up to nake
comment either in person or online or on the phone.

Wth that, we will recess until tonorrow
norning at 9:00 a.m, where we wll recomence the
heari ng.

We stand in recess.

(The hearing recessed at 6:00 p.m)
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STATE OF ARl ZONA
COUNTY OF MARI COPA )

BE | T KNOM that the foregoing proceedi ngs were
t aken before ne; that the foregoing pages are a full,
true, and accurate record of the proceedings all done to
the best of ny skill and ability; that the proceedi ngs
were taken down by me in shorthand and thereafter reduced
to print under ny direction.

| CERTIFY that | amin no way related to any of
the parties hereto nor aml in any way interested in the
out cone her eof .

| CERTIFY that | have conplied with the ethical
ons set forth in ACJA 7-206(F)(3) and ACJA 7-206
)(1) and (2). Dated at Phoeni x, Arizona, this
of Decenber, 2025.

Wi Bk

ROBI N L. B. OSTERODE, RPR
CA CSR No. 7750
AZ CR No. 50695

obl i gati
(J)(1) (g
11t h day

* * * * *

| CERTIFY that d ennie Reporting Services, LLC,
has conplied with the ethical obligations set forth in
ACJIA 7-206(J)(1)(9g) (1) through (6).

s D

GLENNI E REPORTI NG SERVI CES, LLC
Regi stered Reporting Firm
Arizona RRF No. R1035
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